

Unconstrained Foreign Direct Investment: An Emerging Challenge to Arctic Security

Mark E. Rosen, Cara B. Thuringer

COP-2017-U-015944-1Rev November 2017



Cover image: Sea ice in the Chukchi Sea, courtesy of NASA Goddard Space Flight Center on Flickr.

Page i image: Icebreakers on Expedition in the Arctic, courtesy of NOAA on Flickr.

CNA's Occasional Paper series is published by CNA, but the opinions expressed are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of CNA or the Department of the Navy. Approved for distribution:

November 2017

MahEd

Mark E. Rosen Senior Vice President General Counsel

Distribution

DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT A. Approved for public release: distribution unlimited.

PUBLIC RELEASE. 12/8/2017

Other requests for this document shall be referred to CNA Document Center at inquiries@cna.org.

Copyright © 2017, CNA Corp. All Rights Reserved

Contents

Executive Summary	1
Introduction	3
Arctic Security in Context	13
Foreign Direct Investment (FDI)	33
General Policies and Definitions	33
International Standards	38
Relevant Arctic Littoral State Regulations on FDI	40
United States	44
Examining Chinese Investment in the Arctic	53
China's Natural Resource Strategy	53
Why is FDI in the Arctic a Concern?	61
Recommendations for the Arctic Regulatory Environment	65
An Arctic Development Bank	69



Unconstrained Foreign Direct Investment: An Emerging Challenge to Arctic Security

ii

Executive Summary

The Arctic Ocean is a vast maritime region which is bordered by six states that are now coming to appreciate their enormous hydrocarbon, mineral, and other natural resource potentials. Other states outside of the Arctic have also taken note of the Arctic's vast and unexploited deposits, especially China. The Arctic is essentially a closed-sea and all human activity, even environmental accidents on land, can have serious environmental impacts on the other littoral countries because of ocean currents and climactic conditions. This fact is compounded by the aggressive pace of climate change in the Arctic. The changes in the Arctic environment due to climate change are accelerating the rate at which these resources are becoming accessible for exploitation and by ship as the ice recedes.

Exploitation of these resources carries the risk of oil spills, ship casualties, chemical runoff from mining and smelting activities, and more. The Arctic littoral states are not equal in terms of their ability to appreciate these risks and mitigate them. It is in the interests of all of the Arctic states, indeed the world as a whole, to develop regional cooperative mechanisms to ensure that development takes place using state of the art technology, with suitable infrastructure in place, and substantially enhanced disaster response capabilities.

The opportunities of rapid development also carry socio-economic risks to countries that are less economically resilient, such as Greenland, Iceland, Russia and, perhaps tribal regions. Special care

Exploitation of these resources carries the risk of oil spills, ship casualties, chemical runoff from mining and smelting activities, and more. needs to be taken to ensure that development takes place in a responsible manner and ensures that the states or regions that are the recipients of foreign direct investment (FDI) are capable of monitoring it, regulating the underlying activity, and enacting safeguards if a project goes bankrupt and the foreign owners cannot be held financially responsible. Care must also be taken to

safeguard the rights of indigenous populations to ensure that they are not displaced from their lands because of resource degradation or social conditions.

The report takes stock of the current FDI patterns — at the transactional level — with a particular focus on Chinese activity as a case study. This case study explores China's natural resource strategy and its past FDI activities in South America and Africa.

This study also makes detailed comparisons of the FDI laws of the six main states that border the Arctic Ocean. This study is limited to the littoral states of the Arctic Ocean because those six states would, under the current legal system, have to bear the brunt of any type of industrial accident.

Based on the findings of the transactional and legal review of FDI in the Arctic, the authors suggest three approaches that could be pursued independently or in tandem, to monitor and indirectly regulate inbound FDI. Those approaches include establishing a set of multilateral Arctic FDI review criteria administered by each nation; an Arctic Development Code; and the formation and funding of an Arctic

Development Bank. The Arctic Development Bank would provide private developers with access to local capital (vs. Beijing sourced) to finance infrastructure and resource extraction projects. These three approaches seek to eliminate the potential that one state could, by enacting low standards, stimulate a race to the bottom in terms of the environmental or labor standards associated with resource extraction.

Unregulated FDI is a significant, multifaceted security issue. It must be addressed before the influx of unregulated investments, and the soft power politics that come from those investments, makes it impossible for the U.S. and other states to adopt complementary policies that favor responsible Arctic development.

Introduction

The earth's polar environments are often thought of as barren, desolate regions ruled by polar bears and covered in ice. And while certainly cold, the Arctic region is far from a valueless waste. Rich in mineral, metal, oil, and gas deposits, as well as vast, unexploited fisheries, the Arctic contains resources estimated to be worth many billions of dollars. About 70 percent of these resources fall within the exclusive economic zones (EEZs) of the Arctic littoral states: Canada, Greenland, Iceland, Norway, Russia, and the United States. Much of history's interest in the Arctic has been confined to the explorer's curiosity and the admiral's desk. However, we are entering a new era for the Arctic, in which interest in the region and its resources is at an all-time high. Outside states, such as China, have made substantial investments with the strategic intent to do more. The question remains whether the legal and regulatory environment is capable of dealing with significant new foreign direct investment while at the same time protecting the Arctic Ocean and surrounding environment.

The Arctic can be defined using many different sets of criteria. For the purposes of this paper, the Arctic refers to territory above 60 degrees north in the littoral states of the Arctic Ocean, which are: Canada, Greenland,

Svalbard (Norway), Russia, and the U.S. We also included Iceland and mainland Norway. We extended our analysis below the traditional 66 degree north line that denotes the Arctic Circle because the impact of activity happening in areas adjacent to the Arctic can flow into the Arctic.

The Arctic is opening up to economic opportunity

There are four major trends that are driving the increased level of interest in the Arctic: climate change; technological innovation and increasing accessibility of abundant resources; the potential opening of desirable shipping routes; and outside financial investment. As a result of these trends, the Arctic is opening up to economic opportunity.



The influence of climate change on the Arctic is undeniable and irreversible in the short term. There is very little uncertainty; for the medium term, the Arctic will continue to warm rapidly. Monitoring conducted by the National Snow and Ice Data Center demonstrates robust ice regression in the Arctic (see Figure 1) due to rising average air temperatures (see Figure 2). The 2016-2017 winter was a record breaker for the lowest average sea ice extent. Temperatures ranged from 11 to 14 degrees Fahrenheit over the 1981–2010 average [1]. The general trend of warmer conditions and less sea ice is almost certain to continue. More

Figure 2. Arctic Air Temperature Difference Relative to 1981-2010 Baseline, credit: NSIDC



than any other factor, climate change is responsible for dramatically altering the physical aspects of the Arctic environment and the accessibility of Arctic resources.

These changes have not gone unnoticed. A former U.S. Coast Guard Commandant and State Department representative to the Arctic described the situation as follows:

"...the impacts of climate change are plainly evident and undeniable: coastal erosion is causing homes to fall into the sea or other waterways; thawing permafrost is affecting infrastructure; and unstable ice and changing migration patterns are preventing people from obtaining the food sources they have relied upon for tens of thousands of years"[2].

The second megatrend is an increased demand for innovation in polar capable technology. Pressure from regulators and civic groups has resulted in a high-risk environment for operators in Canada, the United States, Iceland, and Norway. These pressures have driven well-capitalized, large operators to invest in developing new technologies that promise greater safety, efficiency, and measures for environmental protection appropriate to the higher-risk environment of the Arctic. For operators in United States' territory, these risks seem to outweigh rewards, for now. As seen in Royal Dutch Shell's drilling operations in the Alaskan offshore Arctic, several missteps involving the rigs they had selected had heavy consequences. Ultimately, Shell determined that the risks were not sufficiently offset by potential profits and withdrew from the region.

Shell's foray into the Alaskan Arctic was challenged from the start. The drill ship *Noble Discoverer* was blown off site by a fairly typical storm and nearly ran aground. It is clear that Shell had not properly calculated how heavy an anchor the rig would need to prevent the rig from dragging its anchor in a routine storm [3]. Fortunately for Shell, *Noble Discoverer* drifted towards the coast but stopped short of running aground and sustained no damage. In this case, Shell was not prepared. Shell was lucky. But the problems did not end there. An oil containment dome worth \$400 million failed during a trial. When the dome was recovered, federal inspectors described the wreckage as a "crushed beer can" [3]. Shell recovered and geared up the *Discoverer* to drill. However, a day after the drill began to spin, a 30 mile long by 10 mile wide ice floe was on a crash course for the rig [3]. *Noble Discoverer* was forced to retreat. In harbor, the *Discoverer's* exhaust system exploded, its propeller shaft experienced critical malfunctions, and the ship was impounded when inspectors found 16 safety violations during a routine inspection [3].

Shell's second drilling ship, the *Kulluk*, also experienced major challenges in the Arctic. The *Kulluk* was able to partially drill a well in the Beaufort Sea, but by this time it was October and the ice was creeping south. It was time for the *Kulluk* to sail south from its location at 70 degrees north. But there were problems. By the

4

time Shell was ready to tow the *Kulluk* south, it was late November, 2012. The next leg of the *Kulluk's* journey, where it would cross the Gulf of Alaska, would be disastrous for the *Kulluk*. Several failures with the *Kulluk's* tug boat engines, the tow line, the shackles that connected the tow line, and a myriad of other factors would result in the order to cut the *Kulluk* loose [4]. It ran aground on Sitkalidak Island on New Year's Eve, 2012 [4].

Many read Shell's challenges and failures as the fault of a corporate carelessness, the anxiety of regulators to prevent disaster, and the economic constraints of low oil prices which together put the risk of Shell's work firmly beyond the reach of any reward. However, the technology that Shell chose to bring north played a major role. Shell took conventional technology and found that it was, in some respects, outmatched by the conditions of the Arctic. Shell geared up for another try in 2013 and later in 2015 but between meager oil finds in the Chukchi and the drop of oil prices from \$100 a barrel to \$55, and Shell decided to withdrawl in September of 2105.

Under different circumstances, it is easy to imagine how a few small missteps could have ballooned into a disaster. If oil prices had remained high, there would have been more pressure to deliver oil to

the market. It is worth noting that Shell had been exceedingly careful through its operations. As one of the most experienced, well capitalized, and well respected oil giants, it is unlikely that others could have faced the same challenges as Shell and fared better. Furthermore, there was nothing exceptionally unique about the challenges that Shell faced in the Arctic.

Future operators will need to bring technology and operational techniques capable of coping with the Arctic environment north before they can hope to bring oil safely south

The weather was challenging, but it very often is in the Arctic. From Shell's experience, it is clear that future operators will need to bring technology and operational techniques capable of coping with the Arctic environment north before they can hope to bring oil safely south.

The third Arctic megatrend, shipping, is one that has several sides. A more open Arctic Ocean is a more transitable Arctic Ocean. Although great challenges remain because of the lack of good charts, icebergs, straits that can become clogged with ice both at and below the surface, and almost no infrastructure to support transiting ships. While no one anticipates a completely open Arctic Ocean, changes to the thickness, extent, and timing of Arctic Sea ice cover has made destination shipping (where ships will go to port to load/offload cargo) and perhaps transit shipping (where ships pass through the Arctic en route to their final destinations) through the Arctic Ocean more appealing. Climate models suggest that the Northern Sea Route (NSR) will change from being technically open for transit roughly 40 percent of the year today to between 94 to 98 percent by 2040-2059 [5].

Since the advent of commercial shipping activities, companies and countries alike have searched for faster and safer routes to move goods from production to consumption. In a world where services such as Amazon Prime are changing consumer expectations of the global transit speeds, more transactions are taking place online, and the general paradigms of commerce and consumerism are adapting to a changing market. Given this, additional demands could be placed on the Arctic. Shipping from the production sites of Asia to the consumption centers of Northern Europe in particular could realize time and distance benefits from Arctic shipping lanes. Similarly, it is beyond question that there will be increases in destination shipping to oil and gas

and mining sites along the Arctic's coastline. And while debate over the true viability of Arctic transit shipping is present and reasonable, the fact remains that the window of opportunity to craft meaningful policy to take advantage of increasingly ice-free routes is closing fast. Negotiations to regulate shipping would become much more complicated were transit shipping to become a *fait accompli*.

The window of opportunity to craft meaningful policy to take advantage of increasingly ice-free routes is closing fast

Extractive industry has also paid keen attention to these trends, which has driven the fourth major Arctic trend: investment. Exxon Mobil has 90 years of experience with Arctic drilling, with plans to "build on our almost one century of experience and technology development as we go forward and continue to work in the Arctic"[6]. Similarly, BP has several decades of U.S. Arctic experience, offshore exploration, and a 19.75 percent stake in Rosneft, Russia's Arctic operator [7]. In Russia, new gold, coal, and diamond mines are coming online. On Baffin Island, Canada, one of the world's largest iron mines is preparing to expand operations [8]. General trends indicate that the number and scale of these operations will increase in the future, with the rate of growth dependent upon price and alternative investment opportunities.

For all of the potential Arctic industries, the most significant limitation is that there is insufficient or completely absent infrastructure. This will require operators to invest in more than just resource extraction. They will need to be partners in building up the infrastructure required to make extraction possible. In some regions, there are no roads that link one remote community to another; there is no rail system to carry high volumes of ore; and internet connectivity remains limited, slow, and unreliable. The community infrastructure required to support a workforce is often absent. There are few staging points for search and rescue, and very limited resources for protecting the health and welfare of workers in the Arctic. For example, the hospital in Barrow, Alaska, has only four emergency beds.

Additionally, for many parts of the world, local populations play a key role in monitoring resource extraction activities for any mishaps that result in environmental damage. The Arctic, with its small and dispersed populations, is a remote part of the globe where the public's ability to monitor activity through community reporting is significantly diminished. This low visibility increases the possibility that should an accident occur, it may not be reported for quite some time to governmental bodies with the capacity to respond. Low visibility due to small populations — combined with volatile weather and extreme remoteness from disaster management resources — sets the stage for small miscalculations to become major disasters that risk lives, assets, and the Arctic environment.

Because of the limited infrastructure and small populations of the Arctic, resources in the Arctic will require more investment to extract. High operating costs, higher than usual risks, and high infrastructure requirements means that even the best-capitalized operators will need to seek partnerships to get operations off the ground. Whether those partnerships are established between industry and government, a development bank, or foreign partner will depend on the unique circumstances of the project. But in most cases, the risk often comes with the potential for a big reward. A considerable share of the world's unexploited resources has been out of reach in the Arctic. Some of the largest deposits of iron, diamonds, oil, and natural gas are located in the Arctic.

As the physical and technological limitations decrease, the question must be asked: Are the Arctic nations ready to manage increased pressure for extraction activity? In this analysis, we asked: Which operators that have their eyes on the Arctic? Where do their partners come from? What are the risks to the physical Arctic environment? What regulations protect the Arctic environment and its residents from the long-term effects of an accident? What kind of implementable solutions will help to mitigate the risks associated with resource development?

These trends have the potential to benefit American prosperity. However, the Arctic is a long-neglected policy area for the United States, even though the White House, DOD, and other agencies have recently published Arctic strategies.¹ These glossy documents have yet to identify budgetary resources or offer concrete policies that support coherent growth in the Arctic. This is much to the detriment of the United States, which was once a leader in Arctic development, with eight icebreakers and surging private-sector investment. The reality is that U.S. engagement in the Arctic today is reflected in the degree to which the United States has allowed its capability to lag behind. Now, the U.S. icebreaker fleet is limited to two vessels, with significant gaps in investments in infrastructure, defense capabilities in the Arctic, and community development.

Especially troubling is that, in many respects, the Arctic represents one of the last remaining pockets of global resource reserves in terms of access to mineral, hydrocarbon, and fishery resources. According to the U.S. Energy Information Administration, the Arctic holds an estimated 13 percent (90 billion barrels) of the worlds undiscovered conventional oil resources and 30 percent of its undiscovered conventional natural gas resources [10].

As U.S. national vigilance in the Arctic has lapsed, global interest has accelerated. Littoral and non-littoral states alike are staking claims, making large investments, and pursing research opportunities that could give hints to the type and quantity of resources beneath the Arctic ice. Now, more than ever, it is important that the U.S. turn its attention northward to the Arctic and to work with its Arctic partners to develop policy and protocols that will advance the resilience of the Arctic.

As interest in the Arctic has expanded, concerns over management of resources, protection of the marine environment, respect for indigenous groups, and some disputes over boundaries (mostly now settled) have emerged. The governance of the Arctic is managed through nonbinding agreements brokered within the Arctic

Council. While these agreements outline procedures for response to vessels in distress, environmental accidents, and more, these arrangements do not commit countries to a legal course of action or make resources available. There is also no framework for compensation between states for costs incurred from responding to accidents, bailing out vessels in distress,

As U.S. national vigilance in the Arctic has lapsed, global interest has accelerated

or damages from an environmental mishap [11]. Many factors, such as sparse response infrastructure, volatile weather, ice, currents, and cold temperatures challenge the response protocols now used in warmer waters. For example, in the aftermath of the 2010 *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill, booms, oil eating microbes, dispersal agents, and in situ burning were all used

¹ On May 10, 2013, the Obama White House released the *National Strategy for the Arctic Region*, emphasizing three areas: advancing U.S. security interests, pursuing responsible Arctic region stewardship, and strengthening international cooperation [9].

to attempt to contain and remove the 4.9 billion barrels of spilled oil [12]. Despite over \$14 billion dollars spent on clean up, between 50-75 percent of the *Deepwater Horizon* spill was never removed from the Gulf of Mexico [12-13]. Clean up efforts were hampered by a shortage of booms. Using the booms available proved to be ineffective because wind and wave action was sufficient to push the oil over or under the booms and beyond the containment zone. Burning efforts were also only marginally effective because the oil emulsified quickly. The approximately 265,000 barrels that were burned came at the cost of releasing toxic dioxins [13]. Finally, the use of hydrocarbon consuming bacteria proved to be effective on removing dissolved natural gas, but not oil.

Compared to the 1989 *Exxon Valdez* spill, recovering the spilled oil in Prince William Sound was much less successful than *Deepwater Horizon. Exxon Valdez* spilled more than 260,000 barrels of crude oil into Prince William Sound, Alaska, and clean up costs and claims exceeded \$7 billion, and less than ten percent of the oil was recovered [14]. The U.S. Coast Guard employed many of the same technologies: in situ burning, mechanical clean up, and chemical dispersants. However, unfavorable weather, the lack of readily available skimmers, and the lack of application equipment for spreading chemical dispersants meant most of the oil remained in the sound [14].

In both cases, the majority of the oil spilled has remained in the aquatic ecosystem, having legacy impacts on species from the bottom to the very top of the food chain, local economies, and the health of surrounding populations. The varying degrees of effectiveness in clean up and recovery operations between *Deepwater Horizon* and *Exxon Valdez* can be attributed to several factors. The first and most obvious is time; in the 20 intervening years between the two spills, we have developed better methods of containing and cleaning up oil spills. Regulations have also advanced, reducing the likelihood of spills. However, the fact remains that oil and water do not mix. Once oil is introduced to the aquatic environment, the process of removing it is difficult, even under the best conditions. Ironically, as bad as *Exxon Valdez* was on the Alaskan coastline, it should be remembered that only one very financially responsible company (Exxon Mobil) and one country (the United States) were affected (see Figure 3). In the Arctic Ocean, it is more likely than not that more than one country would become involved because of currents (see Figure 4) and the drilling company will not be as well capitalized (and therefore able to fund cleanup) as Exxon.



Figure 3. Impact of the Exxon Valdez Spill, credit: Dorsett 2010

In the Arctic, oil response plans cannot rely on low winds and minimal wave action, nor can they rely on having the necessary equipment, supplies, and trained personnel close by. In the case of *Deepwater Horizon*, 126 crew members were on board the drilling rig at the time of the explosion, 11 employees were killed in the explosion and the remaining 115 needed to be evacuated and treated for injuries. In most Arctic communities, the sudden influx of 10 critically injured patients is enough to overwhelm regional medical facilities.

Council of Norway examined the effects of oil and gas drilling on the Arctic Ocean over a ten year period and found that oil moving under ice can be transported over long distances before surfacing from below ice floes [15]. Once pollution is beneath the ice, it is inaccessible to clean up crews and will be dispersed by the powerful currents in the Arctic Ocean (see Figure 4.) Low temperatures mean that that the chemical breakdown of contaminants is much slower and the ability of the Arctic Ocean to naturally buffer the impacts of pollution is much lower than in warmer climates [15]. Lastly, the soot, aerosols, and other contaminants that are emitted by ships using high sulfur fuels reduce the albedo of the Arctic, which drives a positive feedback loop where more

A study completed by the Research Figure 4. Arctic Sea Currents, credit: AMAP



solar radiation is absorbed by the ice, causing more ice to melt, reducing the albedo of the region, and warming it faster as more radiation is absorbed [15]. This could be catastrophic for indigenous communities that heavily rely upon the Arctic Ocean for food and their livelihood.

The cost of clean up operations, even for a smaller spill, are estimated to be much higher in the Arctic due to the extreme weather, sea ice, low visibility, and other factors unique to the Arctic. The removal equation in the Arctic is much more complex since under ice oil cannot be remediated via in situ burning or chemical dispersants. There is also no framework that would ensure that affected states are compensated for cleanup and residual damages from a spill to fisheries and other interests. The absence of these legal frameworks puts the entire Arctic region at risk and demands attention.

The Arctic Sea is a nearly closed environment with powerful currents that increases the risk that pollutants will quickly disperse in Arctic waters and remain there for a very long period of time. Navigation and communications resources are far less reliable than in other regions, enhancing the dangers to mariners and airmen. These factors result in a challenging operating environment for shipping, transportation, natural resource extraction, and national defense activities. Even though there is broad agreement that these challenges exist, little has been done to mitigate the risks associated with the inevitable development that is now present in the Arctic and the associated geostrategic security risks associated with new sources of resources, transit routes, and other activity [11]. In a written response to a questionnaire from Senator Dan Sullivan (R-AK), Secretary of Defense James Mattis stated:

"The Arctic is key strategic terrain. Russia is taking aggressive steps to increase its presence there. I will prioritize the development of an integrated strategy for the Arctic." This paper will examine non-military security issues in the Arctic. Specifically, this study will look at risks to the region from a soft-power perspective; such as risks that result from outside investment in real estate, mining, fishing, and oil and gas in the six countries bordering the Arctic Ocean: Russia, Greenland, Iceland, Canada, Norway and the United States.² Risk in this context comes in many different forms. Those to be explored in this paper include the risk of a large maritime pollution incident from an offshore platform; air pollution from mining, smelting or oil and gas activities; the risk of groundwater pollution from mining or chemical spills; the risk of political upheaval as a result of the inflows of large numbers of foreign workers or the inflows of large amounts of capital that will upset traditional political or economic relations or the current legal regime. Arctic politics are often described as "High North, Low Tension," but as human activities increase due to the allure of access to new resources, the risk of an incident increases. Right now, the Arctic states lack the mechanisms or infrastructure to respond to an incident and the cooperative nature of politics is vulnerable to fracture. Because the risk of physical, environmental, and political losses is so great, this study will seek to accomplish the following tasks:

- Define Arctic security in both a military and non-military context and identify U.S. security policies towards the Arctic
- Discuss how foreign direct investment (FDI) patterns and other development can affect security, based on past case studies
- Describe the current legal and regulatory climate in the Arctic and its capacity to deal with security issues—including those that relate to FDI and development activity
- Document actual patterns of FDI
- Document the capacity of the Arctic littoral states to have an awareness of FDI and the authority and will to properly regulate it
- Explore various legislative and financial options to moderate the adverse effects of FDI in the Arctic region

² An argument can be made that Finland and Sweden should be included in this discussion since they are charter members of the Arctic Council; however, we have chosen to limit our inquiry to those countries that have an Arctic Ocean coastline since those countries with a physical coastline are directly at risk if an incident were to occur.

Arctic Security in Context

The Arctic used to be a very "hot" national security domain. The United States and Canada operated a network of early warning radar stations based in the far north, including the Distant Early Warning (DEW) Line, to give early warning of attacking Soviet bombers. The DEW Line comprised the uppermost constellation of radar stations that were situated north of the Arctic Circle, primarily on Canadian territory. The Arctic seas were also a venue for interaction and competition between U.S. and Soviet submarine forces. To this day, both the United States and Russia routinely operate in this region because of its proximity to strategic bases and navigational choke points.

Military competition in the Arctic has cooled down since the Cold War days of *Ice Station Zebra*, but President Putin has been gradually increasing the size of the Russian military contingent in the Arctic. Shortly after sending the scientific mission to the Arctic Ridge, Putin ordered the resumption of regular air patrols over the Arctic by strategic bombers and anti-submarine patrol aircraft, and Russia is investing scarce capital in additional icebreakers, special anti-aircraft missile systems, and modernization of its naval units based in and around the Kola Peninsula (near Murmansk)[16-19]. There have been similar announcements that the Russian Navy is increasing its naval deployments in its claimed continental shelf areas.³ By contrast, U.S. investments by DOD and the U.S. Coast Guard have been extremely modest; and by most accounts, insufficient.⁴

Changes in the Arctic, a paper by the Congressional Research Service, discusses how the United States, Canada, and Denmark have continued their annual Arctic exercises. NATO, to some extent, has followed suit [21]. Yet a schism remains within NATO regarding whether the Arctic is a theater of NATO operations. The text of the 1949 NATO Mutual Defense Treaty can be easily read to include the land territory, territorial sea, exclusive economic zone (EEZ) and continental shelf (CS) areas of the United States, Canada, Greenland, Norway and Iceland. There is, however, no consensus within NATO that the Arctic should be an area of military concern. Some states recognize that the six Arctic littoral states could be the site of future conflicts and would like to have a more robust military presence in the Arctic [22]. Others, like former NATO Secretary General Jaap de Hoop Scheffeer, have urged that NATO member countries should go to great pains to not allow the Arctic to become an area of military competition [22]. As of this writing, NATO continues to be a forum for discussions of Arctic affairs, but Russia

³ In October 2012, Russia conducted a major command post exercise that included a significant Arctic component. As part of this exercise, coastal defense forces engaged in a sea-borne landing on Kotelny Island in the Novosibirsk Archipelago in order to conduct reconnaissance and to field test military equipment in Arctic conditions. This was the first Russian military exercise focused on protecting civilian facilities in the Arctic. The Russian Navy is also participating in exploration work along the Arctic continental shelf. The submarine Losharik, was involved in the Arktika-2012 exploration mission that collected samples for use in Russian efforts to prove that the Lomonosov and Mendeleyev Ridges are part of the Russian continental shelf.

⁴ In 2010, the Coast Guard commissioned an independent review of its statutory and national defense missions in relation to its force structure. That review, entitled the USCG High Latitude Regional Mission Analysis, concluded that the Coast Guard requires six ice breakers to fulfil its legal responsibilities and another four icebreakers to maintain it "continuous presence requirements of the Naval Operations Concept. This is in addition to one additional high endurance cutter and multi-range helicopters[20]. However, Congress and successive administrations balked at the \$1 billion price tag that comes with each icebreaker. But there are signs that a change in thinking about the Arctic and U.S. national security may be occurring. The 2017 Defense Appropriations Bill does include \$1 billion in procurement funds for a new USCG icebreaker.

has made it clear that it will not cooperate with NATO on Arctic matters. Canada has also maintained that it does not believe that NATO has a role in Arctic matters [23]. Norway, by contrast, has voiced increasing concerns in various settings about what it regards as a troubling increase in Russian military activities in the Arctic, and expressed its position that NATO should play a role in seeking to check those increases [22].

On November 22, 2013, DOD unveiled its strategy for the Arctic. The DOD strategy complements the May 2013 policy issued by President Obama and does not dwell on security threats or issues. In a press conference held in conjunction with the rollout, DOD senior defense officials asserted that there is "no assumption of an emerging military threat...and the strategy seeks to...keep the region as peaceful as it already is" [24]. But former Secretary of Defense Chuck Hagel said that given the rush by nations to exploit the Arctic's substantial oil and gas reserves, the DOD cannot rule out the possibility that a greater military presence will be necessary to ensure the peace as mankind discovers this "next frontier." As Hagel put it: "Throughout human history, mankind has raced to discover the next frontier. And time after time, discovery was swiftly followed by conflict. We cannot erase this history, we can assure that history does not repeat itself in the Arctic"[25].

The DOD's 2013 Arctic Strategy, and its 2016 Report to Congress, state that DOD will continue to build on its strategic partnerships to increase its regional expertise and obtain "small footprint" cold-weather operational experience. The later document also recognizes the increased human activity in the region due to resource extraction, fishing, and tourism. Given that, the combatant commands need to plan for contingencies associated with this increased activity in addition to military events[26]. The 2016 Report to Congress discusses continued exercises in the Arctic to maintain a deterrence posture.⁵ The report also recognizes the increasing geopolitical importance of the region and the need to evolve DOD Arctic infrastructure. The refurbishment of Thule Air Base in Greenland and recent improvements to a hangar at the former U.S. Naval Air Station at Keflavik, Iceland, were cited as examples of increased DOD commitments to modernizing the small amount of existing infrastructure [27]. These policy statements should also be read in the context of a credible U.S. Coast Guard, Air Force, and Army Corps of Engineers footprint in Southern Alaska.⁶

The U.S. Navy Arctic Roadmap 2014–2030 projects an increased U.S. Navy role in the Arctic in forecasting, maritime domain awareness, information sharing and hydrographic charting. That Roadmap does not propose increases in the number of combatant ships either based in the Arctic or transiting through the Arctic. The Navy and U.S. Northern Command have also been planning for an increased DOD presence in the Arctic and more infrastructure to support that presence [28]. But, the Navy has been careful to state that apart from its continued submarine operations, it will continue to play a supporting role in the Arctic. Some areas of Navy expertise include such areas as international science and technology (S&T) cooperation, disaster and emergency response, regional maritime domain awareness (MDA), ice and weather forecasting,

⁵ In general, the 2016 strategy document portends a slightly more robust DOD role in the Arctic and speaks more critically of Russian military activities [27].

The U.S. Coast Guard has a significant budgetary footprint in the Arctic to implement its traditional fisheries enforcement, search and rescue, safety of navigation (and maintenance of navigation aids), and oil spill response. The Coast Guard's 17th District consists of roughly 2,500 personnel posted at bases and air stations the 17th District also includes medium- and high-endurance cutters, buoy tenders, 12 helicopters and four C-130 aircraft. The Department of Defense has a number of major bases in Alaska and funds a variety of research activities. Most of the Arctic research funding has historically been done by various Navy components and the Army Corps of Engineers (headquartered on Fort Wainwright). The Corps has responsibility for various military construction projects as well as sizable number of civil public works projects to build and maintain harbors along Alaska's coast, restore former DOD lands, provide flood and erosion control, and construct facilities on tribal lands.

and hydrographic charting and mapping; and are noted as areas in which the Navy could play a more active role. Engagement of Russia in these cooperative activities, and the role of NATO in Arctic affairs, are not directly addressed in the Navy Roadmap or DOD's two policy statements [29].

The Roadmap and DOD's two policy statements also clearly state that DOD's activities in the Arctic will have to compete with other budget priorities, particularly because U.S. defense planners would like the Arctic to remain free of military competition or an arms buildup. This is also representative of the views of the former Commandant of the Coast Guard, Robert Papp, (formerly the United States' Special Arctic Representative) who opined that there are U.S. strategic interests in the Arctic that justify a modest military presence, including S&T missions. However, those interests are not "yet prominent enough to support anything but outreach, planning and small-scale summer deployments" [22].

Some independent analysts, such as Siemon Wezeman, point to recent Russian military activities (force buildup and base improvements) as causes of concern that there could be future armed competition over access to resources [22]. However, the authors are of the view that that competition over resources is not likely to cause a conflict because the territorial disputes in the Arctic are either comparatively benign or are being adjudicated (see Figure 5). The United States has two disputes with Canada that involve delineation of their adjacent boundary in the Beaufort Sea and a longstanding disagreement over the status of Canada's Northwest Passage. There is small dispute between Canada and Denmark over the status of Hans Island. Russia and Norway still have to delineate their Exclusive Economic Zones in the Barents Sea around the Svalbard Islands. And, Russia has been fully complying with the process to lay claim to an extended continental shelf in the Arctic. The UN Commission of the Limits of the Continental Shelf (CLCS) will probably take years to help the parties demarcate the outer limits of their extended continental shelf. In the 2016 DOD Report to Congress, DOD stated that it "respects the process" that Russia is following to delineate whether it is entitled to an extended continental shelf [27].

All of the six countries are largely in agreement that UNCLOS governs the exercise of their international rights in common areas. This does not rule out a future scenario where outside states that wish to upset the status quo, or where littoral states would increasingly deploy land and air forces to patrol their EEZ and continental shelf areas for instances of illegal fishing, environmental incidents, piracy, and criminal acts at sea. But at this point, there does not seem to be any compelling evidence that any of the six Arctic states that are the subject of this study are likely to go to war with one another because of a territorial dispute. The imposition of sanctions against Russia from 2014 for the Russian intervention in Ukraine by the United States and European Union (EU) may have heightened political tensions between the various countries,⁷ but those political tensions have had no visible influence on disputes in the Arctic Region over access to resources or territory. Political tensions over Eastern Europe may result in some increase in military patrols and spending by all sides in force modernization and infrastructure, but there is no evidence that there is a new "arms race" in the Arctic, or a compelling reason for one to develop.

⁷ There have been multiple rounds of sanctions culminating in sanctions directed against the Russian energy firms Rosneft and Novatech and two large banks. Both of those firms are active in Arctic resource development activities. The third round of sanctions beginning in the summer of 2014 was broad based and included the U.S., EU, Norway, Canada, Japan, Switzerland The sanction on the oil companies seek to ban co-operation with Russian oil firms on energy technology and services and include such companies as Exxon Mobil Corp. and BP Plc. [30]. According to recent press reports, Exxon Mobil is seeking a waiver of some of those sanctions as respects the joint venture which is established with Rosneft in 2012. The waiver request reportedly does not cover any Arctic blocks.

Legal Structure: Antarctica vs. the Arctic

Analysts often make the mistake of lumping the Arctic and the Antarctic into a "polar" policy basket, even though the regions are completely different from a variety of perspectives. In the broadest possible sense, Antarctica is a land area that is not under any single state's control and is off-limits to any activity beyond the scope of academic interest. The Arctic is, for most purposes relevant to this study, a maritime region and mostly under the control of individual states.

Antarctica is a continental land mass that is roughly twice the size of Australia. There are no permanent human residents, but anywhere from 1,000 to 5,000 people reside throughout the year at research stations scattered across the continent. In contrast, the Arctic region is essentially a maritime region. The Arctic Ocean is the smallest and the shallowest of the five major oceans. Because of its size and the fact that it is nearly surrounded by Eurasia and North America, some classify the Arctic as a sea. This small size and the close proximity of land in all directions means that coastal countries have significant legal interests in the water column due to the entitlements of states under the 1982 UN Law of the Sea Convention (UNCLOS). This relationship is shown in Figure 5; all areas outside of the red dotted line are unquestionably under the legal and resource jurisdiction of coastal countries. The shallow depth of the Arctic Ocean means that the countries are entitled to claim a continental shelf in excess of 200 nautical miles. As a consequence, the actual amounts of sea space that is classified as "international waters" and clearly beyond the jurisdiction of any coastal country is estimated at about 15 percent. Put another way, because of the broad continental margins in the Arctic Ocean,





most of the Ocean's seabed and water column belongs to single states versus being part of a "Global Commons."

Antarctica is entirely different legally. Like outer space and the deep seabed, its entire area is classified as "Global Commons" because it is not under the jurisdiction of any single country. Antarctica's special status as part of the global commons was established in the 1961 Antarctic Treaty that shelved the claims of seven countries.⁸ No country can make sovereignty claims to eitherthe land or waters on the continent, and they may not introduce personnel or equipment onto Antarctica except for scientific

14

¹² UST 794, TIAS 4780, December 1, 1959. Entered into Force in 1961. Prior to the conclusion of the 1961 Treaty, seven nations - Argentina, Australia, Chile, France, New Zealand, Norway, and the United Kingdom - claimed sovereignty over areas of Antarctica, on the basis of discovery, exploration, or geographic propinquity. The '61 Accord did not expressly renounce those claims; however, the agreement did declare (Art IV) that "No acts or activities taking place while the present treaty is in force shall constitute a basis for asserting, supporting or denying a claim to territorial sovereignty in Antarctica or create any rights of sovereignty in Antarctica. No new claim, or enlargement of an existing claim, to territorial sovereignty in Antarctica shall be asserted while the present treaty is in force" [31].

research purposes. Also, management of the affairs of Antarctica is handled by various treaty organizations that regulate offshore fishing, the science program, and other activities; however, all forms of mineral resource extraction are banned for the foreseeable future.⁹ Save for UNCLOS, there is no overarching, legally binding treaty that addresses Arctic affairs or a treaty organization that has mandate to exercise regulatory authority over Arctic activities.

There is no evidence that there is a new "arms race" in the Arctic, or a compelling reason for one to develop

The Arctic Regulatory Scheme

The Arctic is governed by a small collection of legal arrangements including national domestic laws, bilateral agreements, global treaties (such as UNCLOS), customary law, and a variety of international maritime conventions negotiated under the auspices of the International Maritime Organization (IMO). With the exception of the recently concluded Polar Code, the various maritime laws that affect the Arctic do so because the Arctic is a maritime region, rather than because there are special Arctic rules. Consequently, the rights and entitlements of states to make claims to territory in the Arctic Ocean, or use its resources, are derived from UNCLOS. To a limited extent, UNCLOS establishes policies that require states to ensure that their activities on land do not adversely affect the marine environment (Part XII) and provisions that enables states to establish special protective measures to prevent vessel-source pollution in waters that are ice covered (Article 234).

Though there is no overarching regional management organization (like the European Union or Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)) to addresses common issues; the Arctic Council is the closest thing to a regional governance body. The Arctic Council is an intergovernmental forum for promoting cooperation, collaboration, and integration between Arctic nations, indigenous communities, and other Arctic inhabitants. Founded in 1996 by the Ottawa Declaration, the Arctic Council is made up of eight member nations and six permanent indigenous groups. The Arctic Council has been responsible for brokering some coordination regimes relating to oil spill response and search and rescue.

In 2008, the five states bordering the Arctic Ocean, affirmed in the Ilulissat Declaration that sovereign rights in the Arctic are predetermined by UNCLOS and that the affected states remain "committed to the legal framework" of UNCLOS [32]. The Declaration also stated that the five Arctic littoral states would work together through the IMO "to strengthen additional measures and develop new measures to improve safety of maritime navigation and prevent or reduce the risk of ship based pollution in the Arctic Ocean"[32]. Over time, the Arctic Council has assumed greater prominence in Arctic affairs as well as expanded its membership to eight states plus six observer nations, including China, Japan, and India. The Council, as noted, has been responsible for brokering two international instruments: a 2011 Agreement on Cooperation in Aeronautical and Maritime Search and Rescue in the Arctic (SAR Agreement) and a 2013 Agreement on Marine Oil Pollution Preparedness and Response in the Arctic. These agreements help identify regional goals and points

⁹ Fishing is regulated by a treaty-based Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources (CCMLR) which is based in Tasmania. The 1991 Protocol on Environmental Protection to the Antarctic Treaty (known as the Madrid Protocol) enacted a ban on all "mineral resource activities" for at least 50 years [31].

of contact for cooperation but they do not commit any of the states to regulatory activities or any funding. Nor do these agreements empower the Arctic Council to act as a policy broker or regulatory authority [32].

UNCLOS and the Polar Code

Since the Arctic is mostly a maritime area, UNCLOS establishes most of the normative rules regarding activities in the Arctic region. And, since the Arctic Ocean is the anchor for most economic activities in the Arctic region, the first step in the analysis of the legal framework of the Arctic is to determine what UNCLOS provisions apply.

First and foremost, UNCLOS establishes important resource and legal jurisdictional zones, including territorial seas, exclusive economic zones, and continental shelves (UNCLOS Article 56). UNCLOS also establishes important jurisdictional lines between flag states, the state under whose laws a commercial vessel is registered, and coastal states. This demarcation is an especially important matter since, under UNCLOS, coastal states have limited powers over most aspects of ship operations including design, construction, and most operations because of the principle of flag-state control. In contrast, under UNCLOS Articles 58, 60, and 76, each Arctic coastal nation's domestic laws govern hydrocarbon development, fishing, aquaculture, and port operations, as well as mining and industrial operations that impact the marine environment. In this latter respect, the extent to which the eight countries regulate these activities is not uniform.¹⁰

There is a wide difference of opinion as to whether UNCLOS is sufficiently prescriptive to stop one country from interfering with another country's authorizing activities that pollute the marine environment. Similar concerns exist whether UNCLOS provides a sufficient legal foundation to hold another country financially responsible for pollution from its territory that harms another state or for damage to the marine environment generally. UNCLOS requires that states adopt domestic laws to control marine pollution resulting from vessels and shore-based facilities,¹¹ but the provisions lack specificity and is probably beyond the scope of many mandatory dispute settlement procedures established in UNCLOS or other treaties.¹² Because of these gaps, some sort of reciprocal standards and methods of resolving disputes and claims is strongly urged by the authors.

¹⁰ Both Canada and Russia have enacted regulations that govern shipboard passage in their respective polar areas. Canada's NORDREG establishes a mandatory ship reporting system and a zero-discharge rule for all ships in the Canadian Arctic. The Russian Federation has developed an elaborate regulatory regime governing the passage of ships through its Northern Sea Route. Apart from rules respecting oil and gas activities, the U.S. has very few Arctic specific regulations.

¹¹ Article 192 states that "States have the obligation to protect and preserve the marine environment." There are also specific provisions dealing with pollution from land-based sources (Article 207), vessels (Article 211), seabed activities (Article 208) and atmospheric pollution of the marine environment (Article 212).

Articles 286 and 287 confers jurisdiction on UNCLOS related disputes to four bodies but exempts (in Article 297 and Article 298) certain categories of disputes such as those relating to military matters and fisheries. Environmental protection matters are fair game. With the possible exception of the recent dispute between the Philippines and China that was decided by an UNCLOS Arbitral Panel in 2016, UNCLOS' dispute settlement mechanisms have not been effectively used in the past to enforce environmental norms. One possible reason for this is that the obligations in UNCLOS are so broad as to be unenforceable and, for this reason, bilateral and multilateral trade agreements usually offer states a better option (and remedies) so long as the matter can somehow be linked to trade [33]. Of note, in the 2001 Mox Plant Case Ireland sought to get the International Tribunal for the Law of the Sea (ITLOS) to issue an injunction to forbid the UK from permitting further release of radioactive waste from a MOX plant into the Irish Sea. ITLOS ultimately determined that there were other European Treaties that had dispute settlement provisions that took precedence over UNCLOS and it declined to exercise jurisdiction [34].

17

One effort that increased governance in the Arctic was the IMO's recent enactment of the Polar Code. The Code entered into force on January 1, 2017, and applies to all passenger ships and any other ships above 500 tons operating in latitudes above 60 degrees north. Like most IMO instruments, enforcement of the Polar Code rests with the flag states, but there is the possibility that states could enforce vessel standards via so-called "port state control measures" [35]. The Code contains a number of operational and safety restrictions—including zero or limited discharges in polar waters—and requires ship owners to ensure that their crews have specialized training and safety equipment and have in their possession a polar certificate before entering polar waters[35]. For new ships that will operate in the polar region, there are special hardening requirements (dependent on ice conditions), a mandatory reporting scheme for ships entering the Barents side of the Arctic Ocean, and hull/tank separation requirements for ships carrying oil and noxious liquids.

Unquestionably the Polar Code (which went into effect in 2017) is a major step in the right direction. In February 2017, the ship-safety certification company, DNV GL and the Danish Maritime Authority, made the first certification of a ship's compliance with the new Polar Code: the anchor handling tug Magne Viking [36]. But as discussed in *"Addressing the Gaps in Arctic Governance*" there are numerous exceptions to the Polar Code that could be problematic and shift most of the operational and financial risk of an accident from ship owners to coastal states [11]. First, the Polar Code does not apply to ships below 500 tons—notwithstanding the fact that many smaller coastal craft carry noxious materials. The Code says nothing about increased ship-owner liability under IMO conventions for response and cleanup costs or increases their insurance limits, despite the fact that the costs of responding to and cleaning up a shipping accident or oil spill would be far more technically complex and expensive than in warmer waters. Lastly, the Code preserves exemptions (under SOLAS, Chapter V) for fishing vessels, warships, naval auxiliaries and government-owned ships on non-commercial service from the scope of its coverage. This exemption is very problematic because some states own and operate merchant vessels that could potentially evade legal responsibility by claiming sovereign immunity.¹³ Likewise, if the current projections (discussed later) of new high-seas fisheries materialize, fishing by exempt vessels will take place far from the existing shipping channels, charted areas, and rescue infrastructure.

Some academics and the U.S. Department of State's Advisory Board are starting to take note of outside investments in the Arctic, particularly in the oil and gas field, but as of yet no concrete measures have been enacted to address the issues associated with resource exploitation in and near the Arctic coastline and the likely transboundary impacts of an incident [37]. While it is in theory possible for one or more states to legally confront another state over a particular incident that has deleterious impacts on the marine environment by using the UNCLOS dispute-settlement mechanism, that mechanism is deficient. The recent South China Sea arbitration, Philippines v. China, establishes an important precedent that the duties of states to protect the marine environment is "fair game" in an UNCLOS dispute settlement action [38]. Even though the Philippines case was very far-reaching, the ability of one state to enjoin the action of another state from imprudent practices or to recover money damages for the costs of damages to the marine environment is not

¹³ The large Chinese shipping company COSCO is a state-owned conglomerate of separate shipping companies. Even though these ships are ultimately owned by state, these ships are engaged in commercial service and should not normally be entitled to sovereign immunity under IMO instruments and UNCLOS. However the word "should" is not a satisfactory state of affairs if it means that coastal states that are adversely affected by a PRC incident have to dodge PRC lawyers who erect barriers to payment or require that the affected communities have to sue in Chinese courts.

yet clearly established in law and precedent.¹⁴ This means that absent some sort of multilateral instrument that creates a claims process and a liability fund, states that are adversely affected by a transboundary pollution incident would be left suing the offending entity in the country where the incident occurred or seeking collection against an insurance policy, assuming one was available. Because of the difficulties of doing this, it is fair to say that in most cases, a country that incurs damage to its Arctic coast — as a result of an industrial accident in another country — would likely have to absorb the costs of cleanup and the compensation of its injured citizens.

¹⁴ There are an increasing number of cases in which the Provisional Measures (UNCLOS 290) are being discussed. UNCLOS related litigation is not yet at the point where one state can go to an UNCLOS body and get an injunction under Article 290 or sue for money damages; although, the law seems to be slowly evolving in that direction. That would be a good development in Arctic governance if the coastal states are unable to come up with a process or forum for dealing with the extreme costs (and liability) associated with a large industrial or shipping incident that affects the Arctic marine environment

Resource Availability in the Arctic

Hyperbolic analyses of the resources in the Arctic foretell of a 21st-century gold rush in the planet's northernmost region. Much of this rhetoric was triggered in 2007, when Russia planted its national flag on the seafloor at the North Pole. Immediately, responses from the global community were vocal and furious. Canada's minister for foreign affairs protested, "This isn't the 15th century; you can't go around the world and just plant flags and say 'we're claiming this territory'' [39]. Then U.S. Secretary of State Condoleezza Rice responded to the event by directing John Bellinger, the State Department's chief legal advisor, to go before the Senate to urge the ratification of UNCLOS [40]. Scholar Scott G. Borgerson predicted in Foreign Policy: "Without U.S. leadership to help develop diplomatic solutions to competing claims and potential conflicts, the region could erupt into an armed mad dash for resources" [41].

Fortunately, there is no modern-day Arctic gold rush. Much has changed in the time that has intervened between the resource grabs of the colonial era and today, making such actions unlikely in the future[41-42]. All of the Arctic states have permitting processes that review resources from the standpoint of value, risk, and profitability. While these processes vary in duration and stringency, they are uniform in that they prevent unlicensed operators from engaging in large projects.

The overwhelming theme of resource availability in the Arctic is uncertainty. For a long time, industry was simply uninterested in coping with the high-risk environment of the Arctic. With very few exceptions, there have been better, more profitable options elsewhere. But as resources in other parts of the world dwindle, the vast resources of the Arctic become more and more appealing to investors, developers, and governments. At the same time, Arctic communities are seeing the environmental cycles shift due to climate change, just as globalization creates more worldwide demand for food, goods, and services. In a speech at CSIS Washington, D.C., on July 19, 2017, Alaskan Senator Lisa Murkowski described the situation as "extraordinary potential limited by access" [43]. Natural resource development remains a divisive issue in the Arctic, however, many Arctic communities are warming up to the idea of development as the pressures of climate change and globalization increase.

Oil Resources

The availability of hydrocarbon resources in the Arctic is one of the most widely published facets of resource availability above the 66th parallel. And for good reason: oil is one of the pillars that allow modern society to function as we know it. In the Arctic, oil and gas extraction is already underway in some regions (see figure 6).

A 2008 resource appraisal by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) estimates that 90 billion barrels of oil, 1,669 trillion cubic feet of natural gas, and 44 billion barrels of natural gas liquids could lie in the Arctic, waiting to be proven by further exploration. An estimated 45 percent of these resources are located in Alaska [44]. While still unproven, 84 percent of these reserves are anticipated to be located offshore [44]. The USGS Circum-Arctic Resource Appraisal (CARA) used geology-based probabilistic methodology to estimate the likelihood

Figure 6. Mining, Oil, and Gas Activity, credit: Philippe Rekacewicz; Hugo Ahlenius UNEP/GRID-Arendal



of undiscovered oil and gas resources in 33 geologic provinces with geological structures conducive to petroleum deposits (see figure 7). The petroleum-potential areas considered were those that had a 10 percent likelihood of containing at least 50 million barrels of oil or natural gas equivalent [44]. These estimates are speculative until proven by exploration.

In a number of onshore Arctic areas, exploratory drilling for oil and natural gas has already been carried out; 117 billion barrels of oil equivalent (BBOE) have been extracted as of 2015 [45]. According to the most recent data, there are 290 BBOE in reserves and discovered potential, unproven resources make up the remaining 426 BBOE of conventional Arctic fossil fuel endowments [45]. In percentage terms, 19 percent of anticipated Arctic fossil fuel endowments have been extracted, reserves and discovered potential make up 35 percent, and 51 percent of anticipated hydrocarbons have yet to be proven [45].

These resources are not evenly distributed among nations. Excluding natural gas liquids, the Alaskan Arctic contains 94 BBOE, Canada has 34 BBOE in resource potential, Greenland's endowment is estimated to be 39 BBOE, Norway is anticipated to have 25 BBOE, and Russia has the largest endowment by far with an anticipated 287 BBOE in conventional oil and gas (these figures do not include resources that are outside of littoral states' EEZs) [45].

Even though Iceland does not figure prominently in the large resource projects, the small nation is actively exploring two different offshore sites. The Dreki Area, east of the Icelandic coast, on the Jan Mayen ridge,



Figure 7. Undiscovered Oil Estimates by the USGS Circum-Arctic Resource Appraisal, Credit: USGS

is thought to have the potential for significant hydrocarbon resources, though exploration has yet to prove reserves[46]. Similarly, the Gammur Area off the coast of north-central Iceland is also expected to hold gas, but the variety and quantities have yet to be determined [47].

Mineral Resources

The Arctic holds vast quantities of minerals: nickel, zinc, diamonds, iron, bauxite, copper, phosphate, palladium, platinum, rhodium, cobalt, and gold. Resources vary from state to state in terms of type, size, quality, and quantity. Each nation also has vastly different histories and experience with mineral and metal extraction. Regulatory restrictions and national attitudes toward mining affect the perceptions of the significance of various deposits in each country. Consequently, the quantities of commercially viable resources in the Arctic vary not only in terms of distribution but also in terms technological accessibility, legal restrictions, economic viability, and proven size of reserves.

Alaska's commercial mining history began in the late 1880's, when the discovery of gold in the Klondike and on the beaches of Nome triggered a gold rush that brought as many as 20,000 people to Alaska[48]. In the 1950s, zinc and lead were discovered in the Brooks Range in northwestern Alaska. The discovery would be developed into the world's second largest zinc mine, Red Dog mine, located about 100 miles north of the Arctic Circle. Red Dog has produced more than 1 billion tons of zinc concentrate to date [49-50]. There are two other large zinc and lead deposits in Alaska's Arctic: the Aqqaluk deposit, currently being mined, and the Qanaiyaq deposit, which has yet to be mined [51]. Given Alaska's vast expanses of unexplored wilderness, it is possible that more large deposits of other metals or minerals exist. The Canadian Arctic is rich in mineral deposits. Gold, copper, nickel, iron, uranium, rare earth elements (REE), and diamonds are located in the Canadian Shield [51]. To the west, in the Canadian Cordillera, numerous deposits of zinc, lead, gold, silver, copper, molybdenum, and tungsten have either been discovered or predicted by geologic probability models [51]. The number of known deposits in the Canadian Arctic are too numerous to list, so they are summarized in table 1. Mines of notable size are: Mary River iron mine

Figure 8. BHP Billiton's Ekati Diamond Mine (Yellowknife, Northwest Territories, Canada), credit: Jason Pineau



on Baffin Island; Izok Lake copper, zinc, lead, and gold mine near the Coronation Gulf; the Giant gold mine on Yellowknife Bay; the Ekati diamond mine in the Northwest Territories (see figure 8), and the Nechalacho REE deposit in the Blatchford Lake Complex [51].

Deposit	Status	Metal	Tonnage (Mt)
Andrew lake	Not Exploited	Uranium	7.67
Casino	Not Exploited	Copper, Molybdenum, Gold, Silver	2752.6
Coffee	Not Exploited	Gold	92.95
Con Mine	Closed Mine	Gold	10.7
Courageous Lake	Exploration	Gold	156.448
Crest	Not Exploited	Iron	3200
Diavik	Active Mine	Diamond	46 million
	_		carats
Ekati	Active Mine	Diamond	105.4 million
			carats
Faro Mine	Closed Mine	Zinc, Lead, Gold, Silver	58
Ferguson Lake	Not Exploited	Nickel, Copper, Cobalt, Platinum, Palladium	46
Gayna River	Not Exploited	Zinc, Lead, Gold, Silver, Gallium, Germanium	50
Giant Mine	Closed Mine	Gold	15.5
Golden Revenue	Not Exploited	Gold, Silver, Copper, Molybdenum	231.96
Goose	Not Exploited	Gold	24.76
Hackett River	Not Exploited	Zinc, Lead, Copper, Gold, Silver	82
Hasselberg	Not Exploited	Zinc, Lead, Silver	4.1
High Lake	Not Exploited	Zinc, Copper, Lead, Gold, Silver	14
Howards Pass	Not Exploited	Zinc, Lead	388.5
Izok Lake	Not Exploited	Zinc, Copper, Lead, Gold, Silver	14.6
Keno Hill Silver	Active Mine	Gold, Lead, Zinc	7.214

Table 1. Prospective, Active, and Closed mines in the Canadian Arctic, adopted from Boyd et al., 2016

22

Kudz Ze Kayah	Not Exploited	Zinc, Lead, Copper, Gold, Silver	14.55
Logtung	Not Exploited	Tungsten, Molybdenum	424.6
Lupin Mine	Closed Mine	Gold, Silver, Copper, Molybdenum	12.83
Mactung	Not Exploited	Tungsten	44.886
Mary River 1	Active Mine	Iron	631
Mary River 2 & 3	Not Exploited	Iron	362
Meadowbank Mine	Active Mine	Gold	27.407
Meliadine	Not Exploited	Gold	48.273
Minto	Active Mine	Copper, Gold, Silver	110.144
Nanisivik Mine	Closed Mine	Zinc, Lead, Silver	17.525
Nechalacho	Not Exploited	REEs	304.63
Nickel King	Not Exploited	Nickel, Copper, Cobalt	44.172
Nunavik Mine	Active Mine	Nickel, Copper, Cobalt, Platinum, Palladium	27.146
Pine Point	Closed Mine	Zinc, Lead	100.96
Polaris Mine	Closed Mine	Zinc, Lead	20.107
Prairie Creek	Not Exploited	Zinc, Lead, Gold	11.67
Raglan Mine	Active Mine	Nickel, Copper, Platinum, Palladium	42.03
Red Mountain	Not Exploited	Molybdenum	187
Roche Bay C	Not Exploited	Iron	567.3
Tom and Jason	Not Exploited	Zinc, Lead, Gold	30.99
Wellgreen	Exploration	Nickel, Copper, Platinum, Palladium, Cobalt, Gold	461.28
West Raglan	Not Exploited	Nickel, Copper, Platinum, Palladium	10
Wolverine	Active Mine	Zinc, Copper, Lead, Gold, Silver	6.154

An Emerging Challenge to Arctic Security

As Greenland's ice sheet retreats, new resources are being discovered. At present, Greenland holds multiple deposits of zinc, lead, coal, molybdenum, gold, platinum, palladium, copper, iron, REEs, and precious and semiprecious stones [51]. Current extraction is summarized in the table below. As with Alaska, it is possible that Greenland contains many more deposits than those that are currently known. The geology of Greenland suggests that many resources are still trapped beneath the Greenland Ice Sheet [51]. Greenland's major deposits are listed in table 2.

Deposit Name	Deposit size (in tons)	Material	Corporate Owner (2016)
Isua	1,107	Iron	General Nice Development Ltd
Black Angel	13.6	Zinc, Lead, Silver	Black Angel Mining A/S
Kvanefjeld	673	REE, Uranium, Zinc	Greenland Minerals and Energy A/S
Kringlerne	4,300	REE, Niobium, Zirconium	Tanbreez Mining Greenland A/S
Motzfeldt	340	REE Niobium, Tantalum, Zirconium	West Melville Metals Inc
Sarfartoq	14	REE, Niobium	Hudson Resources Inc
Citronen	132	Zinc, Lead	Ironbark Zinc Ltd
Skaegaard	202	Palladium, Gold, Platinum	Platina Resources Ltd
Flammefjeld	200	Molybdenum Sulfide	21st North
Malmbjerg	329	Molybdenum	KGHM

Table 2. Active and Prospective Mines in Greenland, adopted from Boyd et al., 2016

Iceland, in contrast to its Arctic neighbors, does not have large mineral deposits. The geologic environment is distinct from North America, Greenland, Scandinavia, and Russia due to its recent formation as a result of tectonic rifting and volcanic activity. Some gold exploration has occurred, but thus far no profitable gold deposits have been found in Iceland.

Since as early as the 12th century, silver deposits have been exploited in what is now Norway. In the 1600s, silver and copper were mined in the areas south of Trondheim. Some of these mines were active until the 1970s, spanning almost three centuries of near-continuous resource extraction. Modern Norway has three large metal mines: the Tellnes ilmenite mine, and two iron mines at Rana and Sydvaranger. Permits have recently been awarded to three new mines that will extract

Figure 9. Russian Coal Mine in Ny Alesund, Svalbard, credit: Anna Henly



rutile and copper. Finally, there are large deposits of iron, copper, coal (Svalbard - Figure 9.) cobalt, silver, zinc, rutile, molybdenum, nickel, gold, arsenic, and the platinum group elements (PGE), which include ruthenium, rhodium, palladium, osmium, iridium, and platinum. Most of Norway's deposits are concentrated in the north.

Russian geology across the Arctic varies widely, leading to a diverse allocation of mineral resources spread across various geologic zones. There are seven major regions of the Russian Arctic that produce significant quantities of minerals and metals. They are: Kola Peninsula, Maimecha-Kotui Udzhinskoyw, Taimyr-Norilsk, Taimyr-Severnaya, Tomtor, Yaana-Chukotka, and Yakutia-Anabar. Their resources are summarized in table 3.

Region	Resources
Kola Peninsula	PGE, Copper, Titanium, Tantalum, Niobium, REE, Iron, Phosphorus, Flerovium, Chromium, Manganese, Gold
Maimecha-Kotui Udzhinskoyw	Phosphorus, Iron, Niobium, PGE, Diamonds
Taimyr-Norilsk	Nickel, Copper, Cobalt, PGE
Taimyr-Severnaya	Gold, Molybdenum, Tungsten, Chromium, Vanadium, Copper, Nickel, Lead, Zinc
Tomtor	REE, Niobium, Iron, Aluminum, Phosphorus
Yaana-Chukotka	Tin, Gold, Mercury, Tungsten, Copper, Molybdenum, Silver, PGE, Nickel, Lead, Zinc
Yakutia-Anabar	Diamonds, Tin, Iron

Table 3. Russian Deposits by Arctic Region, adopted from Boyd et al., 2016

There are also several sub-Arctic mining regions of particular importance due to their proximity to the Arctic environment. The Ural Mountains and surrounding area are rich in iron, chromite, gold, molybdenum, tungsten, copper, gold, and platinum [51]. In Siberia, deposits of nickel, copper, and PGEs are among the largest in the world. Additionally, Siberian geology includes smaller deposits of gold and silver.

Future mineral extraction in the Russian Arctic is almost certain. Vast deposits of cobalt, copper, diamonds, gold, iron, nickel, PGEs, high-value REEs, titanium, vanadium, and zirconium have been proven but are not yet being extracted on a commercial scale [51].

Fisheries

The availability and profitability of fish stocks in the Arctic vary dramatically across the region. Very little is known about fish stocks in the Arctic Ocean itself. In some of the inlets to the Arctic, such as Baffin Bay, the Barents Sea, and the Bering Sea, extensive studies have traced the size and migration patterns of fish stocks. According to the Inventory of Research and Monitoring, conducted by the Alaska Fisheries Science Center—a research branch of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's National Marine Fisheries Service—data is most dense in areas that contain active fisheries or are adjacent to them. However, in areas with historically permanent ice, there is very little information available [52].

Given these many unknowns, it is difficult to make precise projections about the future of commercial fishing. However, in areas that already have commercial fishing activity, changes due to climate change, including decreasing ice coverage and changing migration ranges, are impacting the industry. Currently, commercial fishing in the Arctic is concentrated in a few regions. There are 59 marine fish species (or "stocks") that are targeted by commercial fishing [53]. Of these, 30 are in the Bering Sea between Alaska and Russia [53]. The Norwegian and Barents Seas, which together form the Atlantic-Arctic gateway, contain between 21 and 24 of the desirable species [53].

Even though the inlets to the Arctic are monitored by two very professional coast guards (U.S. and Norway), illegal, unreported and unregulated (IUU) fishing in the Arctic is a growing concern. The great distances involved and harsh environment makes detection, monitoring, and apprehension difficult. And wherever IUU fishing is feasible, the Arctic is an attractive lure because of the serious declines in most fishing areas worldwide. According to a report by the World Wildlife Fund, IUU fishing remains a problem, mostly in

Russian waters in the Bering Sea and Sea of Okhotsk [54]. This problem is reportedly getting worse as sea ice retreats, exposing more of the large, 1.1 million square mile "donut hole" in the central Arctic Ocean that is not under the management of any single country's EEZ [55].

Unlike the 50,000 square-mile donut hole beyond the reach of the coastal EEZs of Alaska and Russia in the Bering Sea, which is under the purview of the Straddling Stocks Convention, no such agreements cover the areas of the Arctic Ocean that are beyond the 200 nautical mile EEZs of the coastal states. Already fishing vessels from various countries have "tested the waters" of this unregulated area [55]. However, recent meetings between Canada, Greenland, Norway, Russia, and the United States produced a temporary moratorium on fishing in the Arctic Ocean that was signed on July 16, 2015. The non-legally binding agreement, called the Declaration Concerning the Prevention of Unregulated High Seas Fishing in the Central Arctic Ocean, halts all commercial fishing until scientists can collect information on fish stocks and assess how environmental changes in the Arctic are impacting fish species [56-57]. Now, the original signatories are bringing other countries, such as China, Iceland, Japan, South Korea, and the EU, together to discuss ways of expanding the temporary moratorium [58].

Shipping

The dream of a passage through the frozen waterways of the Arctic has been alive since the 1400s, when European traders longed for a route to the Pacific Ocean without sailing around Africa or making a land trek across Asia. And while shipping has grown infinitely safer and more efficient in the past six centuries, shipping routes have remained mostly the same, with the notable exceptions of the Suez and Panama Canals. Shipping operators continue to look for ways to reduce transit time and distance, as well as reduce the risks posed by choke points in the world's current shipping lanes. A transit lane through the Arctic could achieve all of these goals.

Due to climate change, the Arctic Ocean is as open as it has ever been in human history [59]. Recent ice forecast models predict that openwater vessels15 could feasibly transit the Arctic as early as 2040, while Polar Class 6¹⁶ vessels are already safely transiting the Arctic Ocean in summer and fall [5]. Additionally, the available window for transit is increasing from about five months per year to possibly year round by moderately ice-strengthened vessels by late century [60]. More troubling from the perspective of safety of navigation, with further ice regression ships will gravitate towards the "over the top" shipping

Figure 10. Arctic Shipping Routes, credit: Malte Humpert, The Arctic Institute



¹⁵ No hull ice strengthening

¹⁶ Medium hull strengthening

route versus the Northern Sea Route (NSR) or Northwest Passage (NWP), since they could shave an additional four to five days off a journey from East Asia to Rotterdam (see figure 10). This is a problem because the limited Arctic response and safe-refuge capacity is found along the routes that hug the coastline, and because of uncertain nautical charts.

According to a 2016 report by the Copenhagen Business School, the NSR could reduce the transit shipping distance from Asia to Europe by 40 percent, compared to the contemporary route through the Suez Canal [61]. Because of declining summer ice, a general uptick in summer vessel traffic has been observed, although increases have not been steady from year to year. In 2012, 46 vessels carrying a total cargo volume of 4 million tons transited the NSR [61]. In 2016, the total cargo volume exceeded 6.9 million tons [62]. For the first time, China sent five vessels—including container vessels—through the NSR as a proof of concept [62].





Most experts expect vessel traffic to increase, especially in destination and possibly commodity transit shipping. Vessel traffic associated with the cruise industry and tourism is also expected to increase; raising the probability of some sort of marine casualty that will require a complex search-and-rescue mission that would strain the region's limited capability. However, the Arctic Ocean is unlikely to become the world's new superhighway for intercontinental container and other transit shipping because there are too many weather and ice uncertainties associated with

passage through the Arctic Ocean. These risks, especially of delays, are anathema to the just-in-time delivery requirements for most cargo container shipping companies.¹⁷ While ice coverage and thickness is declining, no one is anticipating an ice-free Arctic. Ice or no ice, vessels will need to contend with the ferocity of Arctic weather. For the near term, Arctic shipping will remain riskier, more difficult, and, if icebreaker escorts are required,¹⁸ more expensive than traditional routes. Still, the gaps in cost and time are shrinking as ice recedes.

¹⁷

In addition to the issue of delay, the movements of cargo containers has become more or less a commodity, and the margins are not sufficient to sustain the costs of delay or, worse, vessel stranding due to weather, bad charts, etc [63].

¹⁸ In doing background research for the Gaps in Arctic Governance, (see [11]) risk managers at two large Norwegian maritime insurance firms were asked about how they mitigate the risk of ships transiting the Arctic – above and beyond Polar Code compliance. As a general matter, the insurance companies require their policy holders to only make transits through the Arctic via the Northern Sea Route (NSR) and to do so with an icebreaker escort. This increases the cost(s) of the transit but the presence of an icebreaker is invaluable to provide tow and rescue services if a ship suffers a casualty. Most such casualties are the result of the collision of a vessel (or its propeller) with free-floating ice.

The Forward Look

Despite the vast quantity and value of resources in the Arctic, this analysis does not predict that a resource "rush" will occur in the next few years. There are several reasons for this.

First, while Arctic resources are becoming more accessible due to technological advancements and climate change, that doesn't mean they are as profitable as resources elsewhere. At present and for much of the foreseeable future, the impact of climate change will make some resources (such as off shore hydrocarbons) more accessible due to retreating glaciers and less sea ice, but it will not make them completely accessible. Profitable extraction of certain resources will require technological development, such as new drilling technologies and systems that can withstand strong Arctic storms and infrastructure that remains stable as melting permafrost shifts below it. Wherever regulations require that resources must be extracted and transported

in an environmentally responsible manner, companies will need to develop or adopt adequate (and expensive) technology or face steep consequences. Such regulations apply in the United States, Canada and Norway but less so in Russia and, perhaps, Greenland, which have lower standards and less monitoring.

As the permafrost melts and refreezes, infrastructure dilapidates at a much faster rate than in lower latitudes

Second, the emerging freeze-thaw cycles of the Arctic permafrost pose serious challenges to development in the Arctic. As the permafrost melts and refreezes, infrastructure dilapidates at a much faster rate than in lower latitudes. Climate change is making the problem worse by increasing the depth of soil thawing and by melting ice roads. In 2007, the University of Alaska estimated that melting permafrost from climate change would add \$5.6–7.6 billion dollars to the anticipated costs of replacing worn out infrastructure in the state, representing a 10–12 percent increase [64]. Water and sewer systems are expected to account for the largest share of extra costs, with roads and airport runways following close behind.

This trend is also observed elsewhere in the Arctic. Russia is acutely vulnerable to warming permafrost due to the urban design of Russian Arctic cities. Most urban infrastructure consists of standard design — five-tonine-story buildings with concrete pile foundations. Recent analysis of the impacts of warming permafrost projections conservatively anticipate that by 2040, the Russian cities of Salekhard, Norilsk, Yakutsk, and Anadyr will experience critical (<55 percent) reductions in the load bearing capacity of the standard pile foundations that underlie the majority of built infrastructure [65]. If the rates of warming due to climate change are more rapid, this deterioration can be expected to occur sooner, perhaps as early as the mid-2020s. Such significant reductions in load bearing capacity would exceed the safety factors incorporated into the building designs by Soviet engineers, leading to potentially catastrophic building failure and collapse. In addition to building new infrastructure to support development, the current structures in the Russian Arctic will need to be evaluated and either retrofitted or rebuilt to sustain the impacts of melting permafrost, requiring even greater investment.

Melting permafrost will complicate development of natural resources at every step of the process. In the extraction phase, seasonable variability in the stability of the permafrost will cause extraction equipment to shift, sometimes unexpectedly. Buildings such as offices, housing, and community infrastructure will also face

28

challenges due to instability in the permafrost. Transporting extracted resources, whether through the sparse pipeline, road, or rail systems, will also be more difficult and dangerous with melting permafrost. Foundations of pipelines could shift, causing leaks that damage the Arctic environment. Road and rail infrastructure can rapidly deteriorate from season to season, increasing the risk of accidents.

Third, the Arctic lacks infrastructure (see figure 12). Before the vast mineral, fossil, and food resources can be exploited, developers will need to construct the infrastructure that will facilitate extraction, processing, transport, export, and housing for operators and their families. Inconveniently, the melting of the permafrost on land, high rates of erosion, and severe weather pose severe and costly challenges to the larger engineering projects that would be needed to support resource extraction.

On the U.S. side of the Arctic, there is very little infrastructure north of the Bering Strait.¹⁹ Shortly after Shell pulled out of its exploratory oil and gas project in the Chukchi Sea, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers postponed efforts to study the creation of U.S. Arctic deepwater port. This means that any ores that are mined would have to transit out of the U.S. Arctic before they could be offloaded for processing. Norway's Tschudi Shipping, by contrast, is building a major bulk commodity handling port in the vicinity of Kirkenes to service a nearby iron ore mine as well as to serve as a receiving and transshipment port for other minerals. The nearby Russian Port of Murmansk also has significant bulk cargo handling capabilities[66].

Fourth, commodity prices do not currently encourage the development of some mineral resources, especially oil and gas. The low market price of hydrocarbons does not encourage a high-risk, infrastructureintensive resource exploration in a climatically turbulent and distant part of the world. For these resources to be appealing to large, well-established, and well-capitalized oil operators, the global market price of oil will need to rise.

While there is no "gold rush" in the immediate offing, strategic investments will continue to be made to lock up future sources of supply since investing in assets in the form of land or leases is the ultimate hedge against future price increases. World commodity prices cannot be expected to be low for forever. Therefore, it is important that we assess the state of foreign investment in Arctic resources, whether those investments are being responsibly managed, and whether new regulations are needed to prevent harmful FDI trends from developing.

¹⁹ Dutch Harbor and the Red Dog Mine's shipping facility (known as the Delong Mountain Terminal Port) on the Chukchi Sea are the only two sites that the authors could locate in the U.S. Arctic that could serve as a commodity handling facility. The Delong Mountain Terminal does not load materials pier side; rather, ore is sent by conveyors to cargo ships or barges that are anchored offshore Dutch Harbor, which is located in the Aleutians. Delong Terminal does not have any current capacity to do large-capacity ore handling.





Foreign Direct Investment (FDI)

General Policies and Definitions

A main thrust of this study is an examination of current rules governing foreign direct investment in the resource and industrial sectors of any of the Arctic littoral countries. This first entails an examination of whether there are prevailing international laws or standards that either should shape foreign direct investments in the Arctic or would need to be implemented for the protection of the Arctic physical and cultural environment. We also look at past foreign investment patterns of China in developing countries to assess what sort of laws and regulations might be necessary in the Arctic. Finally, we look at what local laws are currently in place.

A discussion of FDI needs to begin with definitions since there is a lack of uniformity in the ways that countries regulate FDI. The United States has a formal process, discussed below, for examining the acquisition of equity in a business enterprise, as well as a variety of separate rules that restrict foreign ownership of certain activities, such as publishing and broadcasting. Other countries take a more comprehensive approach. Because national legal systems regulate FDI differently, for purposes of this analysis, the OECD definition will be used[67]. The OECD²⁰ considers the following types of transactions to be forms of FDI:

A cross border investment made by a resident in one economy (direct investor²¹) with the objective of establishing a lasting interest in an enterprise that is resident in one economy other than that of the direct investor. The direct or indirect ownership of 10 percent or more of the voting power of an enterprise is evidence of such a relationship. Direct investment enterprises are corporations (or their subsidiaries) or they may be quasi-corporations.²² FDI encompasses direct investment positions (debt and equity) and direct investment financial flows (debt and equity).

Legal promotion of FDI has been the foundation of international trade and monetary policy for threequarters of a century. The 1944 Bretton Woods agreements were designed to rebuild the international economic system after World War II, including regulation of the international monetary system, sovereign access to capital (through the establishment of the IMF and IBRD—the forerunner of the World Bank), and elimination of trade warfare. The 1944 Articles of Agreement of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD) recognized that a purpose for the bank was to promote "private foreign investment"

²⁰ The OECD has tracked FDI trends for all member states since 1983 so that states had a reliable way of measuring FDI and reporting on country specific barriers to FDI

²¹ Direct investors can be individuals, a group of business-related individuals, an incorporated or unincorporated enterprise, a public or private enterprise, a consortium of related enterprises, a government body, estate or any single combination of the preceding.

²² According to the OECD Benchmark Document a quasi-corporation is an unincorporated business that operates as if it were an entity separate from its owners including branches, land ownership, partnerships (LLCs and general), trusts, and resident portions of multi-territory enterprises (branch office).

in the reconstruction and development of the economies that were destroyed or disrupted by World War II and to promote (Article, cl. (iii)) "long term balanced growth and equilibrium in balances of payments by encouraging international investment for...development"[68]. These basic principles were carried forward in the GATT/WTO system. In the World Trade Organization (WTO), foreign investment issues are dealt with in a number of WTO agreements²³ that, in general terms, assure entry and equal treatment of foreign enterprises, the national treatment of foreign enterprises, and the protection of intellectual property rights [70]. Finally, FDI is extensively dealt with in bilateral trade and investment agreements. For example, Chapter 5 of the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) states in that each party shall accord to investors of another party:

treatment no less favorable than it accords to its own investors in respect to the establishment, acquisition, expansion, management, conduct, operation and sale or other disposition of investments[71] and ...fair and equitable treatment and full protection and security [72]

NAFTA and most other bilateral trade and investment agreements do allow states to establish restrictions on direct investments to protect national security and certain specified strategic industries [73].²⁴ In the case of Mexico (a NAFTA member), the government can ban private equity investment in certain types of projects or condition market access on passive financial participation with a Mexican entity. Only passive investment (with a Mexican partner) is allowed in the areas of petroleum; basic petrochemicals; electricity generation or transmission; nuclear power; satellite communications, telegraph and radiotelegraphic services; postal and railroads; issuance of coins and currency; and the control of ports, airports and heliports [75]. Canada and the United States have made similar reservations to the NAFTA treaty to protect their domestic industries in specific fields [77]. However, neither NAFTA nor other free trade agreements include much discussion about how FDI is to be regulated once it is determined that it is not from an industrial sector that is reserved for nationals. "National treatment" means that a foreign entity can invest or "set up shop" in another party's country and be subject to the same rules as other legal entities within that country. NAFTA does allow parties to establish measures—including environmental measures—to ensure compliance with local laws and regulations, protect human health or safety, or to conserve national resources, but those measures cannot be used as a method to exclude their market entry [78].

Past Criticisms of Chinese FDI in Developing Countries

While FDI is generally encouraged, there are instances where FDI can —and does— go bad. A careful reading of the Bretton Woods language supporting FDI is that direct investments are encouraged to promote capital flows to areas in need of funds for development. Such capital flows are regarded as positive so long as the investor and the receiver derive mutual benefit and that the investor respects the sovereignty and domestic laws of the receiver. But, there have been cases in which FDI is not benign. For better or worse, China's recent

²³ The General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS), the Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS), and the plurilateral Agreement on Government Procurement [69]. WTO policy continues to support FDI because it assures efficient movements of capital, reduction of trade barriers, promotes economic growth in underserved areas, stimulates competition and efficiency in the world economy, and helps to increase the efficiency by which the world's scarce resources are used.

²⁴ Under Mexico's 1993 Foreign Investment Law, there are still exceptions to the rule of national treatment in so-called strategic industries including petroleum, basic petrochemicals, the generation of electricity and nuclear energy, radioactive materials, telegraph and radiotelegraphy, and the control and surveillance of ports, airports and heliports. NAFTA Article 1108 and Annexes III and IV contain exceptions to Most Favored Nation Treatment in specified industrial sectors [74-76].
FDI activities in the Arctic are significant in overall dollar value, and could be larger than any other country's Arctic FDI. They have also drawn the greatest amount of attention in the press and in academic circles. For that reason, they will be the focus of this analysis. Although this paper focuses on specific Chinese activities, the underlying analysis and policy recommendations are intended to be universal.

In "*By All Means Necessary*", Elizabeth Economy and Michael Levi of the Council on Foreign Relations; chronicle Chinese investment in South America, Asia, and Africa to obtain access to raw materials to fuel China's economic expansion [79]. In most cases, the FDI that is being conducted by China is perfectly legal. It is worth noting that it is not appropriate to restrict these observations to China alone, since investment capital—regardless of its country of origin—will frequently move to the venue where it can help its owners earn the greatest return on investment and otherwise meet their corporate objectives. Economy and Levi have prepared a dossier of some of the negative impacts of Chinese FDI.

The book documents two types of externalities from FDI: impacts that do not violate any particular local laws but have a negative impact, and those that entail a disregard of local environmental and labor standards. Regarding negative impacts that do not violate express laws and policies, Economy and Levi cite these examples:

- A Zambian minister of trade favored investment by China in local industry because the "World Bank can't outbid the Chinese," and Chinese investments do not have the same sort of political strings that are present in World Bank lending [79]. Those "strings" are important since they help developing countries to adopt modern labor, accounting, and environmental protection principles.
- Chinese trade and investment in rare earth elements (REE) mining and development will potentially enable China to control worldwide supply of these important elements that have ubiquitous uses in hybrid and electric cars, wind turbines, guided missiles, smart phones and other technologies [79].
- Chinese direct investment of large amounts of cash in certain developing countries has led to institutional corruption and tax evasion in the receiving country [79].
- Chinese investors seek to use Chinese labor to the maximum extent possible rather than enter into ventures with local firms and train local workers²⁵.
- Large Chinese real estate and agricultural purchases in Argentina and Africa have led to extensive clear cutting of timber and the clearing of land for agriculture, causing negative environmental impacts and destruction of small-scale farming [79].
- Many Chinese investments abroad have gone bankrupt or failed to make a profit, creating all sorts of
 difficulties for the host country if or when the money dries up. Even though countries like the fact that
 there are frequently few strings associated with Chinese FDI, and a minimum of red tape, there are no
 measures in place to "securitize" the projects to ensure their long success. Similarly, many of these deals
 are based on personal relationships with individuals in power rather than the local business community.
 This helps to keep elites—often corrupt—in power and makes these states more resistant to reform [79].

²⁵ Economy quotes one Chinese Ministry of Foreign Affairs official who explains that the motivating factor for China importing Chinese labor into Africa is that such labor will "work seven days per week on longer shifts at lower pay. The official also justified this practice because African workers "have unions," "they want to go to church," "they refuse to work on weekends," and "they like to sing and dance" [79].

In addition to some of the systemic issues associated with "legal" FDI, Economy and Levi note that Chinese FDI in the locations that were studied resulted in considerable violations of local labor and environmental standards. China frequently secures political concessions to "look the other way on environmental and safety regulations and, when they do hire, pay local workers considerably less than rates paid by multinational companies" [79]. In one case involving Shougang Group's acquisition of the Marcona mines in Peru, Economy and Levi reported the mineworkers were among the lowest paid in Peru and in 2010, workers struck on five separate occasions to protest low wages and poor working conditions (see figure

Figure 13. Marcona Copper Mine, Peru, credit: Geoeye-1, Digital Globe



13) [79]. In Zambia, mineworkers gravitate toward mines owned by Canadian and Australian companies but avoid mines owned by Indian or Chinese firms because of unsafe working conditions and low-wages [79]. Finally, Economy and Levi cites cases in oil and gas extraction in Zambia, Ghana, and Mozambique, where "environmental protection has taken a back seat to rapid economic development" because Chinese investors have used bribery and offers of investment to ignore environmental and safety standards.

Perhaps one of the most extreme examples of the lengths to which Chinese firms will go to secure access to resources can be observed in the Sudanese oil industry during the Darfur conflict. Chinese oil companies and investors have been involved in Sudan since exploration started in 1980. As demand for resources, particularly energy, boomed in China, Beijing went looking beyond its borders to meet the demand that domestic resources could not satisfy. Because oil prices were high and global competition was fierce, Chinese firms were forced to look for partners in regions that were deemed too risky by the majority of Western firms. Under these conditions, Beijing partnered with Khartoum, where agreements on economic, technical, scientific, and cultural cooperation have existed since the 1960s. By the 1990s, Sudan was benefiting from numerous interest-free loans for building up infrastructure and agriculture, particularly for rice products that were ultimately exported to China. Since 2000, much of this funding has shifted from infrastructure and agriculture to oil extraction. It is estimated that the China National Petroleum Company has invested more than \$15 billion in Sudan and owns about half of Sudan's oil refineries [80]. When South Sudan became independent in 2005, more than 75 percent of the oil resources that China had invested in were located in South Sudan. During the civil war that concluded with the separation of Sudan and South Sudan, Beijing played an active role through various venues to divert attention from the conflict. At the United Nations, China threatened to veto a Security Council Resolution that would have initiated an oil embargo on Sudan. China frequently used its influence at the UN Security Council to dilute language of resolutions regarding the Darfur conflict and frequently abstained from voting [81]. While Beijing refused calls from the African Union and the United Nations to send peacekeeping forces to Darfur, China did send 400 soldiers to guard the oil wells in Sudan. The line between Beijing's oil interests and its role in Sudan is clear. Results from an analysis by Phillip Manyok demonstrates a clear correlation between military arms sales from China to Khartoum despite an UN arms embargo—and oil exports from Khartoum to China [82]. This further illustrates the lengths that Beijing was willing to go to in order to protect its Sudanese oil interests.

Recent Chinese investment in Djibouti to develop China's first commercial and naval port in Africa suggest that China's economic interests have shifted from "primarily resource extraction to feed its factories to direct investment and money-lending for infrastructure projects" [83]. These infrastructure projects have seen some benefits for local labor, but mostly the benefits are employment for Chinese engineers and Chinese construction companies. And reports persist of corrupt businessmen taking advantage of weak laws and enforcement mechanisms [83].

It is unlikely that what has happened in parts of South America and Africa would play out exactly the same way in the Arctic, where countries are more prosperous and have more robust governance structures. Still, it would be foolhardy to think that outside oil and gas and mining investors will not actively seek—and obtain—environmental and safety concessions from landowners and licensing officials in countries that are thirsty for outside capital. Also, given the remoteness of many of the drilling and mining sites in the Arctic, there is an element of "out of sight, out of mind" when it comes to the ability of the national regulatory systems of all of the Arctic states to effectively monitor and regulate inbound investments or enterprises that are foreign owned and operated.

Given the relatively small and dispersed population of the Arctic, the potential use of imported labor also becomes a concern. In South America and Africa, imported staff occupy most of the management positions and receive more compensation than local labor. Often, Chinese imported laborers make their relocation permanent. All told, more than "one million Chinese citizens reside in Africa and... give Beijing a vested interest in... many African nations" [83].

International Standards

The 2016 OECD Code of Liberalization of Capital Movements is the only multilateral framework in force that addresses international FDI flows. Under the code, countries bind themselves to agreed measures liberalizing FDI and other capital movements [84]. Moreover, under the OECD Declaration on International Investment and Multinational Enterprises, the 35 OECD countries and 13 non-OECD adhering countries have committed to accord "national treatment" to foreign enterprises operating in their territories and to encourage their multinational enterprises to engage in responsible business conduct in a variety of areas.

The United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) is charged with tracking global FDI trends and assisting developing countries to formulate plans to accommodate FDI that is most beneficial to their long-term development [85]. Among other things, UNCTAD is charged with helping developing countries find the "sweet spot" that enables them to realize the benefits of a globalized economy while at the

same time equipping these countries to find the correct balance that will foster their sustainable development. Some of the relevant goals²⁶ in this overall process include:

- · Encouraging countries to diversify their economies in order to make them less dependent on commodities
- Limiting countries' exposure to financial volatility, which is endemic in commodity-based economies, and to debt
- Seeking investment that is development friendly and promotes entrepreneurship and innovation
- Helping local firms to move up the value chain
- Adapting to climate change and using natural resources efficiently [86]

There is no overarching policy document such as the UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights that articulates exactly what standards states and other governance bodies should follow when assessing FDI [87]. The closest thing to a universal declaration is the 2008 Accra Accord, which was intended to establish some benchmarks in terms of the role of investment in sustainable development and the "centrality of trade and development in the world economy and in meeting the challenges of globalization" [88]. This includes ensuring that countries—and, we would argue, semi-autonomous regions like tribal areas —that are "structurally weak and vulnerable small economies" do not suffer the ill effects of globalization. As relates to FDI, the Accord states that countries, as well as regional and international organizations, need "active and well-sequenced policies to maximize the development benefits of investment flows" to include generation of employment, transfers of technology and know-how, and access to international markets.²⁷ The Accra Accord also notes that properly functioning trade and investments flows will: be transparent and governed by a predictable and effective regulatory regime, be well aligned market-oriented policies, and demonstrate an overall commitment to a "just and democratic" society. The Accord states that despite many positive benefits from FDI, potential risks include:

Crowding-out local investments, anti-competitive practices, transfer pricing, and environmental and social impacts. Countries should therefore consider both the quality and quantity of FDI [89]

The policies cited above also promote regional economic diversification and over reliance upon commodity based economic growth. This has direct applicability to the Arctic since many of the local communities depend on development and export of a single commodity; setting the stage for so-called "Dutch Disease," a term that describes the process by which the rapid influx of wealth due to some natural resource causes an economy to become less diversified as domestic industries become less competitive internationally. Thomas Friedman writes, "Dependence on natural resources always skews a country's politics, investments, and educational priorities, so that everything revolves around who controls the oil tap and who gets how much from it—not how to compete, innovate and produce real products for real markets" [90]. The issue of "Dutch Disease" in the Arctic has been explored in academic and media circles as relates to the economies of Greenland and parts

²⁶ This is derived from UNCTAD's mission to help lift countries to adapt to globalization.

²⁷ See, Articles 11 and 13. Article 13 of the Accra Accord elaborates that FDI that promotes sustainable development is that which includes investments in infrastructure, development of human resources, and strengthening of the host nation's institutional capacities.

of Canada [91-93]. An OECD paper noted evidence of this in the Province of Newfoundland and Labrador, specifically a "decline in the level of activity of the functioning Public Accounts Committee and the growing influence of the province's energy corporation in provincial politics and its lack of public accountability" [93]. Given this problem, we would argue that inbound FDI should also be assessed from the standpoint of whether it will foster diversification of the recipient's economy or create a "Dutch Disease" condition.

Security Controls on FDI Under International Trade Law

Many countries have restrictions on FDI in key industries that are related to food production, broadcasting, nuclear energy, defense production, and natural resource extraction. As discussed in detail below, U.S. law restricting FDI is mostly focused on preserving the defense industrial base for U.S. national security needs and preventing potential adversaries from gaining access to technologies that could be used against U.S. forces. In the United States and many other countries, the concept of national security has been broadened to include such things as restricting access to certain dual-use technologies such as encryption, semiconductors and unmanned systems, as well as seaports and real estate in proximity to military bases.

From the standpoint of international trade law, national security controls on FDI are permissible. The legal support for most countries' security controls can be traced back to Article 21 of the 1947 General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), which provides that the various free trade commitments are subject to a nation's "essential security interests" relating to "fissionable materials, war materials, or measures taken in times of war or emergency" [94]. Article 21 was carried forward in the "reissuance" of the GATT in 1994 but considerable criticisms have been voiced because there are no standards for what permissible national security situation could justify imposing trade or FDI restrictions. The 2016 OECD Code on the Liberalization of Capital Movements outlines a broader list of justifications for restricting FDI. For example, member states can take measures to restrict inbound FDI or other movements of capital for: (a) the maintenance of public order or the protection of public health, morals, and safety; (b) the protection of its essential security interests; and (c) the fulfillment of its obligations relating to international peace and security.²⁸

Other trade agreements have focused on barriers to the free flow of capital, emphasizing when it is wrong for a state to prohibit FDI rather than when is it wrong to permit it. When the WTO came into being in 1995, there were no special agreements that regulated trade and investment or addressed Article 21 of the GATT [95-96]. Rather, The Agreement on Trade-Related Investment Measures (TRIMs)—one of the four principal legal agreements of the WTO trade treaty—included the objective of eliminating trade-distorting measures [84].

Relevant Arctic Littoral State Regulations on FDI

All of the six Arctic states have concluded free trade agreements that are intended to implement the basic WTO and OECD norms that countries should not, except in specified areas, enact restrictions on FDI. Put another way, these bilateral trade agreements seek to grant inbound FDI and the enterprises that are created

An example here would be an agreement between the United States and one or more NATO partners to establish a cooperative weapons development/deployment program rather than rely upon "free and open competition" to acquire the defense capability.

by FDI, "national treatment" or "most-favored-national treatment." The United States, a party to both WTO and OECD, has 38 bilateral investment treaties that reciprocally grant most-favored-national treatment to investors from the other state when investing in the United States [97]. Other Arctic states are at various stages of free trade negotiations with China: Iceland has free trade agreements with China; Norway is now in the process of negotiating one; and Greenland appears to be in active discussions with China on various bilateral trade and investment matters [98-99].

Domestic Laws and Regulations

The legal and regulatory structures of the six Arctic states vary considerably. Some nations rigorously protect specified industries (defense or high technology) and others focus more ensuring the natural resources rely in domestic hands. Some states have a legal and regulatory climate which can be best described as laissez-faire and others like the U.S. and China intensely regulate inbound investments. The tables which follow summarize our analysis of the relevant laws and regulations. For comparative purposes, we have also included the laws and regulations (and an assessment thereof) of China. Table 4 is a summary of the key differences in the ways

the Arctic states and China approach FDI. Table 5 provides a qualitative assessment of how these countries approach FDI in terms of whether FDI is welcome or not and whether the review processes are restrictive or not. A detailed explanation of each nation's regulatory and legal system follows the tables.

The legal and regulatory structures of the six Arctic states vary considerably.

Legislation
of FDI
Comparison
Table 4.

China	No – off-limits if	state- owned.	mandatory review	,	Depends on mine	type. Most prohibited	No – off limits	except in oil shale	and coal bed gas.	No data			Yes for permitted	mining	Large number of	ventures on	prohibited or	restricted list. Many	restrictions on	agriculture, pharma,	anu large retalling Vaa hut aalamaat	res, but relevant government	agencies may lack	actual power	-		Yes				Only if government has approved the	וומס מללהו הייה
United States	Yes, heavy emphasis	 is the project "harmful" to US hat'l 	security.		Yes, mining on	leased public lands	Yes. Plus restrictions	on leases on public	lands	None, unless near military base			No		Nuclear energy,	brokerage firms,	mass media, US flag	vessels, federal	banks			165					Not statutory but	great risk if not done	in advance		Yes	
Russia	Yes – likely to be	very strict			Foreign entity can't	own >25%.	Foreign entity can't	own >25%.		Agricultural lands regulated.	1		Strongly encouraged		Natural resources,	media, defense,	state owned	industries plus misc.	others dairy and	vodka	المرابع مستحمله مرا	III IIIeoly, yes					Yes				In theory, yes.	
Norway	No specific	provisions found.			Foreigners need a	"concession" to operate a mine	No restrictions			No, but need concession for	certain land uses	(waterralis, lorestry, tilled land, mines)	No		None. But	concessions needed	for financial, postal	services,	hydropower, marine	transport, fishing		Ministring	141111211123				Similar to U.S.	system. No per se	requirement put	gov't can order divestiture	Yes	
Iceland	Not addressed				No special	restrictions	No restrictions if	developed for local	market. If for export, must notify.	No restrictions			Yes, for energy	(geothermal), fishing or air transport.	No.							165					Mostly no except for	tisheries, energy,	and air transport.		Yes, if there is a FTA or part of FII	טן אמורטו בט
Greenland	Only under General	Danish Law. May not			No clear restrictions	except small-scale mining.	No restrictions			No restrictions			No. Can import labor	if local labor insufficient.	None						Nadar	Greenland Law					No				Probably	
Canada	Yes – including	critical	"net benefit" to	Canada	Generally no except	tor uranium mines.	Mostly managed	through licensing		None – but some provinces regulate			No		Telecommunications	, uranium, banks,	transport, and	insurance				5					Yes				Yes- if under a FTA	
	Review of National	Security Connected	Entities		Review of Mining/	Minerals	Oil and Gas Rules	Review		Review of Raw Land			Need a local partner?		Sectors Off limits?	-	-	-	-		: : : :	Clear Delegations of	Authority to an	Agency to Adjudicate	an proposed FDI	transaction?	Advance Notice by	prospective	nurchaser Required?		National Treatment	Assured?

Unconstrained Foreign Direct Investment: An Emerging Challenge to Arctic Security

39

Unconstrained Foreign Direct Investment: An Emerging Challenge to Arctic Security

Source: See references [101-150] and the accompanying text and footnotes below.

China	No – "national security" or harms "social interest" of PRC	Heavily restricts	Yes but quite broad.	No	Unknown	China is still mostly closed to foreign investment – except for a very few sectors where they want access to inbound technology.
United States	Yes	Tolerates	Yes	No	Yes	Strict.
Russia	Yes, but no way to corroborate practices/standards	Aggressively Welcomes	Yes	No	Done as conditions of an oil and gas or mining (mineral) license. Plus must do an Env. Impact Statement. Enforceability unknown.	Russia actively courts foreign investments but restricts outright foreign ownership in a wide variety of key areas.
Norway	Yes	Welcomes	Yes	No data	Done via the licensing process.	Norway welcomes FDI and has few restrictions. But, if a proposed activity requires a concession, that process is rigorous.
Iceland	No	Welcomes	No	No	Quite positive and advanced.	The sparse legal coverage is likely due to the fact that this has not been an issue before
Greenland	No	Aggressively Welcomes	No	No- but so few cases, can't extrapolate	Parliament Acts 4 and 7 do require environmental planning and worker safety plans.	Greenland actively courts FDI. Almost no restrictions. Decisions probably ad hoc.
Canada	No	Welcomes	No	No	Very strict for oil and gas. For mining, Environmental Review Panels gaining favor	Moderate controls.
	Clear Standards for Review	Country policies tolerate or welcome FDI?	Clear Evaluative Criteria	Transparent Decisions	Environmental protection safeguards on mines/oil and gas?	0verall Assessment

Table 5. Assessment of Legislation

Source: See references [101-150] and the accompanying text and footnotes below.

Unconstrained Foreign Direct Investment: An Emerging Challenge to Arctic Security

41

United States

The United States has a mixture of statutes and regulations which impose controls or, in some cases, ban certain types of foreign direct investment. The U.S. has had administrative procedures in effect since 1975, when President Gerald Ford established the interagency Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (CFIUS); however, the process of reviewing inbound FDI wasn't codified in statute until 1988 when Congress enacted the Exon-Florio Amendment to Section 721 of the Defense Production Act of 1950 [100-101]. The CFIUS process has been the subject of significant changes and now includes numerous improvements in internal CFIUS procedures.²⁹

The U.S. law restricting FDI is mostly focused on preserving the defense industrial base for U.S. national security needs³⁰ and preventing potential adversaries from gaining access to technologies that could be used against U.S. forces. The definition of national security was designed to be read in a broad and flexible manner, and the regulations create the presumption that foreign control of 10 percent of a target company's equity is the acquisition of control [102]. There have been numerous amendments to the CFIUS process, including a 1992 amendment requiring a CFIUS investigation of any proposed takeover in which the acquirer is acting on behalf of a foreign government and increases in the membership of the CFIUS Committee to include the National Security Advisor and the Department of Homeland Security [103-105].

In 2007 Congress passed the Foreign Investment and National Security Act of 2007, which reshuffled the membership of CFIUS—removing White House officials—and sought to reverse the "decision" by CFIUS of the Dubai Ports World transaction. Most importantly, it required CFIUS to examine proposed purchases of U.S. critical infrastructure, energy suppliers, or critical technologies [106]. The law also required CFIUS to look beyond the terms of the deal to examine the foreign-investor country's compliance with counterterrorism and non-proliferation norms[107]. Under the authority of this statute, President Obama set aside a proposed placement of wind turbines by Ralls Corporation, owned by the Chinese Sany Group, near a naval weapons test facility in 2012. Later in 2016, the Obama Administration blocked the sale of a \$2.6 billion U.S. based subsidiary of German semiconductor company Aixtron, which is involved in the manufacture of gallium nitride chips, to a Chinese investment fund [107-108].

These examples strongly suggest that United States controls over FDI have become increasingly stringent. Controlling transactions are now closely monitored. The addition of critical infrastructure and to the scope of CFIUS review and the addition of the Department of Homeland Security to the CFIUS Committee has, at least during the Obama administration, resulted in these quite aggressive actions vis-à-vis Chinese

²⁹ The improvements include the enactment of FINSA in July 2007, amendment of Executive Order 11858 in January 2008, the revision of the CFIUS regulations in November 2008, and publication of guidance on CFI-US's national security considerations in December 2008.

³⁰ U.S. law does not define "national security" but sets out certain factors, including the capacity and capability of domestic production to meet national defense requirements that the President or his designee may consider in determining the effects of a foreign acquisition on national security. Restrictions on FDI also exist in energy, mining, broadcasting, and fisheries. The Atomic Energy Act of 1954, for example, prohibits the issuance of licenses to engage in operations involving the use of atomic energy to any entity that is owned or controlled by aliens, foreign corporations, or foreign governments. The Mineral Leasing Act of 1920 makes public lands available for leasing only to citizens of the United States, or corporations organized under the laws of the United States.

investment efforts. Such actions never would have occurred 25 years ago, when CFIUS approached proposed transactions in the aviation and technology sectors in a very laissez-faire manner [109].

Beyond Exxon-Florio, there are other federal statutes which restrict foreign persons or entities from owning U.S. flag merchant vessels or brokerage houses; from having a controlling interest in mass media companies or federally chartered banks; or from operating aircraft in U.S. commercial service or electricity generation facilities [110]. Land is not off limits to foreign purchase except to the extent that it affects U.S. critical infrastructure or productive capacity. In addition to national legislation controlling foreign investments in the United States, there is also a plethora of statutory restrictions within the 50 states on foreign persons wanting to obtain certain licenses; such as a commercial fishing licenses [110].

As this pertains to the Arctic, the combination of statutory requirements of advance reporting of transactions and recent behavior by CFIUS suggests that the United States is very protective of its infrastructure and is not a good target for uncontrolled FDI. It is similarly beyond dispute that the United States has extensive licensing regulations for those in the oil and gas and mining sectors, including numerous environmental reviews by a variety of federal and state entities; a system of fines and penalties, capital and bonding requirements; and access to a legal system that empowers persons who suffer damage as a result of projects gone bad [111-112].

Canada

While the WTO agreements do not address FDI in a comprehensive manner, the general policy of Canada is to encourage FDI and national treatment for inbound investments. The WTO also sanctions the establishment of bilateral and regional free trade agreements. The largest such free trade agreement is the North American Free Trade Agreement, which includes Canada, the United States, and Mexico. According to the Congressional Research Service, total FDI from the United States into Canada was over \$350 billion in 2015 [71, 113]. Canada has many other free trade agreements³¹ that extends national treatment to inbound FDI; including the Trans-Pacific Partnership. In 2014, Canada concluded an agreement with China concerning the "Promotion and Reciprocal Protection of Investments," which reciprocally grants national treatment (Article 6) in both financial products and investments in enterprises and commits each country (Article 3) to "encourage investors" to make investments in the other's country [115-116].³² The only real restriction on foreign investors establishing a business (outside of certain restricted industries) is that they provide notice within 30 days of the business's establishment. There are no restrictions on foreign purchasers acquiring Canadian land, either by purchase or lease, but development restrictions may be imposed [117].³³

Canada has an FDI process, but its review processes seem a bit less prescriptive than the U.S. CFIUS process. Canada's Investment Canada Act (ICA) is the primary law, although there are separate legal provisions restricting foreign investments in telecommunications, banking, transportation, uranium, and insurance companies [117]. The Investment Canada Act requires that non-Canadians purchasing existing businesses,

³¹ Canada has 88 trade and investment agreements of various types. Canada has also signed the Trans-Pacific Partnership Agreement (TPP), which includes, for example, Australia, Japan, Malaysia, Singapore, New Zealand, and Vietnam [114].

³² Of note, there has been recent legislation to increase the allowable amount of foreign investment in these sectors. The maximum foreign stake in the transport sector was increased by 29 percent to 49 percent.

³³ Major amendments to the Investment Canada Act were made on March 13, 2015 pertaining to the review process

or establishing new ones, to seek review and approval when a proposed acquisition could be "injurious to national security." Those reviews are normally conducted by the Minister of Industry, who is responsible under Part IV.1 of the ICA (as amended) for consulting with all relevant agencies and providing a review within 45 days to the Governor in General in Council for final action [118]. Direct investors are required to provide notice to the relevant government office if the dollar value exceeds a certain limit, or if certain sectors (cultural business and media) are implicated, or state owned industries are involved as a purchaser [119]. Canada's guidelines on National Security Reviews list investments in Canadian defense industries and critical infrastructure as among those categories of investments subject to review [120]. Under Section 20 of the ICA, the Minister of Industry is required to assess whether the FDI will have a "net benefit" to Canada taking into account both socioeconomic and security considerations. If the ministry makes a finding there is no issue with the proposed investment, it notifies the Federal Cabinet of that action and the Cabinet has 15 days to set aside that finding. If there is a finding that national security is implicated or that "net benefits" to Canada are not present, the National Cabinet has 45 days to assess the matter and either accept or reject the proposed investment or order mitigation measures.

Since the cases are filed and reviewed on a confidential basis, there is not much data on how this process is working. However, in 2004, China Minmetals (a state-owned enterprise) sought to acquire Noranda, which was then Canada's largest mining company and the world's third largest zinc producer [116]. Even though the case did not result in a formal order by the Minister of Industry the purchase was ultimately abandoned because of a public outcry. This type of case would have likely gone through a full national security review under the ICA's new national security regulations, which, like the recent expansion of the U.S. CFIUS rules, require a review when defense industries or critical infrastructure are implicated. Canada is sending mixed messages when it comes to Chinese investment, including those by state-owned enterprises. Through various public pronouncements and its recent conclusion of the free trade agreement, Canada has signaled that it welcomes Chinese investment. The impact of FDI on tribal areas remains a mystery (due to lack of data) and individual provinces can impose conditions on purchases of land [121]. Canada is a very attractive country for international mining companies because, apart from uranium, there are no special restrictions on foreign ownership of mines [122-123].

As a final matter, Canada has an extensive regulatory licensing network for both the oil and gas and mineral sectors. For example, the National Energy Board (NEB) has plenary authority over oil and gas production in the frontier areas offshore, and shares jurisdiction with the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency and the Department of Fisheries and Oceans [124]. An environmental impact assessment is also required under Canadian law for new onshore or offshore oil and gas, and flaring and venting are strictly limited. Also, the NEB has the authority to impose conditions on wells, pipelines, and other facilities to ensure that the licensee has sufficient assets to fund remediation in the event of an incident or for decommissioning. If necessary, the NEB can require additional security deposits to be posted if the corporate assets are insufficient. While the NEB and other regulatory bodies have been criticized for specific cases in the media, there is nothing in the literature to suggest that Canada does not have a responsible and effective licensing system in place to ensure that licensees are properly capitalized and can pay for their mistakes and the costs of decommissioning. A 2002 OECD report on Canada's environmental program concluded that Canada has made significant improvements in its environmental policies and has "comprehensive compliance and enforcement policies and strong public reporting mechanisms" [125].

45

Russia

President Vladimir Putin told foreign investors in June 2015, "Russia always wants to be an open and friendly country to all those who want to run their business here" [126]. Russia's primary approach to attracting foreign direct investment has been to pass a variety of measures intended to induce companies to localize their production in Russia [126]. As a consequence, levels of FDI have increased [127]. Russia has various preferences for Russian-made products and those made by its state-owned enterprises (SOE), but Russia does allow foreign companies to register in Russia, and it established the Russian Direct Investment Fund (RDIF) in 2012 to provide equity capital to local businesses seeking foreign investors in their enterprises [128].

Russia's principal law for regulating inbound FDI is the 2008 Strategic Sectors Law (No. FZ-57).³⁴ The law is quite clear and well structured. It regulates two types of foreign investors: private investors and public foreign investors including foreign SOEs [129]. Article 6 of the Strategic Sectors Law regulates 45 types of activities that have been deemed of strategic importance. They generally fall into four broad groups: natural resources, defense, media, and government monopolies in communication and railways. There are also some unusual restrictions on investments in the manufacturing of "dairy, pharmaceuticals, juices, media/broadcasting, medical devices and vodka" [129]. The law contains special restrictions on foreign purchases of subsoil strategic entities contained on an official list and, in general, imposes a cap on total foreign ownership of entities on the Strategic Sectors list to 25 percent [130]. The law also requires prior approval for any "control" transactions, defined as greater than 50-percent control-25 percent in the case of a foreign government or SOE investor-of the voting stock, board membership, or management. The Russian Federal Anti-Monopoly Service (FAS) is responsible for administering the law, but if the FAS feels that a case requires high-level review, the matter is elevated to the Commission on Control over Foreign Investments, headed by the Prime Minister. The applications are quite detailed, but the initial application can be approved after a few weeks if only modest outside purchases of a controlling interest is proposed: less than 5 percent in the case of a Subsoil Strategic Entity, 25 percent in other cases. Other routine cases are decided by the FAS-with advice from relevant agencies—in about two to three months. Commission cases can take an additional month or two.

The Russian law is a model of clarity, but most legal analysts criticize the implementation of the law, because the decisions do not seem to follow predictable patterns [129]. Also, most foreigners trying to do business in Russia complain of graft and corruption and difficulty navigating the approval process.³⁵ Lastly, the U.S. Department of State describes the FDI climate in Russia as subject to "political interference" and in those cases where disputes arise, the mechanism is described as "non-transparent and unpredictable" [126].

It should be finally noted that Russia does have a licensing scheme for extraction industries where, in theory, licenses are awarded on the basis of competitive auction. For example, the oil and gas sector is governed by the Federal Law on Subsoil of February 21, 1996, and is under the jurisdiction of three Russian ministries. All licensees must adhere to production targets and are subject to significant penalties if they violate those targets or

³⁴ Full title: "On the Procedure of Making Foreign Investments in Companies of Strategic Importance for National Defense and State Security"

³⁵ William Pomeranz reported that in February 2009, a Russian newspaper reported that the FAS had received 45 applications and that only two cases had been approved [127]. The U.S. International Trade Administration, in contrast, reported that as of March 2016, that 195 applications were reviewed by the Commission and 183 were approved (with conditions) and 12 rejected. About 38 percent of the initial applications were decided by the FAS as outside of the scope of their regulation and 11 percent were withdrawn by the purchasers.

other license terms or environmental requirements [131].³⁶ Licensees for all extractive industries are expected to keep environmental contamination to specified limits and provide for the costs of decommissioning. They must also prepare an independent environmental impact statement pursuant to Federal Laws 7-FZ and 174-FZ of 2001 and 1995, respectively. There are no specific requirements for bonding to ensure availability of sufficient funds to pay for the cleanup and remediation of sites when extractive facilities are decommissioned.

The laws on the book are state-of-the-art in terms of their content, but there is not much evidence regarding the effectiveness of the agencies that implement those regulations and whether the regulatory entities enjoy any real power. The closest thing to an authoritative statement came from a 2006 OECD report:

A very intense extraction of mineral resources, primarily hydrocarbons, has been accompanied by a decrease in the level of protection of subsoil, a widening number of offences and corruption, lacking access to information on the use of mineral resources and distribution of profits, etc. The regulatory framework is subject to frequent change and, therefore, the costs of environmental compliance are often unpredictable thus increasing the investment risks [132].

Iceland

Iceland's FDI policies are governed by its obligation under the WTO and in its domestic legislation. Iceland has been a member of the WTO since 1995. In its last internal review of its WTO obligation in 2012, Iceland certified that it had been fully compliant with its WTO obligations and noted its membership in the European Free Trade Association/European Economic Area. It also asserted that it offers a favorable policy on FDI and few restrictions on foreign ownership [133]. In addition, Iceland has entered into free trade agreements (FTAs) with Denmark and Greenland. Iceland concluded an FTA with China in 2013 [134]. The free trade agreement with China reaffirms the rights of the parties—established in an earlier agreement—to make direct investments in the other country and allows for free movements of persons from one country to the other to provide a services (Annex VIII).

The major law governing foreign investment is Act No. 34/991 (1996) on Investment by Non-residents in Business Enterprises, which extends national treatment to non-residents of the European Economic Area, including U.S. citizens [135]. Foreign investment in the fisheries sector (Article 4) and air transport sectors remains restricted, especially when it comes to investing in fishing companies that possess transferable quotas. Article 4 states that only Icelandic citizens are permitted to own energy exploration rights and geothermal energy. Investments by foreign states—presumably to include SOEs—require approval from the Ministry of Commerce. The law affirmatively grants the right to foreign entities to purchase and hold title to Icelandic real estate (Article 4) associated with a business enterprise. Non-residents may also operate a business in Iceland (Article 6); however, those with "unlimited liability" require approval by the Ministry of Commerce. All foreign entities must notify the Ministry of Commerce when a "contract or decision" to invest is made. Iceland's 1996 Act establishes a five-person committee to monitor and enforce the provisions in Icelandic law noted above concerning inbound investments in the aviation, fishing, or energy sector.

³⁶ Extractive industries are considered Hazardous Activities under Russian Law and are covered by three main regulations: (a) Safety Regulations for Oil and Gas Industry, adopted by Rostekhnadzor in 2013; (b) Safety Regulations in Exploration and Extraction, adopted by Gosgortechnadzor in 2003; and (c) Industrial Safety Regulations for Oil Processing Works, adopted by Gosgortechnadzor in 2003.

According to the U.S. Department of State, "There is broad recognition within the Icelandic government that foreign direct investment (FDI) will be a key contributor to the country's economic revival after the 2008 financial collapse" [136].³⁷ Iceland's growing tourism sector is expected to supply ample investment opportunities, but much work remains to identify investment-ready projects. According to Santander Trade Portal, Iceland is especially anxious for foreign investment; has a low corporate tax rate; very few restrictions on direct investment; and a very simple process for establishing an enterprise [137].

Iceland's rules on development seem well-crafted. According to Iceland's Orkustofnun, the National Energy Authority, exploration for oil and gas in Icelandic waters is regulated by Act No. 13/2001 on prospecting, exploration, and production of hydrocarbons — the Hydrocarbons Act [138]. The Act applies to the Icelandic territorial sea, exclusive economic zone, and the Icelandic continental shelf. Petroleum activities are subject to general Icelandic laws and regulations on taxation, environmental protection, health and safety. As an example, the Icelandic Regulation No. 884/2011 states that exploration and production licensees will only receive an authorization to engage in prospecting if they "have the requisite expertise, experience and financial capacity to undertake these activities"[139]. This includes the tender of an insurance policy sufficient to cover possible losses or damage cause by the activities of the licensee, safety plans, and a plan for the decommissioning of offshore facilities (Article 38). Despite the fact that the laws appear to be well-crafted and comprehensive, there is very little publicly available information on how well these systems are working.

Denmark/Greenland

Assessing the state of laws governing both FDI and development in Greenland is difficult because the Danish central government purports to assert jurisdiction over FDI, yet the Act on Greenland Self-Government of 2009 states that the Greenland Self-Government Authority (Naalakkersuisut) is empowered to exercise "legislative and executive power" over most issues that pertain to the extractive industries and marine environmental protection [140]. Article 7 of the Act stipulates that revenues from mineral resources in Greenland accrue to the Greenland Self-Government authorities. Interestingly, Chapter 4 of the Act states that the Naalakkersuisut may negotiate and conclude agreements under international law with foreign states and international organizations that exclusively concern Greenland. This would appear to include any agreements respecting access to and use of any natural resources and the regulation of those activities. But the government in Copenhagen does retain the right to manage those international affairs relating to "defense and security policy," which, as has been seen in other states, can include the regulation of foreign FDI in certain industries and sectors.

According to the U.S. Embassy in Denmark, foreign companies are able to establish an enterprise through either a subsidiary, registered affiliate, or a taxable entity. These establishment costs are very modest, and foreign entities can also obtain exploration licenses with few regulatory requirements other than the payment of tax like a regular company [141]. So far as can be determined, Greenland does not have a process for reviewing foreign acquisitions of either land or enterprises, although, under the Danish Competition Act,

³⁷ One can reasonably question the accuracy of this observation, since Michael Lewis' 2011 book *Boomerang* —on the causes of the 2008 financial collapse in Iceland (and the failure of its banks) — lays a good portion of the blame on an unsustainable and a highly leveraged financial system in comparison to Iceland's economy. Lewis also identifies that much of the collapse was caused by foreign lenders that offered Icelandic entities unlimited credit. Obviously, there are differences between equity and debt financing but the point remains that plentiful outside money/credit was a major problem for Iceland and lead to the collapse of its economy.

Danish competition authorities require notification of a merger if the "combined turnover value" in the transaction exceeds \$7 million. In 2012, the Greenland Parliament passed the controversial Large Scale Projects Act which allows for the importation of foreign labor when local labor sources are insufficient [141].

Greenland has previously not been very accessible for either mining or hydrocarbon activities because it was covered by icepack and was complicated by extreme climatic conditions and very short drilling windows. According to the U.S. Embassy, things are changing. "In the mineral sector, two mines (ruby and anorthosite respectively) are expected to come online in 2016, while two other companies have applied for permission to extract REE in southern Greenland, in one case combined with extraction of uranium. The current government is also maintaining the previous government's relaxation of a ban on uranium mining... however, the issue of uranium mining in Greenland is still contentious" [141].

Greenland's Mineral Resources Act of 2009 establishes a regulatory apparatus for those wishing to engage in oil and gas or mining activities[142]. Licensees must comply with Greenland Parliament Act No. 4 (June 4, 2012) and Parliament Act No. 7 (December 7, 2009), which require licensees to protect mineworker safety and social sustainability and have an oil spill preparedness and response plan. Greenland does protect small-scale mining operations from foreign investment, but the recent "open door" tenders in the oil and gas field do not contain any restrictions that prevent foreign entities from bidding [143]. Recent regulations by the Mineral License and Safety Authority establish new requirements for entities wishing to engage in exploratory activities, including the requirement for environmental impact assessments. Obtaining a true gauge of the effectiveness of Greenland's environmental protection and worker safety protocols is difficult because there are so few reported cases and the small sample size restricts our ability to make generalizations about the effectiveness of these regulations.

Norway

Norway is a very modern, developed state with one of the highest average per capita incomes in the world. It is an easy place to do business according to the World Bank. Norway welcomes FDI as a general matter under principles of reciprocity, and as a member of the European Economic Area (it is not part of the EU). Norway has liberalized its standards to conform to European Union standards of free access and national treatment [144-145]. According to the U.S. Department of State, "foreign oil companies report no discrimination" in the award of petroleum exploration and development blocks in Norway [145]. The OECD has similarly reported that Norway has a favorable track record on welcoming inbound FDI [146]. Norway does maintain traditional controls on industries monopolized by the government, including postal services, railways, hydropower, and the retail sale of alcohol [147]. There are no prohibitions on foreign ownership of Norwegian real estate, but foreign companies have to obtain a "concession" to purchase forest land, mines, tilled lands, and waterfalls [147].

Norway's Ministry of Petroleum and Energy has responsibility under Act No. 16 over the foreign acquisition of mines, waterfalls—for hydroelectric generation purposes—and real estate [148]. Under the Act, all mining activities have to be licensed, but section 13 of the legislation allows for purchase of mining lands or licenses by foreign nationals and limited liability companies [148].³⁸ The issuance of a license is predicated on a

³⁸ Sec. 66. Limited liability companies owning greater than 20 percent of a venture have special requirements to ensure that the individual's or corporate assets are at risk in the event of a default.

showing that the applicant has sufficient capital for the "acquisition, development and operation" of real estate that will be used in mining. The regulation also prescribes a two-year post-decommissioning period for a licensee to mitigate any environmental impacts after the mine has closed.

FDI unrelated to the acquisition of mines or real estate is regulated by the Ministry of Trade and Industry. Specific authorizations are required for purchases of greater than 10 percent of the capital stock of banks and media companies. The Norwegian Financial Institutions and the Media Ownership Act of 1997, for example, prohibits a foreign buyer from acquiring greater than one-third of an ownership stake in a national newspaper, radio or television market without a concession.

China

A heavy focus of this paper is on China and it will suggest increased control over the FDI from China and other countries. Given that reciprocity is the cornerstone of international law, it is important to finish this comparison of the FDI laws of the Arctic littoral states with an assessment of the FDI laws of China.

According to Bath, the Chinese system of FDI is based on classification by industry, and unless a particular industry is listed on the Foreign Investment Catalogue of "encouraged, restricted, and prohibited" investments, the investment is permitted. However, "regardless of its classification, a foreign investment project must be reviewed and approved by the relevant government authority" and any contracts by a foreign firm that requires government approval are not enforceable in Chinese courts until the government agency has given its approval [149].

Unlike the U.S. system in which there are specific agencies that have responsibility for clearing proposed FDI based on the type of FDI, China mostly regulates FDI based on the value of the investment. There are prohibitions against foreigners taking a majority interest in infrastructure projects such as "power grids, basic telecommunications services" or in most types of non-residential real estate [149]. Similarly, "defense, electricity, telecommunications, and oil and gas" are reserved for "state control" [149]. In general, the process is still—despite some recent reforms—described as non-transparent in that there are few published guidelines on how cases will be assessed and statistics on how many cases have been approved are mostly non-existent.

Unconstrained Foreign Direct Investment: An Emerging Challenge to Arctic Security

50

Examining Chinese Investment in the Arctic

China's Natural Resource Strategy

Understanding the impact of Chinese FDI in the Arctic begins by understanding China's general strategy and approach to securing natural resources. Shiloh Rainwater, writing in the Naval War College Review, reports that China has aspirations to reorder the legal regime of the Arctic so that the resources in that region become part of the global commons, because these areas are the "common heritage of mankind" [150]. How exactly those policies would be implemented is unclear, since under UNCLOS the six littoral states in the Arctic control roughly 85 percent of the water space, which includes the resources in the water column and the seabed [151]. At the time of this writing (2017) the "Common Heritage" talk seems to have subsided; however, there is no guarantee, should world oil prices rise or mineral scarcities occur that this talk won't again resurface.

As both a supplier and a consumer of commodities, Chinese SOEs operate in a unique position as they hedge against low commodity prices on the supply side and against high commodity prices on the consumer side. The initial attitude of Chinese investors abroad has been to own assets, rather than lease them. This was

The initial attitude of Chinese investors abroad has been to own assets, rather than lease them especially apparent when panic buying of commodities by Chinese firms in the mid-2000s resulted in general anxieties over the quantity of resources being consolidated under Chinese ownership. However, when looking at the success of these investments through a variety of lenses, many seem to have done more harm to China than good.

For one, the Chinese companies that did not carefully vet their investments faced massive losses. For example, the Sino Iron project in Western Australia, which was developed

by Citic Pacific and Metallurgical Corporation of China, ran \$6 billion over budget and four years behind schedule [152]. A failure on the part of the Chinese developers to assess the challenges of the project site and regulations in Australia meant that cost calculations were far from accurate.

Chinese companies also learned hard lessons abroad about environmental standards and labor practices. Poor behavior by Chinese companies has damaged China's reputation. Widely publicized instances of environmental damage, labor abuse, and violence in South America and Africa have made countries in North America and Europe wary of Chinese direct investment. Had Chinese companies been more attentive to good corporate behavior and had the Chinese government been more effective at managing the behavior of Chinese SOEs, then perhaps China might have a better reputation abroad. Fortunately for future operations, China has demonstrated the ability to learn from these blunders abroad. China's financial institutions have become more critical of the projects they agree to supply funding to. The State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission (SASAC) has taken on a greater oversight role, requiring SOEs to produce feasibility studies, due diligence reports, and third-party appraisals of new targets [152]. In addition to this, SASAC will hold SOEs and their managers accountable to major losses overseas.

China has gradually readjusted its strategy toward natural resources, as both political and business leaders have gained experience dealing with global commodity markets. Comparing individual transactions from the mid-2000s to the mid-2010s shows that over the course of seven to ten years, China has learned a lot about how to invest, where to invest, and when. Investments are made with much greater care now, with a focus on assets with proven profitability in regions with greater stability. In the minds of Chinese officials,

security was much more important than profitability [152]. However, this strategy led to the bleeding of China's financial institutions, where massive cost overruns and project failures meant that capital rarely flowed in any direction other than out. Recognizing this position to be unsustainable, China has recalibrated to focus on diversity of supply but at a reasonable price. Chinese financial institutions are less willing to sink capital into projects that can't reasonably be expected to produce positive returns.

China has recalibrated to focus on diversity of supply but at a reasonable price

China's investments are also much more strategic and in regions that have proven resource potential. When Chinese companies began seriously investing in resources abroad, there were few options for desirable projects. As Fu Chengyu, the CEO of CNOOC lamented in 2004, "it's actually not easy for us to find projects. The world oil industry has a one-hundred-year history. The good projects are already taken" [153]. Since the 2008 financial crisis, this pattern has changed. China has found that it is able to acquire stakes in higher quality, more secure projects.

Examples of this abound: recently, CNOOC Iceland, a subsidiary of CNOOC became the lead operator on hydrocarbons in the Dreki area; Chinese firms are heavily invested in the Yamal Peninsula LNG project; and Chinese companies have formed partnerships with Norwegian firms on the construction of oil rigs and submersible drilling platforms. These examples demonstrate that Chinese firms are becoming more trustworthy to highly advanced operators. The number of investments going into North America and Europe has increased steadily since 2014, whereas investments in Africa and South America have leveled off or dropped in the same period.

Quantifying Chinese Direct Investment

To identify the scope and scale of influence that China is garnering through investment in the Arctic, this study examined the legal regulations (or absence thereof) and the size of Chinese investment in the Arctic. Our analysis relied on the best sources of data available at the time and represents a snapshot in time in regards to both legal frameworks and Chinese investment. During our analysis, we observed numerous changes to

size and scope of several transactions. This indicates that Chinese investment in the Arctic is highly dynamic, with new deals regularly being formed and old deals being cancelled or changed.

The transparency issues that were identified in the legal review of domestic investment laws in the various states were also encountered in our attempt to quantify these investments. There are very few sources that are tracking Chinese FDI, and most of the data is sourced from periodicals, not through reporting by governmental agencies.³⁹ Because of this, it is challenging to trace investment funds because investors will often use a maze of limited liability companies and subsidiaries to obfuscate the true corporate (or governmental) parent of a particular project or investment. When the values of investments are reported, it also merits some skepticism as to whether the values reported are accurate. Our analysis found that investments are often misreported or misrepresented for a myriad of reasons including competition and geopolitical maneuvering.

We assembled our data from existing databases⁴⁰ and from our own research. We found evidence that indicated that the scope of Chinese investment in the Arctic is both underreported and of concern. The lack of reporting on Chinese investment is likely because these transactions are predominantly legal, and therefore, not stringently tracked or reported on to avoid regulatory scrutiny. Alternatively, lack of reporting can be attributed to competitive reasons.

Occasionally, investments can raise alarms: the prospect of greater Chinese financial control of the U.S. movie industry recently, for example, spurred a sizable number of members of Congress to call for greater regulation of investments in U.S. film and broadcast companies [154]. New legislation was very recently introduced in November of 2017 in both the House and Senate by Cong. Pittenger (R-NC) and Senator John Cornyn (R-TX) to greatly expand the scope of CFIUS reviews because of a growing concern that "China is buying American Companies at a breathtaking pace" [155]. However, as a general rule, the level of attention Chinese FDI recieves is spoadic.

We believe that FDI should be tracked carefully, because the impact of large quantities of investment dollars flooding into some Arctic nations (Greenland) or tribally governed land can have an impact on political sovereignty. We believe this to be true, regardless of the nationality of the investor. An analyst of FDI in India, which is a modest site for FDI, summarized this overall problem as follows:

A major issue with the developing nations is not the financial backwardness they have, but their overdependence on the doles of the developed countries, which makes them vulnerable and always keeps at the receiving end... The façade of the development that the BJP government proposes can be compared to the growing urban India's psyche — with a rabid fascination for gadgets and cars, either downplaying the plight of the poor or pity them [156].

This is an obvious overstatement of the problem since many of the Western democracies in the Arctic are not that easily influenced by outside money. But, if FDI is not closely monitored, even large Western democracies will think twice before taking an action that will upset their investor and bankers. And in the Arctic, there are investors that are already entering the fold.

³⁹ A notable exception to this is Russia, Both the Central Bank of Russia (CBR) and Rosstat, the National Statistical Office, track inbound FDI, however their statistics are frequently at odds with each other.

⁴⁰ Our analysis relied heavily on the China Investment Tracker from the American Enterprise Institute (AEI) and RWR Advisory Group's IntelTrak. The authors would like to thank the experts at both AEI and RWR Advisory Group.

We estimate that, from 2005-2017, China has invested over \$1.4 trillion in the economies of the Arctic nations (including Finland and Sweden), \$89.2 billion of which was in infrastructure, assets, cooperative agreements, financing agreements, or other projects located within the 60 degrees north boundary drawn by this paper (See table 6 for a summary of Chinese investment in the

We estimate that China has invested over \$1.4 trillion in the economies of the Arctic nations (including Finland and Sweden), \$89.2 billion of which was in infrastructure, assets, or projects

littoral states.) While the annual Arctic economy is greater than \$450 billion, Chinese investment remains a significant portion of available investment capital [157]. These investments are primarily in the energy and minerals sectors. And while these transactions are all legal, the transparency of each transaction leaves much to be desired. During the investigation of many of these transactions, announcements of the expense, scope, and anticipated value of various investments were clearly distorted, particularly in Russian and Chinese media.

During this study, we encountered many transactions that were initially reported to be significantly higher than in reality. We discovered instances of suspected distortions in the Chinese media which were accompanied by praises of the power of the Chinese economy and Chinese enterprise abroad. For example, in Greenland, the Isua Iron project, owned by General Nice, was reported by China Daily to be an estimated \$2 billion dollar investment (though the official value of the investment had not been announced) [158]. Reuters and the Financial Times, who also reported on the acquisition by General Nice, assert that the \$2 billion figure that was reported by China Daily is either the total value of the iron in the mine, or the cost of developing the mine [159-160]. In Russian media we noted instances of 'creative accounting' (inflating the value of deals) to attract much needed capital into Russian projects and the economy in general. Despite frequent announcements

	Population	GDP	GDP per	Number of	Average	Total Value	% of
			capita	Transactions	Transaction	(Billion USD)	GDP
					Size		
					(Million USD)		
Canada	35,362,905	\$1.53	\$46,400	107	\$442.1	\$47.3	2.4%
		trillion					
Greenland	57,728	\$1.06	\$37,600	6	\$33.4	\$2.00	11.6%
		billion					
Iceland	335,878	\$20.05	\$49,200	5	\$30.8	\$1.2	5.7%
		billion					
Norway	5,265,158	\$370.60	\$69,400	17	\$147.9	\$2.5	0.9%
	-))	billion	+ ,		+ · · ·	1 - 12	
Russia	142,355,415	\$1.28	\$26,900	281	\$691.7	\$194.4	2.8%
		trillion					
USA	323,995,528	\$18.62	\$57,600	557	\$340.6	\$189.7	1.2%
		trillion					
				0.0.1			
Total	-	-	-	884	\$508.66	\$449.66	-

Table 6.	Chinese	Investment i	n Arctic	Littoral	Nations.	2012-2017
Tuble 0.	CHINCSC.	IIII COUNCILL I		LICCOLU	i lucions,	

Sources: U.S. Central Intelligence Agency, United Naitons, RWR Advisory Group, CNA



Figure 14. Chinese FDI as a Percentage of GDP, credit: CNA

about cooperative loan agreements and investment funds, some experts have privately cast serious doubt on if any money is changing hands. Whether due to translation errors or deliberately misleading statements, there is limited certainty in the veracity of stated investment values. This poses a major and persistent challenge to tracking the scale of investments made by non-Arctic states in the Arctic.

Greenland presents one of the more interesting cases in this study. Chinese FDI accounts for 11.6 percent of Greenland's GDP (see figure 14 for a global comparison of Chinese FDI as a percentage of GDP). This is notably higher than the other Arctic nations. Greenland's economy is a special case in the context of this study: it is the smallest nation in terms of population and the size of its economy. In comparison to the U.S., where there are dozens of active transactions between U.S. and Chinese industries that exceed \$1 billion in value, these large transactions generate minimal concern because, in the context of the greater U.S. economy, these transactions have a minimal impact. In Greenland, a \$1 billion investment would have an enormous impact on Greenland's population and economy. This impact would be significant enough to alter regulatory decisions.

Greenland's aggressive national development strategy provides space for such influence to grow. Greenland's Prime Minister Kim Kielsen said, "as yet we're not aware of the mineral potential, how extensive it is. We will not find this out until we have turned the last stone" [161]. The path to a prosperous future, leaders argue, lies with exploitation of Greenland's resources. This is a feat that cannot be undertaken without the assistance of outside capital. For Greenland's part, the source of that capital is of lessor importance, so long as the terms are favorable and the amount of capital is sufficient. Greenland's natural resource potential is large, but most resources require a significant initial investment to make extraction possible. An example of this is the Citronen Fjord zinc project, owned by Ironbark from Australia. Ironbark has held a series of non-binding agreements with China Nonferrous, which demonstrates an interest by China Nonferrous to fund and build the mine. However, the cost of zinc remains, at the time of this writing, too low to justify the high cost of developing the Citronen project. Should the cost of zinc rise to a price that would make the Citronen Fjord

project profitable, it is likely that the initial development phases of the project would most likely be carried out by foreign workers [162].

The Government of Greenland's Oil and Mineral Strategy estimates that more than \$4.4 billion in tax revenue could be generated by the numerous proposed mining projects over the next 15 years [163]. It estimates that over this same 15-year period, overall tax revenues for the government of Greenland will be about \$24 billion, meaning that the revenue from a mining industry would constitute close to one-fifth of the Government of Greenland's total revenue [163-164].

Our data also indicates that Russia is extremely vulnerable to influence from China. This is compounded by sanctions against Russia by the United States and most OECD nations that drives the two countries together by economic necessity. Russia had over 281 inbound investment transactions with China from 2012 to 2017, worth on average, \$691.7 million each. This is equal to 2.8 percent of Russia's annual GDP. And while other nations may have greater saturation of Chinese investment dollars, this trend is expected to continue the longer sanctions remain enforced. Looking at table 6, it is clear that Russia receives the most FDI by dollar value out of the Arctic nations that we investigated. As Figure 15 illustrates, growth has been steady.

Canada is also an interesting case. While there are significantly fewer transactions in Canada than in the United States or Russia, Chinese FDI over the four-year period is larger relative to Canada's total economy, the equivalent of more than 3 percent of annual GDP. Individual transactions are also worth much more on average than they are in other nations. While this isn't cause for panic by any means, the United States should be attentive to the saturation of Chinese FDI in Canada's economy. If FDI is distributed in a relatively even fashion across regions and sectors, then it likely does not pose a major threat to the sovereignty of those regions or sectors.



Figure 15. Value of Chinese Investment in Arctic Countries 2005 - June 2017 (in Billions)

Sources: CNA, RWR Advisory Group

56

Overall, Chinese investment in Arctic nations is clearly on the rise. As seen in Figure 15, those investments are rapidly increasing. Most Chinese investments were made in the transportation, energy, construction/ infrastructure, financial, and real estate sectors. Among Arctic-specific investments, almost all were made in the energy, mining, or infrastructure sectors. Given that the resources of the Arctic are becoming more available, we expect that this trend will continue.

China has also made significant investments in research in the Arctic states, particularly in Iceland. The University of Iceland hosts the Northern Light Confucius Institute, a research center that aims to elevate the understanding of Chinese language and culture in Iceland[165]. The Aurora Observatory near Kárhóll, Iceland, is another example of Sino-Icelandic research collaboration. The Aurora Observatory, which was financed with the proceeds from land leased to the Polar Research Institute of China, will be used to study the northern lights (Aurora Borealis) [166]. Iceland has historically been very wary of Chinese investment. In 2011, Chinese property tyccon Huang Nubo's bid to purchase land for an "eco golf course" was denied even though Icelandic law generally permits foreign ownership of land in connection with business enterprises[167].

Following the Money

This study is particularly interested in what sectors attracted the most investment. Increasingly, it seems that Chinese investment in the Arctic predominantly falls into the following three buckets: energy, infrastructure, and mining. This finding underscores the environmental concerns that unregulated development poses in the Arctic. As prospective mines and oil wells come online, the probability of environmental degradation is multiplied. Because of this, it was important for this study to examine each transaction, with particular attentiveness to natural resource investments.

Chinese investment in the Arctic predominantly falls into the following three buckets: energy, infrastructure, and mining

One area of investment that has been dismissed recently is oil and natural gas. At the time of this writing, oil prices have ranged from the low \$30s to high \$50s per barrel. At these prices, most analysts have labeled Arctic oil as unprofitable. This may be the case for most deposits, but according to recent analysis of Norwegian oil company Statoil's Arctic fields in the Barents Sea, prices above \$35 per barrel are sufficient for some fields to be profitable [168]. Specifically, the Johan Castberg field will be brought online as soon as 2022, making it the northernmost field in operation on the Norwegian Shelf [168]. The Castberg field will be developed by Statoil, with Aker Solutions AS, a Norwegian engineering firm, serving as a subcontractor on the project.

New oil discoveries hold similar promise of a surprisingly low bar to achieve profitability. Rosneft announced a major discovery in the Laptev Sea that could hold as much as 9.5 billion tons of oil equivalent [169]. With Russian experts predicting that by 2020 about 20 percent of Russian oil production could come from the Arctic, continued expansion of Arctic oil and gas activities is to be expected, despite the environmental risks associated with extraction and shipment from the Arctic region [169]. In June 2017, Nanhai VIII, a semi-submersible drilling rig, caused a stir when it stopped in Murmansk on its way to the Kara Sea [170]. The rig is owned by China Oilfield Services Limited and is ultimately bound for the Leningradskoye Field, where it will be operated by Gazprom Neft.

Another resource area in which we see investment potential is rare earth elements (REEs). REEs are used in much of today's technology. While most REEs are actually abundant in nature, they are hazardous to extract, because they are often collocated with radioactive elements. Potential and proven deposits of REEs are found in Greenland and in the western Arctic Ocean [171-173]. These resources are valuable, especially as the demand for technology such as laptops, cell phones, solar panels, and electric vehicles continues to rise.

Concerns over environmental damage due to mining waste and the unearthing of nuclear material will complicate the development of REE projects. In Greenland, authorities just completed an intense scrutiny of an agreement between Greenland Minerals and Energy (GME), an Australian owned company with rights to the Kvanefjeld/Kuannersuit uranium project, and Shenghe Resources, a Chinese company that is investing in GME. Greenland's Ministry of Mineral Resources established that Shenghe's investments do not grant a preferred option to acquire 60 percent of the Kuannersuit uranium project, despite Shenghe's claims that the agreement did entitle them to the takeover of a deciding majority [174]. Rather, officials found that the agreement gives Shenghe the right to acquire 12.5 percent of Greenland Minerals and Energy [174].

Looking forward, this analysis found evidence that China may be seeking to strategically place investments in resources and complementing infrastructure. Investment in the Yamal LNG port, as well as in oil and gas exploration in the Kara Sea demonstrate that China is interested in becoming a partner in resource activity from start to finish. With such a large foothold already established in Russian Arctic oil and gas, the security of China's access to these resources is more concrete.

Appendix A and Appendix B summarize the Arctic transactions of which we are aware of, and provide much of the underlying data in Table 6 and Figure 10. Transactions that exceed \$100 million are accompanied by short narrative. These lists are not meant to be exhaustive of all investments that occurred in any given year. The transactions that are listed had sufficient data to support their inclusion. This information was used in analyzing the amount of, and trends in Chinese FDI in the Arctic. It is provided to give interested parties a sense of the industries and types of transactions that are being carried out.

Why is FDI in the Arctic a Concern?

Our concern over Chinese FDI in the Arctic is that the historical impact of Chinese FDI abroad does not evoke much confidence in the practices and policies of Chinese investors. One doesn't have to look far to find multiple critical failures on the part of Chinese multinational corporations to abide by local environmental regulations, particularly in Africa. A spill in Chad during 2013 led government authorities to suspend the suspension of operations by China National Petroleum Corporation [175].

Nonetheless, Chinese enterprises have shown an ability and willingness to adjust business practices in response to negative attention. Corporate social responsibility, particularly as it relates to the environment, is becoming increasingly important to Chinese citizens. In China, frustration over corruption, safety violations, and environmental disasters is pushing both government regulation and a change in corporate culture. While this process has been slow, small changes indicate that Chinese companies will comply with labor, social, and environmental regulations, but only when these regulations are clearly promulgated and rigorously enforced.

While it goes without saying that the development of natural resources is a sovereign right, there are ways in which FDI can affect sovereignty. When foreign investments make up large percentages of GDP, political leaders may begin to feel beholden to the overseas investors fueling the domestic economy, rather than citizens. As will be generally discussed below, in the case of Chinese investments in Djibouti, there seems to be some small improvements in the utilization of local labor; however, much of that labor is at the low skill level and does not include those involved in the design, engineering, or financing of a project. If this persists, then the host community is intellectually disassociated with the project. It cannot effectively participate in the project's management, regulation, or its long-term sustainment.

Imported labor is a source of friction for many reasons and potentially a threat to political sovereignty. Professor Yoon Jung Park of Georgetown University conducts research on Chinese migration, specifically in Africa. She found that of the one million Chinese residing and working in Africa, one-third or more are temporary labor migrants with fixed-term contracts that last one to three years [176]. Park notes that this subset of Chinese migrants into Africa tend to be more skilled and occupy roles such as managers, supervisors, and translators; they seldom remain in their African host country at the end of their contract. The other two-thirds of labor migrants are not operating under a contract and tend to be unskilled [176]. These migrants tend to settle permanently. While not inherently negative or concerning in the context of Africa, where 1.1 billion people are spread across 52 nations, the context of the Arctic is different. Greenland has a population of a mere 56,000 and Iceland has about 330,000 citizens [177]. Greenland and Iceland are also both endowed with natural resources that the PRC has already demonstrated an interest in. While it might not rise to the level of an official strategy, it does not require much creativity to envision a situation where even a modest influx of migrants could alter the political landscape of an Arctic nation if imported workers become citizens.

In a small nation such as Greenland, it may only take a couple hundred new citizens to dramatically alter the political landscape. Greenland elects 31 members to its national legislature every four years using proportional

representation. In the 2014 election, the difference between the winning Siumut Party and the runner-up Inuit Ataqatigiit Party was 326 votes [178].

The recent passage of the 2012 Large-Scale Projects Act through the Inatsisartut, Greenland's National Legislature, gives foreign workers rights in Greenland. Once the bill is enacted, over 3,000 Chinese workers could potentially be making their way to Greenland to work on the Isua iron project. This would increase Greenland's population by 5 percent; assuming that the workers were able to remain in Greenland and sought political rights.

Additionally, the Arctic is a sparsely populated area. Unlike in other areas where FDI is common, the Arctic does not have enough population density to adequately monitor natural resource developments. In Africa and South America, when foreign companies behaved poorly, indigenous groups have been able to elevate the visibility of poor practices. This same mechanism can neither be relied upon to act as a deterrent to companies that would otherwise violate environmental standards, nor can it be counted on to expose violations if and when they do occur. In Russia, for example, Greenpeace and others documented that the Russian oil industry has spilled more than 30 million barrels of oil on land each year—much of that in the Komi Republic near the Arctic Circle [179-181]. Some of this is detected, yet suppressed, and some is undetected because of the vast regions involved [180]. Greenpeace also estimates that every 12 months, 2.6 million barrels make their way into the Arctic Ocean via the Pechora River [180].

The political implications of the Komi Republic oil pollution, which has been mostly underreported due to Russian censorship, is a window into what can happen if resource extraction projects are started without proper technology and oversight. As documented in the Greenpeace report, the spills have displaced many indigenous people who rely upon reindeer, groundwater, fish, and other resources that have been contaminated, destroyed, or driven from their ranges by oil pollution.

It also creates issues for the region when the oil reaches the pristine Arctic Ocean and harms fisheries, potentially generating political friction among the Arctic powers. As noted in multiple places in this report, there is limited cleanup capability in the Arctic; especially to remediate the effects of terrestrial seepage into a large river that empties into the ocean. Monitoring the extent of the problem is difficult, because the seepage is occurring within Russian territorial waters and Russia is unwilling to be transparent about the extent of the Komi oil disaster. It is for this reason that analysts argue that the Arctic Council needs to assume a more prominent role in promoting harmonized environmental standards and inspections, especially as regards the operation of oil rigs. Other standards that the Arctic Council could support include standards for FDI to ensure that projects are sufficiently well-capitalized to afford self-funded remediation should something go wrong [11].

Environmental degradation also has potential social and cultural impacts in the Arctic. Most of the high Arctic population is composed of tribal groups who rely heavily on the Arctic for important social, cultural, and economic traditions. The Arctic, which is already changing rapidly due to climate change, is becoming unreliable for these groups. Environmental degradation, on top of climate change impacts, could have significant ramifications for the health, economic security, and culture of Arctic peoples.

Finally, a pattern is emerging in how China uses the activities of its SOEs to advance military interests. China's Military Support Facility in Doraleh, Djibouti, is the most prominent example. China Railway Group and

China Civil Engineering Construction Company recently completed a rail line from Addis Ababa, Ethiopia to Djibouti [182]. The railway was constructed by the two Chinese companies, exclusively with Chinese manufactured equipment. This, along with the Doraleh Multipurpose Port, which was funded in partnership with China Merchants Holdings, could give the People's Liberation Army (PLA) the ability to move in and out of Ethiopia. This fits into a greater pattern of Chinese government strategy to control a project from design to operation. While much of the construction labor was sourced from local populations, the majority of the planning, design, and operations work was carried out by Chinese firms. Researchers at the Chinese Naval Research Institute, the main research center for Chinese military strategy, recommend the People's Liberation Army focus the construction of overseas military infrastructure in regions and locations where there is already an established presence by Chinese SOEs [183]. While it is unlikely that Chinese investment in port infrastructure in the Arctic could ever be used for military operations, ownership of Arctic infrastructure could give China more standing in its claim as an Arctic "stakeholder." Given that over 80% of the Yamal LNG export facility in Russia is financed by Chinese Yamal Multipurpose Port where the PLA Navy could regularly berth is a future reality.

China's interest in the Arctic is clear: as one of the last remaining sources of unexploited resources, the Arctic is an attractive source of the raw materials that China needs to fuel its development. Beyond resources, the Arctic is the potential launching pad for Chinese SOEs seeking profit and market dominance. The Arctic is also a location where many Chinese laborers could find employment and possibly residence. For China, the Arctic is a vast landscape of opportunity.

For the Arctic littoral states, their Arctic resources are also deposits of opportunity for regional development and resource security. And the possibility of economic partnerships with Chinese companies is not inherently bad. However, China's history of environmental damage, labor abuse, and political hardball with developments in Africa and South America should be interpreted as historical caution to the Arctic nations. There is a way forward where the Arctic environment can be sufficiently protected while its resources are extracted, but taking that path will require cooperation and coordination between the Arctic nations in advance of resource development.

China's interest in the Arctic is clear: as one of the last remaining sources of unexploited resources, the Arctic is an attractive source of the raw materials that China needs to fuel its development Unconstrained Foreign Direct Investment: An Emerging Challenge to Arctic Security

Recommendations for the Arctic Regulatory Environment

The marine environment in the Arctic is especially vulnerable because there are both political and scientific unknowns of a major polluting accident occurring there. It also bears repeating that the Arctic is, for all intents and purposes, a nearly closed sea. An incident in one part of the Arctic is very likely to be felt in others, especially if pollution were to become trapped beneath the ice floes, beyond the reach of pollution remediation and recovery techniques. There is very little off-the-shelf technology to remediate an Arctic pollution incident, and not much of that technology and equipment is being stockpiled. All of this is exacerbated by enormous time and distance factors that would have to be overcome to mount a cleanup effort. These scientific and logistical limitations are magnified by a legal structure that is not supportive of the current pace of development and human activity, because liability issues related to ship operations are mostly relegated to the hoped-for good intentions of a variety of flag states and further hope that there will always be good weather and good charts. Last, but certainly not least, the current legal structure is too diverse to monitor and regulate inbound foreign investments both in specific companies and investments in large projects such as mines, and oil and gas facilities. To address these legal and regulatory gaps, we suggest three separate multilateral initiatives to establish a common framework for development, FDI, and the financing of Arctic development projects.

Environmental Development Standards and Project Transparency

Either as a stand-alone instrument or in connection with lending by the proposed Arctic Development Bank, described below, a common set of development standards should be adopted by the six Arctic states that have coastlines potentially affected by imprudent development. There is as yet no Arctic transnational organization like the EU to promulgate regulations and conduct enforcement actions, so the best approach would be for the six Arctic states to establish a multilateral agreement that is then incorporated into the domestic laws of each of the countries. To ensure that these standards are implemented in an effective manner, as opposed to being merely aspirational, each country's domestic laws would have to include harsh fines and possibly criminal punishment⁴¹ for those that undertake projects that violate core principles.

The purpose of the Arctic Development Code would be to ensure responsible development of the Arctic region. The following are the core principles that could be established in a notional Arctic Development Code (ADC):

⁴¹ There are various provisions in U.S. law, for example, as relates to unauthorized possession of chemicals that could be considered a chemical weapon (18 USC 229), possession of biological weapons and toxins (18 USC Sec. 175), and the theft of foreign museum pieces (18 USC 668) that can be mapped to obligations the U.S. assumed in an international agreement or treaty.

- A. Projects that could affect the Arctic marine environment will be subject to the ADC. In this context, even mining projects that are in the interior are within the scope of the ADC if destination shipping must be used to export the ores.
- B. All ADC-scope projects will be preceded by a written environmental impact assessment. The concept of advance planning is found in various international instruments including, for example, Article 14 of the 1992 Biodiversity Convention and Article 15 of its Cartagena Protocol, which require a scientifically sound and transparent assessment of risks associated with a particular project [184-185]. Since many of these projects will be constructed on the Arctic coastline and could impact the Arctic marine environment, the requirement to conduct sound planning can be inferred from Part XII of UNCLOS, which requires states to minimize impact(s) on the marine environment and "seek to harmonize" their practices with those of other states. The multilateral Arctic agreement would establish that each country reserves the sovereign right to decide whether to license a project involving its territory or resources, but it should include a mandatory requirement for a scientific study, publication of the results, and some method of eliciting comment from members of that country's public as well as designated officials from the other six Arctic states.
- C. All projects that are assessed pursuant to the ADC will conclude with a formal Record of Decision (ROD) that is signed by a government official and incorporated by reference into a written license that each government issues. A copy of the signed RODs and licenses will be provided electronically to a public repository that is established pursuant to the multilateral agreement and open to public inspection. It will also be a criminal violation for a person or company to either commence work on or finance a project until a license is issued.
- D. The parties to the multilateral agreement agree to meet within a short, specified period (one to two years) to adopt recognized international standards for the operations of mines, oil rigs, and refineries to the extent that those standards have not already been adopted by the countries domestically.
- E. The parties to the multilateral agreement will establish a legally binding mechanism to receive and investigate complaints from another state party that certain projects are not conforming to recognized international standards.
- F. The parties to the multilateral agreement will establish a claims procedure wherein individuals or government organizations from one of the six countries can make claims for damage and cleanup costs associated with incident an in any of the six countries that has a transboundary impact or any impact on the Arctic Ocean's marine environment. The operators of all sites will agree, as a condition of licensing, that they will participate in this scheme and agree to reimburse claimants for reasonable costs incurred in cleanup or damages to livestock or fisheries. The scope of this claims process would have to be limited to ensure maximum participation and to prevent costly, frivolous claims from being filed against land owners or operators. This claims process will be expressly recognized as a precondition to any suits in the local courts where the site is located.
- G. The parties to the multilateral agreement will create a mechanism to deal with the costs of decommissioning and remediation of plants in those cases in which those costs were not irrevocably pledged when the project was licensed. This would involve a requirement that each project owner post a long-term bond or

purchase insurance to cover the risk of the enterprise's default. The failure of a project owner or operator to have such a bond or insurance policy to cover this default risk would result in criminal liability in all of the states that are party to the ADC. Posting a bond or insurance policy seems infinite less complex than establishing and funding multinational "superfund" to deal with these sorts of situations.

The negotiation of a multilateral agreement for offshore oil and gas operations (as advocated in Addressing the Gaps in Arctic Governance) and to implement an Arctic Development Code can and should be made a high priority because the Arctic is still comparatively pristine from a development and FDI perspective [11]. As a result, no single country would be especially disadvantaged if reciprocal standards were adopted in the very near future [11]. If this process were delayed, however, and a plethora of offshore oil and gas rigs, mining sites and/or refineries were to gain a foothold in the Arctic, it would become extremely difficult to negotiate an agreement that both "grandfathered" the existing users and also addressed new investors prospectively. So too, the decline in prices for oil, gas, and other commodities gives governments a little bit of breathing room to "cut a deal" and enact these regulations before the resource boom restarts. When prices rise, there will be much more pressure on certain states like Russia and Greenland to offer lower environmental and regulatory costs for competitive advantage vis-à-vis the other states. Taking lower regulatory costs off the table now is in everyone's interest.

Promulgating an Assessment Criteria for Arctic FDI

In addition to the ADC, we suggest that there should be the adoption of criteria that assess proposed transactions in which a foreign purchaser is seeking to purchase a controlling interest in an ongoing business or enterprise in the Arctic. There are a number of recurrent themes in UNCTAD and OECD policies could guide how the Arctic region and individual states could assess whether a proposed foreign investment is beneficial. These standards are collectively designed to prevent some of the adverse impacts experienced in Africa and Latin America, including environmental destruction, dilution of worker's rights, corruption, loss of sovereignty, and a lack of technology transfer. Since these standards are more or less universal, they could be tailored and made applicable to future FDI in Arctic companies or projects. The actual standards adopted would be incorporated into a multilateral instrument between the six Arctic states.

We do not think that regional norms governing Arctic FDI should in any way infringe upon the rights of individual nations to enforce their own national security controls⁴² or limits on investments in scarce national resources.⁴³ Those types of national security or critical resource controls on inbound FDI should be governed by bilateral free trade agreements. However, there is no reason that the Arctic states could not reach some sort of agreement to limit the acceptance of FDI within their borders that could have transboundary economic or political impacts or impact on the Arctic marine environment. The key proposition is that countries should be free to refuse any FDI inconsistent with their treaty obligations and national security concerns, but they also should not accept FDI that is harmful to the region.

⁴² This would include restrictions on the purchase of controlling interests defense and high-technologies, industries, critical infrastructure, nuclear power generation, broadcasting and telecommunications.

⁴³ This would include restrictions on foreign purchases of hydrocarbons, rare earth elements, or other minerals in short supply.

Determining the sort of FDI that is harmful and should be regulated is certain to be controversial, particularly since neither UNCTAD nor OECD have published a code on what is "good" vs. "bad" FDI. That should not prevent the issue from going forward for discussion given the many instances in which FDI has "gone bad" and the inherent vulnerabilities of the Arctic region, including small populations, low capacity to monitor and manage, and the willingness of some states to move forward with economic development projects irrespective of their transboundary impacts. Just as UNCLOS recognizes in Article 234 that the Arctic region may require special coastal shipping regulations by coastal states because of its unique environmental character, it is appropriate to draw upon some of the policy threads in the UNCTAD and OECD guidelines to establish a framework for assessing FDI. Obviously, that framework would need to be objective, reciprocal, and respectful of the inalienable right of the Arctic states to responsibly develop their resources.

An FDI Review Agreement

A common set of standards to asses inbound FDI that is adopted by the six Arctic states is the second major recommendation to equalize the disparities that exist in each state's national laws and regulations. Because of the sensitivities associated with this overall endeavor, the scope of any agreement should be limited to the acquisition of a controlling interest in a business or enterprise that operates in or near the shoreline of the Arctic Ocean or within the region's watershed where an accident could reasonably impact the Arctic Ocean. Similarly, inland projects that will require extensive access to the marine environment to export ores, timber, oil, or gas should also be subject to the FDI agreement. Finally, if the particular project would result in the importation of substantial number of foreign workers to live and work in the region, that should be a covered transaction.

Sovereign control over FDI has heretofore never been subject to the consent or direct regulation of outside states or entities. Even though the European Commission has enacted regulations to promote foreign direct investment and to provide protection for foreign investors, to the best of our knowledge, the EU has never inserted itself into the role of directly restricting certain types of FDI [186]. For this reason, an agreement in which one country is asked to "clear" an inbound FDI transaction in another country is almost certain to be objectionable to everyone, including the United States. But reciprocal adoption of general FDI principles and reciprocal reporting on transactions that are within the scope of the agreement is possible. Similarly, if there is a reported transaction that raises concerns with another state, any state should have the right to challenge a transaction of concern and request consultations with the state that authorized the FDI transaction, such consultations would occur on a bilateral or multilateral basis. At the end of the day, under multiple principles of international law, it remains the right of each country to control the disposition of resources under its legal and physical control. The design of an FDI agreement should keep that important principle in mind.

The general FDI principles within a multilateral FDI agreement should establish "review criteria" or "standards," which, if followed, do not trigger any sort of basis to challenge country's decision to authorize an FDI transaction. The following evaluative criteria/standards for acceptable FDI could be incorporated into a multilateral instrument:

- The FDI is properly sequenced. The host nation has the systems and regulatory mechanisms in place to monitor the resulting FDI enterprise and, if appropriate, regulate it.
- The FDI will generate local employment. That local employment should involve transfer of technology and knowledge.

- The acquiring entity will mostly rely on local labor. Imported labor shall not exceed a modest percent for ongoing operations, ideally mapped to the percentage⁴⁴ used in local law for defining a controlling transaction.
- The FDI promotes overall development of the host country. The FDI will not crowd-out indigenous enterprises or result in adverse labor or social impacts.
- The FDI will not have permanent adverse environmental risks or impacts. Conversely, if there are potential risks, the proposing entity has a plan to mitigate the risks associated with operation.
- The acquiring entity is sufficiently well capitalized to pay the costs if there is an adverse environmental event.
- There is adequate infrastructure to support the FDI enterprise. If not, the acquiring entity will provide funding for necessary infrastructure.
- The proposed FDI is known to the local population. There is a public office that administers the inbound FDI and permits local citizens, either directly or through their representatives, the right to comment on FDI petitions.
- Public access to information concerning proposed transactions should not require the disclosure of the business-sensitive or proprietary information of those parties involved in the proposed transaction.
- There are both publicly available and published standards for the government to apply in deciding whether an FDI project should be permitted.

An Arctic Development Bank

The whole discussion of Chinese FDI is predicated on the fact that several Arctic countries are anxious to attract foreign capital in order to develop their infrastructure and natural resource potential. China's foreign investment has "grown nearly tenfold from 2005 to 2013 helping it win new allies, increase trade, and secure oil and other natural resources" [187]. China has become a "go to" source for investment capital and knowhow—especially in developing countries—and institutions like the World Bank are becoming increasingly irrelevant. This cannot be ignored since the strings associated with World Bank lending have been helpful in the past in curbing graft, corruption, poor environmental practices, and other elements of poor governance.

China is within its legal rights to make these investments and to use these "soft power" investments to secure access to raw materials and real estate. With some exceptions, Chinese businesses that are involved in FDI have to rely on capital from either China's EximBank (C-EXIM), China's Development Bank (CDB), Sinosure (a rough equivalent to the U.S. OPIC) or the newly formed, Beijing-based Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank (AIIB) which is technically a multilateral bank composed of 48 members [188].

China's EximBank has a substantial loan portfolio and can provide concessional loans to stimulate Chinese exports or to make overseas investments in the energy, mining, and industrial sectors. China has been very successful in capturing international development projects because it is able to use a blend of concessional

44

Absent existing standards, 20 percent seems reasonable to the authors.

loans, foreign aid, direct investment and service contracts and other instruments to maximize Chinese participation in international projects [189]. Because China is not a member of the OECD, it does not follow the OECD definition or practices of development aid. Chinese development banks can also lend wherever and whenever it advances Chinese strategic commercial interests as opposed to prioritizing shareholder interests [190]. Moreover, since much of Chinese lending is ultimately financed by the state, commercial firms can be emboldened to make riskier plays or offer better terms than their Western counterparts. In general, Chinese lending facilities have these characteristics:

- Greater liquidity than Western banks, since the source of funds (CDB and C-EXIM) is the state rather than capital markets
- Default risk that is usually assumed (practically speaking) by China EximBank versus the Chinese commercial borrower [191]
- The ability to be more strategic in the lending outlook since Chinese banks can operate on behalf of state interests
- Lower costs of capital because there are no reserve requirements or costly regulatory oversight
- Fewer lending compliance and transparency terms
- Lower interest rates [190]

To be fair, this type of lending can have a place in some countries with low credit ratings that cannot get international project finance from the World Bank or regional development banks. But in a context like the Arctic, cheap and plentiful money can be a problem because it "chases out" responsible investment capital. In this context, responsible investment capital is that in which there are conditions that the recipient of the loan(s) will: comply with labor and environmental standards; comply with international lending forms and standards; or face legal and financial consequences if repayment is not made.

Since commercial lenders or Western export credit agencies like the Export-Import Bank of the United States have difficulty competing on a head-to-head basis with their Chinese counterparts, it is too much to expect that the United States and the export credit agencies of the other Arctic states can reform their processes to be competitive with China's. Nor is it reasonable or legal for only one country's export credit bank to assume all of the default risk. However, establishment of an Arctic Development Bank that is funded and administered, principally or totally, by the six countries to finance projects in the region seems to be the most expeditious short-term solution to the capital access issue. One country could serve as the host nation for the agreement and provide the administrative support for the lending facility.

There are many examples of development banks, but, an organization similar to what China orchestrated in the establishment of the AIIB makes sense since the AIIB is also a multilateral financial institution dedicated to the financing of growth or infrastructure in a particular region [192]. China led the formation of the AIIB to compensate for its lack of control in the World Bank and the Asian Development Bank. It decided to form another development bank as an alternative source of capital for Asian countries to be able to finance large infrastructure and economic development projects (mostly Chinese). To refute criticism that the AIIB is a "tool of Beijing" the AIIB was established via a multilateral international agreement that allowed for financial participation of states outside of Asia in the various infrastructure projects, including the United States. As noted, the AIIB was established via a multilateral international agreement that creates a structure similar to
that of a corporation. There are articles of incorporation, bylaws, and the creation of a voting mechanism that is equated with stock ownership. The formula for those voting rights is not completely transparent. But day-to-day control of the bank is, as with modern corporations, vested in the 12 member board of directors—with multinational members. The Bank's management team consists of a president, general counsel, and five vice presidents [193].

The exact mechanics of establishing such an institution are beyond the scope of this study. The framework of the AIIB could be used as a primary analytical point of departure, but there are some hard questions that the six states would have to decide before moving forward. We present these, followed by an outline of the general path forward.

Issue 1: Should membership in the bank be limited to the Six Arctic littoral states?

As noted, the AIIB is a multinational bank in which there are regional members and non-regional members, and day-to-day activities are determined by the bank's multinational management team and board of directors, in which China has only one vote [194]. For very major issues, China has over one-third of the votes based on shares of stock that they hold in the bank's capital structure,⁴⁵ and this could force a systemic change in the bank's lending practices or operations. Given that China has this sort of power, its creation of a more multinational operation works in China's favor since it spreads the default risk to other states and creates the political appearance that it is inviting other countries and their businesses to participate in Asian infrastructure projects.

Membership of the ADB is a tricky question. Limiting membership to only the six littoral states does help ensure that states with a commonality of outlook with respect to Arctic infrastructure and project finance hold the levers on investments decisions. That model would not be unprecedented: the European Investment Bank (EIB) is closely aligned with the EU and membership is limited to the 28 member states of the EU [195]. The downside of this approach is that it would create the appearance that the Arctic states were acting in a unilateral fashion even though they had already agreed to multilateralism vis-à-vis the Arctic Council when it expanded the full and observer membership of the Arctic Council to states that did not have a coastline on the Arctic Ocean. Also, to the extent that participating membership were expanded, it would soften the default risk of the other participants.

Issue 2: Should the bank only be chartered to provide capital for public infrastructure or should it also be able to provide capital to private-sector investors to invest in commercial projects?

Most regional banks do not have charters that limit their lending to only state borrowers for infrastructure projects. The AIIB provides a wide variety of financial products including political risk insurance—similar to the U.S. OPIC—and can provide loans to governmental entities as well as to private enterprises that contribute

⁴⁵ The articles of incorporation specify how many shares each country can purchase. Interestingly, there are 1,000,000 shares authorized in the articles of incorporation. China is eligible (and has) purchased nearly 298,000 shares which represents 33.5 percent of the total voting stock. India is the next largest eligible purchaser: 11.9 percent. The President of the AIIB is Chinese and China also has a seat on the 12 member Board of Directors.

to the "economic development of the Asia region" [196]. It also can provide loan guarantees and underwrite the issuance of securities, like a U.S. investment bank; or like the U.S. Small Business Investment Corporation program, it can take an equity stake in projects. The Inter-American Development Bank (IADB), which focuses on financing to Latin America and the Caribbean, offers a less robust menu of financial products to public and private-sector clients, but it can provide concessional loans and grants to lower-income private sector borrowers. In contrast to the AIIB, the board of the IADB exercises considerable day to day oversight over management [197].⁴⁶ Finally, European Investment Bank (EIB) offers a variety of lending products to public and private borrowers including microfinance, funding for venture capital funds, project loans, intermediate loans to EU banks, and equity investments in infrastructure and energy projects.

There are widely varying estimates of how much investment in Arctic infrastructure is required for the region to effectively engage in tourism or extractive activities. But even the low estimates call for many billions of dollars, and this certainly suggests that an Arctic Development Bank should be able to offer the widest possible menu of products and be able to provide capital to private owners/operators of infrastructure products, tribal, and government entities. Similarly, because the point of creating an Arctic Development Bank is to help ensure that projects are developed in socially and financially responsible manner, direct lending to private entities that are seeking to commercially develop mines, oil and gas facilities, and other natural resource activities should be permitted.

Issue 3: Should the Arctic Development Bank (ADB) impose environmental and development conditions upon borrowers?

The AIIB makes the bold statement on its website that it does not involve itself in the domestic affairs of borrower countries. The Bank's Policy on Prohibited Practices makes no mention of sustainable development policies in its blackletter rules on prohibited practices. The Banks Operational Policy on Financing states that projects will be assessed for "environmental and social due diligence" pursuant to the AIIB's February 2016 Environment and Social Framework [198-199]. That particular policy promotes the use of incentives to support good environmental and social performance, as opposed to creating preconditions to lending.

Instead of requiring all projects to meet standards, the bank emphasizes its support for a selection of sustainable development projects. The AIIB does have various policy memoranda stating that bank operations will support sustainable development. The bank's board of governors note that they have promoted sustainable development goals in some of the lending projects (e.g., Nepal), and the AIIB recently concluded an agreement with the Manila-based Asian Development Bank to cooperate on sustainable development goals and compliance with the Paris Climate Agreement [200].

The European Investment Bank (EIB), by contrast, is more prescriptive. The EIB states that lending must meet sound lending practices and must be environmentally sound and include public participation in projects with environmental consequences (Standard 21). In addition EIB lending policies address lending to combat

⁴⁶ The IADB has 48 member countries (and 26 eligible borrowing countries) with power vested in the Board of Governors whose voting power is proportional to their country's capital in the Bank (similar to the IIAB). The 14-member Board of Executive Directors exercises most of the powers of directors of a for-profit corporation, although their oversight appears to be more robust, since they meet once a week and exercise responsibility for approval of loan and guarantee proposals, setting interest rates, approving country strategies, and approving the bank's budget.

bribery, fraud, poverty reduction, the rule of law, human rights, health, education, and technology and knowledge transfer.

Unless multilateral instruments are created that establish reciprocal rules and development that countries will enforce vis-vis individuals, the use of lending conditions to reinforce standards is an excellent approach and an excellent hedge if development codes do not come online soon. Obviously, there are fundamental differences in the legal systems of the Arctic countries and so care must be taken to not erect standards that are impossible for smaller countries to enforce.

Suggested Design of an Arctic Development Bank (ADB)

If one were to imagine the six Arctic nations occupying a similar position of influence to that of China in the AIIB, there is a great deal to admire in the design of that bank. China reserved a majority voting stock among the member nations, a permanent seat on the board of directors, and appointment of the bank's presidency. This ensures that the Chinese Government is able to establish the appearance of a transparent corporate structure with the reality that important levers of power are mostly controlled by the Chinese Government. All the better, from China's perspective, is that the participation of other countries enables the bank to spread the default risk and have many additional sources of revenue for new lending.

It is important that the six main Arctic states maintain some of the same levers of power as China has retained with the ADB to ensure that overall development standards are maintained. More transparency and sharing of power is acceptable because the ADB faces less default risk than other development banks. Five of the six countries are OECD members and are among the top tier of countries in GDP per capita: Canada, Iceland, Denmark, United States, and Norway. Also, allowing other countries to be passive investors in the ADB makes a tremendous amount of sense, since the six charter members, especially the United States, would likely face political headwinds in getting the appropriations to finance the ADB's operation and lending. Based on the aforementioned, we recommend the following attributes of the ADB, drawing on the characteristics of other development banks:

The ADB would be organized via a multilateral agreement. It would have a policy link to the Arctic Council, and its regional development goals, but it would not be linked in a legal sense to either the Arctic Council or the EU.

The ADB's multilateral agreement would establish a capital structure similar to the AIIB in which the six founding members would control 90 percent of the voting stock. Each country would be eligible to purchase 15 percent, and the remaining 10 percent would be offered via an IPO or auction to any members of the Arctic Council. These shareholders would adopt the bylaws of the ADB and general lending policies, and would vote on dissolution or issuance of additional stock for the admission of new members.

Day-to-day corporate responsibility, including review and approval of deals above a certain size and adoption of specific sustainable development policies and financial policies,⁴⁷ would be vested in an 14-member board

⁴⁷ Financial policies include bank capital reserve requirements, lending policies (collaterization), environmental and social impact assessments and the associated obligations of borrowers.

of directors that would consist of two members from each member county⁴⁸ and two at-large representatives who would come from other development banks (to ensure that the bank is employing best practices). Like the EDB Board, the ADB Board would meet either weekly or fortnightly.

Corporate officers would be selected on a competitive basis. Officers would implement the decisions and policies of the board but have authority to authorize projects below a certain level.

Borrowers would be required to obtain financing to cover the risks associated with project default and the reasonable cost of claims associated with an oil-and-gas or mining pollution incident

The ADB would act as the trustee for any default or pollution damage payments. As trustee, it would administer an administrative claims process to facilitate payment for remediation or cleanup costs. This would eliminate the need to use local courts.

Recommendations to U.S. Leadership

This study raises a plethora of issues and suggested approaches to mitigate the risks associated with uncontrolled development of the Arctic. We make three different and concordant recommendations to address the issues associated with Arctic development. First, we recommend that the United States lead negotiations of a multilateral agreement among the six Arctic littoral states that would have an Arctic Development Code (ADC) as its centerpiece. Second, we recommend that the United States seek to negotiate a multilateral agreement among the six Arctic littoral states to establish regional standards for "acceptable" FDI and the associated reporting of FDI transactions in areas that can affect the Arctic marine environment, including watershed areas. Third, we urge careful consideration be given to the formation of an Arctic Development Bank (ADB) that is patterned upon the recently formed Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank. The point of the ADB would be to provide "local" capital for Arctic economic development and would contain reasonable riders that would ensure that projects are sufficiently well-funded to assure their long-term operation and the expenses of wind-down.

Timing is an issue. The Arctic is rarely mentioned in the headlines, and it is almost certainly not something that the U.S. President or Secretary of State has paid much attention to since taking office in January of 2017. Most commentators have opined that the Arctic has been an area in which there has traditionally been a great deal of cooperation, if for no other reason, because the climatic conditions are so bad that everyone's physical survival depends upon it. This cooperation mostly continues to this day and could, if properly managed, also be the foundation for a cooperative relationship between the United States and Russia, since our interests in the Arctic are parallel [196]. Russia is just as wary as the United States of the continued FDI efforts of China in their Arctic backyard.

The issues raised in this study do not have to be tackled at this very moment, but it must be addressed in the next few years. Delays do entail costs. The challenges associated with Arctic development are complex and, for the most part, beyond the control of the United States. Accomplishing what is proposed in this paper will

⁴⁸ While the selection of qualified representatives is entirely up to the discretion of each country, the authors strongly urge that each Arctic nation select members who represent the interests of the Arctic's tribal communities.

take a great deal of effort and money. The timetable for action will likely be driven by changes in worldwide commodity prices and the discoveries of new mineral or hydrocarbon deposits. Yet when that moment arrives, and the United States finally decides that it needs to implement a multilateral policy to shape Arctic development, it is quite likely that policies or investments will already have been made by other countries that will be impossible to unwind. Worse yet, the lack of action could be perceived by unscrupulous investors as a regulatory vacuum, setting the stage for a major industrial

The lack of action could be perceived by unscrupulous investors as a regulatory vacuum, setting the stage for a major industrial accident in which the Arctic littoral countries are forced to confront an environmental catastrophe of the highest order

accident in which the Arctic littoral countries are forced to confront an environmental catastrophe of the highest order. Depending on the severity of the incident, political pressures might then put future development of the Arctic resources at risk for the foreseeable future.

It is also important that the United States demonstrate a strong commitment to the Arctic because of the importance of this region to the United States' economic well-being. President Trump has made development of U.S. infrastructure a priority, and the U.S. Arctic should be no exception [197]. The Arctic is important to the United States on many different levels, and yet the U.S. government recently put planning for its single Arctic infrastructure project—the construction of a deep water port—on hold [198]. For military, disaster-response, and community support, there are a lot of good reasons why the United States needs to increase its Arctic infrastructure. On another level, it is important that U.S. businesses be in the vanguard of designing and constructing Arctic infrastructure for both public and private purposes. Incentivizing this sort of U.S. expeditionary business investment in the United States and in other Arctic countries is one of the best ways that the United States and other Arctic littoral countries can and should collaborate on a business-to-business level.

The challenges of developing sound Arctic policies are daunting but cannot be ignored. The Arctic represents one of the few remaining final frontiers, and the United States would do well to recognize that fact and start making investments now.

Appendix A: Chinese Arctic Investments over \$1 Billion

Country	Value (Bn USD)	Event Type	Sector	Chinese Entity	Narrative
Russia	16.5	Belkomur Rail- road Project	Infrastructure, Transportation	CCECC	In November 2012, China Civil Engineering Construction Company (CCECC) committed to the Belkomur Railroad project, which will connect the Russian cities of Perm and Arhangelsk. When completed, the railway will cut time and distance for travel between the Barents Sea and the Ural region. Over 80% of the \$20.6 billion project is anticipated to be funded from private sources.
Canada	15.10	Acquisition	Energy	CNOOC	In February 2013, China National Offshore Oil Company (CNOOC) finalized a \$15.1 billion acquisition of the Canadian oil and gas company Nexen. The Nexen acquisition will give CNOOC access to production in the North Sea, Middle East, the Gulf of Mexico, West Africa, and Canada.
Russia	10.6	Yamal LNG Finance	Energy	Export-Import Bank of China	In April 2016, Yamal LNG signed a 15-year loan agreement worth 10.6 billion. Other investment partners in the Yamal LNG project include the China Devel- opment Bank. Of note, French energy company, Total, announced in 2015 that it was looking to secure \$15 billion for its share of the Yamal project, likely from Chinese investors. The project will cost \$27 billion in total.
Russia	5.0	Coal Exploration and Develop- ment Agreement	Energy, Minerals, Infrastructure	Shenua Group	In September 2014, Rostec and Shenhua Group Corporation Limited signed an MoU to explore the Gerbikan-Ogodzhin coal deposit. This project includes the construction of a coal export terminal in Primorsky Krai. The partnership is a 50/50 agreement. Exports are anticipated to land in China.
Russia	5.0	Investment Agreement	Financial, Infra- structure	China Development Bank (CDB)	In August 2013, the CDB signed an agreement with the Russian government in an effort to attract funds for major infrastructure projects in Siberia. Russian of- ficials claim that over \$100 billion in investment is needed in the area. No firm financial commitment was announced but officials claim that the agreement includes at least \$5 billion in Chinese investment.
Russia	4.0	Share of Yamal LNG Project	Energy, Shipping	CNPC	In September 2013, China National Petroleum Company (CNPC) took over 20% of Novatek's share of the Yamal LNG project.
Russia	2.1	Joint Venture	Shipping	Teekay LNG, China LNG Shipping	In July 2014, Teekay LNG and China LNG entered into a joint venture to build six Arctic-class LNG tankers for the Yamal LNG project. The LNG carriers will be the first ice-breaking, polar class LNG carriers to be built. Each vessel is valued at about \$316 million.

Country	Value (Bn USD)	Event Type	Sector	Chinese Entity	Narrative
Norway	2.0	Company Acqui- sition	Manufacturing, Petrochemical	China National Bluestar	In January 2011, China National Bluestar and Blackstone LP agreed to purchase Elkem and Orkla (silicon producers).
Russia	2.0	Potential Minority Share Acquisition	Mining	Fosun International	In November 2016, Fosun International and Polyus began negotiations for a 20- 25 percent acquisition in the Russian gold company. The size of the acquisition is still being negotiated and may include more partners than Fosun Internation- al.
Russia	2.0	Share Acquisition	Energy	Chengdong Invest- ment Corporation	In September 2013, Chengdong Investment Corporation paid \$2 billion in convertible bonds for a 12.5% stake in Urakali, which may be returned in a buyback program.
Russia	2.0	Development Loan for Coal Exploration	Energy, Mining	China Development Bank	In March of 2013, CDB and Shenhua Group agreed to a \$2 billion joint develop- ment deal for coal resources owned by En+ Group in Eastern Siberia.
Russia	2.0	Oil Supply Agree- ment	Energy, Financial	China Development Bank	In March 2013, Rosneft agreed to conditions for prepaid oil supplies to China as well as for cooperation on geological exploration, production, and sale. The deal is in exchange for a \$2 billion, 25-year loan financed by CDB.
Russia	1.6	Core Module Production for LNG Plant	Energy	CNOOC	In July 2015, CNOOC signed a \$1.6 billion deal to build equipment for the Yamal LNG project.
Russia	1.59	Arctic LNG Car- riers	Energy, Shipping	China Merchants Energy Shipping, Sinotrans, CLNG	In September 2015, China Merchants Energy Shipping, Sinotrans, and China LNG Shipping, along with Dynagas (Greece) agreed to construct five polar class LNG carriers for the Yamal LNG project.
Canada	1.50	Alternative Asset Investment	Mining	China Investment Corporation	In July 2009, China Investment Corporation (CIC) acquired a 17.1% stake in Teck Resources Limited, the operator of Red Dog Mine in Alaska.
Russia	1.5	Yamal LNG Finance	Energy	China Development Bank	China's involvement in the Yamal LNG project began when China Development Bank (CDB) agreed to provide and undisclosed amount of financing to Novatek. More clarity was brought when it was announced that CDB would provide \$1.5 billion to the project. The EximBank of China is also a major investor. Of note, French energy company, Total, announced in 2015 that it was looking to secure \$15 billion for its share of the Yamal project, likely from Chinese investors. The project will cost \$27 billion in total.
Russia	1.4	Oil Field Stake Acquisition	Energy	CNPC	In November 2014, CNPC agreed to purchase 10% of Vankorneft.
Canada	1.0	Loan Agreement	Energy, Financial	Export-Import Bank of China	In October 2015, Teekay Corporation signed a cooperation agreement with the EximBank of China for loan facilities.

Source: Available from authors upon request.

Country	Value (M USD)	Event Type	Sector	Chinese Entity
Russia	654	Equity Acquisition in Polyus Gold	Mining	Chengdong Investment Corporation
Norway	640	Solar Power Company Acquisition	Energy	China National Bluestar
Norway	473	Oil Rig Construction	Energy	COSCO
Norway	450	Semisubmersible Drilling Platforms	Energy	COSCO Shipyards Co.
Russia	280	Potash Export Contract	Agriculture	Sinochem
Canada	150	Controlling Share Acquisition	Energy, Minerals	CNOOC
Canada	117	Majority Share Acquisition	Mining	China CAMC Engineering
Russia	100	Minority Share Acquisition	Mining	China Highland
Russia	100	Project Share Acquisition	Mining	Unknown
Canada	73.1	Share Acquisition	Mining	China Minmetal and Wuhan Iron and Steel (Group) Corporation (WISCO)
Canada	70.4	Joint Venture	mining	WISCO International Resources Development
Canada	40	Mining Investment	Mining	WISCO
Canada	36.4	Joint Venture	Mining	WISCO
Russia	28	Trade Loan	Financial	Export-Import Bank of China
Greenland		Mining Memorandum	Mining	China Non-Ferrous Metal Industry Foreign Engineering and Construction Co. Ltd.
Canada		Strategic Cooperation Agreement	Infrastructure, Transportation	China Railway Rolling Stock Corporation
Canada		Potential Minority Stake Purchase	Energy, Petrochemicals	Sinopec
Canada		Technology Development Agreement	Aerospace, defense, technology	Chendu Space Technology Company
Iceland		Offshore Oil Exploration License	Energy	CNOOC
Russia		Pending Share Acquisition	Energy	Silk Road Fund
Russia		Energy Cooperation Memorandum	Energy	CNPC
Russia		Energy Cooperation Memorandum	Energy	CNOOC
Russia		Gold Exploration Agreement	Mining	China National Gold

Appendix B: Chinese Investments less than \$1 Billion

Unconstrained Foreign Direct Investment: An Emerging Challenge to Arctic Security

Chinese Entity	Export-Import Bank of China	Sinopec	Russia-China Investment Fund	CNOOC	Unknown	CNOOC	CNPC	Baosteel	China Nonferrous Metal Industry, COVEC	China CEFC Energy Company	CNPC	CNPCs	CNPC
Sector	Financial, Minerals, Mining	Energy	Energy	Energy	Mining	Energy	Energy	Metals	Mining	Energy	Energy	Energy	Energy
Event Type	Financial Memorandum	Oil Field Joint Development/Share	Potential Minority Stake Acquisition	Potential Offshore Oil Exploration	Potential Rare Earth Mine	Possible Arctic Oil Cooperation	Interest in Energy Project	Potential Share Acquisition	Pending Mine Development	Joint Oilfield Development	Eastern Siberian Joint Venture	Arctic Drilling Cooperation	Possible Minority Share Acquisition
Value (M USD)													
Country	Russia	Russia	Russia	Russia	Russia	Russia	Russia	Russia	Russia	Russia	Russia	Russia	Russia

References

- [1] National Snow & Ice Data Center. 2017. "Warm Arctic, cool continents." May 3. Accessed May 10, 2017. <u>https://nsidc.org/arcticseaicenews/2017/05/warm-arctic-cool-continents/</u>.
- [2] Rosen, Yereth. 2017. "US Arctic officials don't expect big policy changes with Trump presidency." Alaska Dispatch. Jan. 26. <u>https://www.adn.com/arctic/2017/01/26/u-s-arctic-officials-dont-expect-big-policy-changes-with-trump-presidency/</u>.
- [3] Funk, McKenzie. 2014. "The Wreck of the Kulluk." The New York Times Magazine. Dec. 30. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2015/01/04/magazine/the-wreck-of-the-kulluk.html? r=0</u>.
- [4] 2015. Grounding of Mobile Offshore Drilling Unit Kulluk. National Transportation Safety Board. NTSB/MAB-15/10. <u>https://www.ntsb.gov/investigations/AccidentReports/Reports/MAB1510.pdf</u>.
- [5] Smith, Laurence C., and Scott R. Stephenson. 2013. "New Trans-Arctic shipping routes navigable by midcentury."
 doi: 10.1073/pnas.1214212110. <u>http://www.pnas.org/content/110/13/E1191.full#ref-1</u>.
- [6] ExxonMobil in the Arctic the Future of Arctic energy. 2017. Video. Accessed 5/10/2017. <u>http://corporate.</u> exxonmobil.comhttp://corporate.exxonmobil.com/en/current-issues/arctic/presence/future-of-arctic-energy.
- [7] BP. 2017. "The Arctic." BP Global. May 10. <u>http://www.bp.com/en/global/corporate/sustainability/</u> environmental-impacts/biodiversity-and-sensitive-areas/the-arctic.html.
- [8] Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation. 2017. "Mary River Mine Location and Project History | Baffinland." Mar.
 30. <u>http://www.baffinland.com/the-project/location-and-project-history/?lang=en</u>.
- [9] Obama, Barack 2013. National Strategy for the Arctic Region. <u>https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/</u> <u>default/files/docs/nat_arctic_strategy.pdf</u>.
- [10] U.S. Energy Information Administration. 2012. "Arctic oil and natural gas resources." Jan. 20. <u>https://www.eia.</u> gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=4650.
- [11] Rosen, Mark E., and Patricio Asfura-Heim. 2013. "Addressing the Gaps in Arctic Governance." In The Opening Arctic: Shaping a Safe, Secure and Prosperous Future. Stanford University: Hoover Institution Press. <u>https://www.scribd.com/document/178239062/Addressing-the-Gaps-in-Arctic-Governance-by-Mark-E-Rosen-and-Patricio-Asfura-Heim.</u>
- [12] Ramseur, Jonathan L. 2015. Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill: Recent Activities and Ongoing Developments. Congressional Research Service. <u>https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R42942.pdf</u>.
- [13] Kerr, Richard A. 2010. "A Lot of Oil on the Loose, Not So Much to Be Found." Science Magazine. Aug. 16. <u>http://</u>school.judsonisd.org/webpages/ameeks/files/Science%20Around%20the%20World%208-16-2010.pdf.
- [14] "Exxon Valdez Spill Profile." United States Environmental Protection Agency. <u>https://www.epa.gov/emergency-</u> response/exxon-valdez-spill-profile.
- [15] Bakke, Torgeir, Jarle Klungsoyr, and Steinar Sanni. 2012. Long-term effects of discharges to sea from petroleumrelated activities. Research Council of Norway. <u>http://www.npd.no/Global/Engelsk/3-Publications/Reports/</u> <u>PROOFNY Resultatrapport Allegro Douglas Ferguson 20120509 en.pdf</u>.
- [16] Cohen, Ariel, Alexandr' Golts, Marlene Laruelle, and Katarzyna Zysk. 2011. Russia in the Arctic. Edited by Stephen J Blank. Strategic Studies Institute. <u>http://icefloe.net/files/RussiaInTheArctic-SBlank-pub1073.pdf</u>.

- [17] Brockman, Alex. 2017. "How Russian advances in the Arctic are leaving NATO behind." CBC Canada. Jan. 9. http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/north/russia-arctic-military-build-up-1.3926162.
- [18] Peck, Michael. 2017. "Russia is Deploying Special Anti-Aircraft Missiles to the Arctic." The National Interest. Apr.
 23. <u>http://nationalinterest.org/blog/the-buzz/russia-deploying-special-anti-aircraft-missiles-the-arctic-20304</u>.
- [19] Nordenman, Magnus. 2017. "The Russian challenge in the Arctic isn't about icebreakers." Defense News. Feb. 24. <u>http://www.defensenews.com/articles/the-russian-challenge-in-the-arctic-isnt-about-icebreakers-commentary.</u>
- [20] ABS Consulting, PotomacWave Consulting, and Systems Planning and Analysis Inc. 2010. United States Coast Guard High Latitude Region Mission Analysis Capstone Summary. United States Coast Guard. <u>http://assets.fiercemarkets.net/public/sites/govit/hlssummarycapstone.pdf</u>.
- [21] O'Rourke, Ronald, Marc Humphries, Laura B. Comay, Jane A. Leggett, M. Lynne Corn, Jonathan L. Ramseur, Peter Folger, Harold F. Upton, and John Frittelli. 2017. Changes in the Arctic: Background and Issues for Congress. Congressional Research Service. <u>https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R41153.pdf</u>.
- [22] Wezeman, Siemon T. 2016. "Military Capabilities in the Arctic: A New Cold War in the High North?". SIPRI Backround Paper. <u>https://www.sipri.org/sites/default/files/Military-capabilities-in-the-Arctic.pdf</u>.
- [23] Murray, Robert W., and Tom Keating. 2014. "Containing Russia should not mean bringing NATO to the Arctic." The Globe and Mail. Apr. 25. <u>https://www.theglobeandmail.com/opinion/containing-russia-should-not-mean-bringing-nato-to-the-arctic/article18208720/</u>.
- [24] Sprenger, Sebastian. 2013. "DOD's Arctic Strategy Assures Region's Place As Military Focus Area." Inside Defense. Nov. 26. <u>https://insidedefense.com/inside-pentagon/dods-arctic-strategy-assures-regions-place-military-focus-area.</u>
- [25] Barnes, Julian E., and Adam Entous. 2013. "Hagel Outlines Pentagon's Arctic Strategy in Era of Climate Change." The Wall Street Journal. Nov. 22. <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/hagel-outlines-pentagon8217s-arcticstrategy-in-era-of-climate-change-1385158299?tesla=y.</u>
- [26] U.S. Department of Defense. 2013. Arctic Strategy. <u>https://www.defense.gov/Portals/1/Documents/pubs/2013</u> Arctic Strategy.pdf.
- [27] U.S. Department of Defense. 2016. Report to Congress on Strategy to Protect United States National Security Interests in the Arctic Region. <u>https://www.defense.gov/Portals/1/Documents/pubs/2016-Arctic-Strategy-UNCLAS-cleared-for-release.pdf</u>.
- [28] Senate. 2016. Armed Services Committee. Statement of Admiral William E. Gortney, United States Navy Commander, United States Northern Command and North American Aerospace Defense Command. 114th Congress, 2nd Session, Mar. 10. <u>http://www.northcom.mil/Portals/28/Documents/Gortney_Posture%20</u> <u>Statement_SASC_03-10-16.pdf</u>.
- [29] Kuersten, Andreas. "Assessing the U.S. Navy's Arctic Roadmap." CIMSEC. Jun. 21. <u>http://cimsec.org/assessing-the-u-s-navys-arctic-roadmap/17117</u>.
- [30] Mohammed, Arshad, and Bill Trott. 2014. "U.S. intensifies sanctions on Russia over Ukraine." Reuters. Sep. 12. http://www.reuters.com/article/us-ukraine-crisis-usa-sanctions-idUSKBN0H71N320140912.
- [31] The Antarctic Treaty. http://www.ats.aq/documents/keydocs/vol 1/vol1 2 AT Antarctic Treaty e.pdf.
- [32] The Ilulissat Declaration. http://www.oceanlaw.org/downloads/arctic/Ilulissat_Declaration.pdf.

- [33] Brower, Julia, Christina Koningisor, Ryan Liss, and Michael Shih. 2012. "UNCLOS Dispute Settlement in Context: The United States' Record in International Arbitration Proceedings." <u>https://law.yale.edu/system/files/</u> documents/pdf/cglc/yale law school - unclos and arbitration.pdf.
- [34] The MOX Plant Case (Ireland v. United Kingdom). (International Tribunal for the Law of the Sea 2001). https://www.itlos.org/cases/list-of-cases/case-no-10/.
- [35] DNVGL. 2016. "The IMO Polar Code in force, beginning 1 January 2017: How to comply." Dec. 21. <u>https://</u> www.dnvgl.com/news/the-imo-polar-code-in-force-beginning-1-january-2017-how-to-comply-83230.
- [36] Latarche, Malcolm. 2016. "DNV GL approves first vessel to comply with IMO Polar Code." Ship Insight. Feb.
 19. <u>https://www.shipinsight.com/dnv-gl-approves-first-vessel-to-comply-with-imo-polar-code/</u>.
- [37] Hart, Gary. Sep. 21, 2016. Memorandum For Under Secretary Gottemoeller. Subject: Final Report of the International Security Advisory Board (ISAB) on Arctic Policy. <u>https://www.state.gov/t/avc/isab/262342.htm</u>.
- [38] An Arbitral Tribunal Constituted Under Annex VII to the 1982 United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea Between the Republic of the Philippines and the Peoples Republic of China, PCA Case No. 2013-19. (Permanent Court of Arbitration 2016). <u>http://www.pcacases.com/pcadocs/PH-CN%20-%2020160712%20</u> -%20Award.pdf.
- [39] Parfitt, Tom. 2007. "Russia plants flag on North Pole seabed." The Guardian. Aug. 2. <u>https://www.theguardian.</u> com/world/2007/aug/02/russia.arctic.
- [40] Bellinger, John B. 2008. "Treaty on Ice." The New York Times. Jun. 23. <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2008/06/23/opinion/23bellinger.html</u>.
- [41] Borgerson, Scott G. 2008. "Arctic meltdown: the economic and security implications of global warming." Foreign affairs: 63-77.
- [42] Borgerson, Scott. 2013. "The Coming Arctic Boom." Foreign Affairs 92 (4): 76-89. EBSCOhost. <u>http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=88213868&site=ehost-live</u>.
- [43] Murkowski, Lisa. 2017. "America's Arctic Economic Ambitions: Opportunities and Limitations." Washington, DC, Jul. 19. <u>https://www.csis.org/events/america%E2%80%99s-arctic-economic-ambitions-opportunitiesand-limitations.</u>
- [44] Bird, Kenneth J., Ronald R. Charpentier, Donald L. Gautier, David W. Houseknecht, Timothy R. Klett, Janet K. Pitman, Thomas E. Moore, Christopher J. Schenk, Marilyn E. Tennyson, and Craig J. Waundrey. 2008. Circum-Arctic Resource Appraisal: Estimates of Undiscovered Oil and Gas North of the Arctic Circle. U.S. Geological Survey. <u>https://pubs.usgs.gov/fs/2008/3049/fs2008-3049.pdf</u>.
- [45] Tillerson, Rex W., Elizabeth Sherwood-Randall, Marshall W. Nichols, Charles D. Davidson, Paal Kibsgaard, Mark D. Myers, Marvin E. Odum, David T. Seaton, John S. Watson, Frank A. Verrastro, Carol J. Lloyd, Paula A. Gant, Bill Scott, Jed M. Hamilton, and A. Michael Macrander. 2015. Arctic Potential: Realizing the Promise of U.S. Arctic Oil and Gas Resources. U.S. Department of Energy, National Petroleum Council. <u>http:// npcarcticpotentialreport.org/pdf/AR-Executive_Summary-Final.pdf</u>.
- [46] Einarsson, Kristinn, and Thorarinn Arnarson. 2015. Iceland Offshore Exploration. Iceland National Energy Authority, Iceland Geosurvey. Accessed May 31, 2017. <u>http://os.is/gogn/os-onnur-rit/OS-Iceland-Offshore-Exploration-2015-Feb.pdf</u>.
- [47] Richter, Bjarni, and Karl Gunnarsson. 2010. Overview of Hydrocarbon Related Research in Tjornes. Iceland National Energy Authority, Iceland Geosurvey. ISOR-2010/007. Accessed May 31, 2017. <u>http://www.os.is/</u>

gogn/Skyrslur/ISOR-2010/ISOR-2010-007.pdf.

- [48] U.S. National Parks Service. 2017. "What Was the Klondike Gold Rush? Klondike Gold Rush National Historical Park (U.S. National Park Service)." Mar. 30. <u>https://www.nps.gov/klgo/learn/goldrush.htm</u>.
- [49] Steele, Marie. 2017. "Red Dog Mine." http://dnr.alaska.gov/mlw/mining/largemine/reddog/.
- [50] Mowatt, Thomas C., Joseph A. Dygas, and Christopher Gibson. 1991. The Red Dog Deposit, Northwestern Alaska: Discovery, Delineation, and Development Implications. Bureau of Land Management, Alaska State Office. OFR38. Accessed 3/30/2017.
- [51] Boyd, Rognvald, Terje Bjerkgard, Bobo Nordahl, and Henrik Schiellerup. 2016. Mineral Resources in the Arctic. 1st edition 2016: 1000 copies ed.: Skipnes Kommunikasjon AS. doi: 978-82-7385-160-4.
- [52] Choi, SeokGwan, Harald Gjøsæter, Taro Ichii, Oleg Katugin, Igor Melnikov, Phillip Mundy, Jennifer Parrott, Peter Pulsifer, Oksana Schimnowski, Fran Ulmer, and Guoping Zhu. 2015. Inventory of Research and Monitoring for Fish Stocks in the Central Arctic Ocean. Inventory of Arctic Research and Monitoring. <u>https://www.afsc.noaa.gov/Arctic fish stocks third meeting/meeting reports/Report IARM 07102015 final.pdf</u>.
- [53] Christiansen, Jørgen S., Catherine W. Mecklenburg, and Oleg V. Karamushko. 2014. "Arctic marine fishes and their fisheries in light of global change." Global Change Biology 20 (2): 352-359. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12395. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12395.
- [54] Burnett, Mark, Natalia Dronova, Maren Esmark, and Steve Nelson. 2008. Illegal Fishing in Arctic Waters. World Wildlife Fund. <u>http://d2ouvy59p0dg6k.cloudfront.net/downloads/iuu_report_version_1_3_30apr08.pdf</u>.
- [55] Hoag, Hannah. 2017. "Sea Ice Retreat Could Lead to Rapid Overfishing in the Arctic." The Atlantic. Mar. 17. https://www.theatlantic.com/science/archive/2017/03/fishing-at-the-top-of-the-world/519639/.
- [56] Hoag, Hannah. 2016. "Nations Negotiate Fishing in Arctic High Seas." NewsDeeply. Apr. 28. Accessed June 26, 2017. <u>https://www.newsdeeply.com/arctic/articles/2016/04/28/nations-negotiate-fishing-in-arctic-high-seas.</u>
- [57] Declaration Concerning the Prevention of Unregulated High Seas Fishing in the Central Arctic Ocean. Jul. 16, 2015. <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/globalassets/departementene/ud/vedlegg/folkerett/declaration-on-arctic-fisheries-16-july-2015.pdf</u>.
- [58] U.S. Department of State. 2017. "Arctic Fisheries." <u>https://www.state.gov/e/oes/ocns/fish/regionalorganizations/</u> arctic/index.htm.
- [59] National Snow & Ice Data Center. 2017. "Arctic sea ice maximum at record low for third straight year | Arctic Sea Ice News and Analysis." <u>https://nsidc.org/arcticseaicenews/2017/03/arctic-sea-ice-maximum-at-record-low/</u>.
- [60] Amos, Jonathan. 2016. "Arctic Shipping Routes 'To Open for Months." BBC. Sep. 6. <u>http://www.bbc.com/news/</u> science-environment-37286750.
- [61] Hansen, Carsten Ørts, Peter Grønsedt, Christian Lindstrøm Graversen, and Christian Hendriksen. 2016. "Arctic Shipping: Commercial Opportunities and Challenges." CBS Maritime. <u>https://services-webdav.cbs.dk/</u> doc/CBS.dk/Arctic%20Shipping%20-%20Commercial%20Opportunities%20and%20Challenges.pdf.
- [62] Humpert, A. V. Malte. 2017. "Shipping Traffic on Northern Sea Route Grows by 30 Percent." High North News. Accessed Mar. 29, 2017. <u>http://www.highnorthnews.com/shipping-traffic-on-northern-sea-route-grows-by-30-percent/</u>.
- [63] Carmel, Stephen M. . 2013. "Arctic Force Structure: What an Arctic Fleet Might Look Like." In The Opening

Arctic: Shaping a Safe, Secure and Prosperous Future. Edited by David Slayton: Hoover Institution Press. https://www.scribd.com/document/189716672/Arctic-Force-Structure-What-an-Arctic-Fleet-Might-Look-Like-by-Stephen-M-Carmel.

- [64] Larsen, Peter, Scott Goldsmith, Orson Smith, Meghan Wilson, Ken Strzepek, Paul Chinowsky, and Ben Saylor. 2007. Estimating Future Costs for Public Infrastructure at Risk from Climate Change. Institute of Social and Economic Research, University of Alaska Anchorage. Accessed May 30, 2017. <u>http://www.iser.uaa.alaska.edu/</u> <u>Publications/JuneICICLE.pdf</u>.
- [65] Shiklomanov, Nikolay I., Dmitry A. Streletskiy, Timothy B. Swales, and Vasily A. Kokorev. 2017. "Climate Change and Stability of Urban Infrastructure in Russian Permafrost Regions: Prognostic Assessment Based on GCM Climate Projections." Geographical Review 107 (1): 125-142. Accessed May 29, 2017. EBSCOhost. <u>http://web.b.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?sid=7c2eda75-b8e8-4d3a-af85-650282d6493b%40sessionmgr102&vid=1&hid=102.</u>
- [66] Rowland, Jonathan. 2016. "Russian ports handle growing dry bulk shipments." Minelistings, LLC. Aug. 12. https://minelistings.com/mine-news/russian-ports-handle-growing-dry-bulk-shipments/.
- [67] OECD Benchmark Definition of Foreign Direct Investment. <u>https://www.oecd.org/daf/inv/</u> investmentstatisticsandanalysis/40193734.pdf.
- [68] 1944. Articles of Agreement: International Monetary Fund and International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, Bretton Woods, Jul. 1-22. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Treasury. <u>http://siteresources.worldbank.org/ EXTARCHIVES/Resources/IBRD_Articles_of_Agreement.pdf</u>.
- [69] Gestrin, Michael, and Alan Rugman. 2005. "Rules for Foreign Direct Investment at the WTO: Building on Regional Trade Agreements." In The World Trade Organization: Legal, Economic and Political Analysis. Edited by Patrick F. J. Macrory, Arthur E. Appleton, and Michael G. Plummer: Springer US, 1908-1918. doi: 10.1007/ b99293.
- [70] 1996. Trade and foreign direct investment. World Trade Organization. <u>https://www.wto.org/english/news_e/pres96_e/pr057_e.htm</u>.
- [71] Article 1102: National Treatment, Section A Investment, Chapter 11: Investment, Part Five: Investment Services, and Related Matters, North American Free Trade Agreement. <u>https://www.nafta-sec-alena.org/ Home/Texts-of-the-Agreement/North-American-Free-Trade-Agreement/mvid/1/secid/539c50ef-51c1-489b-808b-9e20c9872d25#A1101.</u>
- [72] Article 1105: Minimum Standard of Treatment, Section A Investment, Chapter 11: Investment, Part Five: Investment Services, and Related Matters, North American Free Trade Agreement. <u>https://www.nafta-sec-alena.org/Home/Texts-of-the-Agreement/North-American-Free-Trade-Agreement/mvid/1/secid/539c50ef-51c1-489b-808b-9e20c9872d25#A1101.</u>
- [73] Prida, Antonio M., and Mauricio Foeth. 2010. "Foreign Direct Investment, Restrictions, and Privatization: The Mexican Regulatory Experience." Mexican Law Review 3 (2): 297-323. <u>http://www.curtis.com/siteFiles/News/</u><u>MexicanLawReview.pdf</u>.
- [74] Article 1108: Reservations and Exceptions, Chapter 11: Investment, Part Five: Investments, Services and Related Matters, North American Free Trade Agreement. <u>https://www.nafta-sec-alena.org/Home/Texts-of-the-Agreement/North-American-Free-Trade-Agreement/mvid/1/secid/539c50ef-51c1-489b-808b-9e20c9872d25#A1108.</u>
- [75] Annex III: Activities Reserved to the State. <u>https://www.nafta-sec-alena.org/Home/Texts-of-the-Agreement/</u> North-American-Free-Trade-Agreement/mvid/1/secid/d47814a9-ac2d-4695-83d9-2c7c790c563f.

- [76] Article IV: Exceptions from Most-Favored-Nation Treatment, North American Free Trade Agreement. https://www.nafta-sec-alena.org/Home/Texts-of-the-Agreement/North-American-Free-Trade-Agreement?mvid=1&secid=bb771460-967f-4458-8243-d3137e3290ec.
- [77] Annex II: Reservations for Future Measures, North American Free Trade Agreement. <u>https://www.nafta-sec-alena.org/Home/Texts-of-the-Agreement/North-American-Free-Trade-Agreement/mvid/1/secid/f7947ad4-4c5a-483f-b778-04d4c84dc610</u>.
- [78] Article 1106: Performance Requirements, Chapter 11: Investment, Part Five: Investment, Services and Related Issues, North American Free Trade Agreement. <u>https://www.nafta-sec-alena.org/Home/Texts-of-the-Agreement/North-American-Free-Trade-Agreement?mvid=1&secid=539c50ef-51c1-489b-808b-9e20c9872d25</u>.
- [79] Economy, Elizabeth, and Michael A Levi. 2013. By All Means Necessary. New York: Oxford University Press.
- [80] Engdahl, F. William. "China and USA in New Cold War over Africa's Oil Riches." Global Research. May 20, 2007. <u>http://www.globalresearch.ca/china-and-usa-in-new-cold-war-over-africa-s-oil-riches/5714</u>.
- [81] 2007. Sudan Issue Brief. Small Arms Survey. <u>http://www.smallarmssurveysudan.org/fileadmin/docs/issue-briefs/HSBA-IB-07-Arms.pdf</u>.
- [82] Manyok, Phillip. 2016. "Oil and Darfur's Blood: China's Thirst for Sudan's Oil." Journal of Political Sciences & Public Affairs. Accessed May 31, 2017. <u>https://www.esciencecentral.org/journals/oil-and-darfurs-bloodchinas-thirst-for-sudans-oil-2332-0761-1000189.php?aid=69390</u>.
- [83] Edwards, Will. "Chinese Firms Surge into Africa in Search of Customers, Contracts, Jobs." The Cipher Brief. Apr. 16, 2017. <u>https://www.thecipherbrief.com/article/africa/chinese-firms-surge-africa-search-customerscontracts-jobs-1094</u>.
- [84] 2016. OECD Code of Liberalisation of Capital Movements. OECD.
- [85] UNCTAD. "FDI Statistics." United Nations Conference on Trade and Development. <u>http://unctad.org/en/</u> <u>Pages/DIAE/FDI%20Statistics/FDI-Statistics.aspx</u>.
- [86] UNCTAD. "About UNCTAD." United Nations Conference on Trade and Development. <u>http://unctad.org/en/</u> <u>Pages/aboutus.aspx</u>.
- [87] Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Dec. 10, 1948. United Nations General Assembly. <u>http://www.un-documents.net/a3r217a.htm</u>.
- [88] Accra Accord and the Accra Declaration. 2008. UNCTAD XII. http://unctad.org/en/Docs/iaos20082_en.pdf.
- [89] United Nations Convention on Trade and Development. "Article 111, Section A., Sub-Theme 3, Accra Accord." Apr. 20-25, 2008. <u>http://unctad.org/en/Docs/iaos20082_en.pdf</u>.
- [90] Friedman, Thomas L. 2009. "The First Law of Petropolitics." Foreign Policy. Oct. 16. <u>http://foreignpolicy.</u> <u>com/2009/10/16/the-first-law-of-petropolitics/</u>.
- [91] Holmgren, Michael, and Erik Ronnle. 2012. Hydrocarbons in Greenland-Prospects for the Greenlandic Economy. Lund University. http://lup.lub.lu.se/luur/ download?func=downloadFile&recordOId=2612834&fileOId=2612856.
- [92] Beltrame, Julian. 2012. "Thomas Mulcair's Dutch Disease warning supported by OECD report." National Post. Jun. 13. <u>http://news.nationalpost.com/news/canada/thomas-mulcairs-dutch-disease-warning-supported-by-oecd-report.</u>

- [93] Reid, Scott, and Jeff Collins. 2012. "Oil, Politics and Public Policy: A case study of Newfoundland and Labrador." Canadian Political Science Association.
- [94] The General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade. 1947. World Trade Organization. <u>https://www.wto.org/english/</u> docs_e/legal_e/gatt47_01_e.htm.
- [95] Woods, Michael. 2015. "GATT ARTICLE XXI'S NATIONAL SECURITY EXCEPTION THE ULTIMATE TRADE POLICY CONUNDRUM." Woods Lafortune LLP. Apr. 9. <u>http://www.wl-tradelaw.com/gatt-articlexxis-national-security-exception-the-ultimate-trade-policy-conundrum/</u>.
- [96] "The GATT years: from Havana to Marrakech." World Trade Organization. <u>https://www.wto.org/english/</u> <u>thewto e/whatis e/tif e/fact4 e.htm</u>.
- [97] 2003. Development in Trade and Investment Policy. World Trade Organization. WTO Document No. WT/ TPS/S/126.
- [98] Degeorges, Damien. 2013. Denmark, Greenland and the Arctic. Royal Danish Defence College. <u>http://www.fak.dk/publikationer/Documents/Denmark-Greenland-and-the-Arctic.pdf</u>.
- [99] Ministry for Foreign Affairs, Government of Iceland. "Free Trade Agreement between Iceland and China." Ministry for Foreign Affairs. <u>https://www.mfa.is/foreign-policy/trade/free-trade-agreement-between-iceland-and-china/</u>.
- [100] Executive Order 11858--Foreign investment in the United States. The provisions of Executive Order 11858 of May 7, 1975, appear at 40 FR 20263, 3 CFR, 1971-1975 Comp., p. 990. <u>https://www.archives.gov/federal-register/codification/executive-order/11858.html</u>.
- [101] Omnibus Trade and Competitiveness Act of 1988, Sec. 5021, Public Law 100-418 codified at 50 USC App. 2170. https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/granule/STATUTE-102/STATUTE-102-Pg1107/content-detail.html.
- [102] Graham, Edward M., and David M. Marchick. 2006. "The Exon-Florio Amendment." In US National Security and Foreign Direct Investment. Washington, D.C.: Peterson Institute for International Economics, 33-73. https://piie.com/bookstore/us-national-security-and-foreign-direct-investment.
- [103] Executive Order 12860: Adding Members to the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States. Sep 3, 1933. <u>https://www.archives.gov/files/federal-register/executive-orders/pdf/12860.pdf</u>.
- [104] Executive Order 13286: Amendment of Executive Orders, and Other Actions, in Connection With the Transfer of Certain Functions to the Secretary of Homeland Security. Mar. 5, 2003. <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2003-03-05/pdf/03-5343.pdf</u>.
- [105] Executive Order 13456—Further Amendment of Executive Order 11858 Concerning Foreign Investment in the United States. Jan. 25, 2008. <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2008-01-25/pdf/08-360.pdf</u>.
- [106] Foreign Investment and National Security Act of 2007. Jul. 26, 2007. <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/PLAW-110publ49/content-detail.html</u>.
- [107] Jackson, James K. 2017. The Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (CFIUS). Congressional Research Service. <u>https://fas.org/sgp/crs/natsec/RL33388.pdf</u>.
- [108] Mozur, Paul, and Jane Perlez. 2016. "Concern Grows in U.S. Over China's Drive to Make Chips." The New York Times. Feb. 4. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2016/02/05/technology/concern-grows-in-us-over-chinas-drive-to-make-chips.html? r=0</u>.
- [109] Rosen, Mark. 1993. "Restrictions on Foreign Direct Investment in the U.S. Defense and High Technology Sectors: Who's Minding the Store?". U.S. Air Force Academy Law Review.

- [110] Seitzinger, Michael V. 2013. Foreign Investment in the United States: Major Federal Statutory Restrictions. Congressional Research Service. <u>https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/RL33103.pdf</u>.
- [111] Mastrangelo, Erin. 2005. Overview of U.S. Legislation and Regulations Affecting Offshore Natural Gas and Oil Activity U.S. Energy Information Administration. <u>https://www.eia.gov/pub/oil_gas/natural_gas/feature_articles/2005/offshore.pdf</u>.
- [112] Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977 Public Law 95-87 Jul. 6, 2012. <u>https://www.osmre.gov/</u> lrg/docs/SMCRA.pdf.
- [113] Villarreal, M. Angeles, and Ian F. Fergusson. 2017. The North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA). Congressional Research Service. <u>https://fas.org/sgp/crs/row/R42965.pdf</u>.
- [114] "Trade and investment agreements." Government of Canada. <u>https://www.international.gc.ca/</u> <u>trade-commerce/trade-agreements-accords-commerciaux/agr-acc/index.aspx?lang=eng&</u> <u>ga=2.145555825.470279146.1497561486-180710881.1497561486</u>.
- [115] Agreement Between the Government of Canada and the Government of the People's Republic of China for the Promotion and Reciprocal Protection of Investments. <u>http://international.gc.ca/trade-commerce/trade-agreements-accords-commerciaux/agr-acc/china-chine/fipa-apie/index.aspx?lang=eng</u>.
- [116] Riley, Y. Beth. 2011. "Foreign Direct Investment Restrictions in Canada." Washington, DC. <u>https://www.bennettjones.com/~/media/Files/BennettJones/Publications/Foreign Direct Investment Restrictions in Canada.ashx.</u>
- [117] Investment Canada Act. Government of Canada. http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/I-21.8/index.html.
- [118] Regulations Amending the National Security Review of Investments Regulations. Mar. 13, 2015. Government of Canada. <u>http://www.gazette.gc.ca/rp-pr/p2/2015/2015-03-25/html/sor-dors65-eng.php</u>.
- [119] Cultural Property Export and Import Act (R.S.C., 1985, c. C-51). Nov. 1, 2014. Government of Canada. <u>http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/C-51/</u>.
- [120] Government of Canada. 2016. "Guidelines on the National Security Review of Investments." Dec. 19. <u>http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/ica-lic.nsf/eng/lk81190.html</u>.
- [121] Commerce, U.S. Department of. 2016. "Canada Openness to and Restriction on Foreign Investment." Canada Country Commercial Guide. Aug. 8. <u>https://www.export.gov/article?id=Canada-Openness-to-Foreign-Investment.</u> Investment.
- [122] Dean, Dave. 2013. "75% of the World's Mining Companies Are Based in Canada." VICE Canada. Jul. 9. <u>https://www.vice.com/en_ca/article/wdb4j5/75-of-the-worlds-mining-companies-are-based-in-canada</u>.
- [123] Bellan, Ruben C. 2015. "Foreign Investment." Historica Canada. Mar. 4. <u>http://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.</u> ca/en/article/foreign-investment/.
- [124] Manning, Lewis, and Tamura O'Conner. 2016. "Oil and gas regulation in Canada: overview." Thomson Reuters Practical Law. Sep. 1. <u>https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/3-633-1728?</u> <u>lrTS=20170615215139526&transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&firstPage=true&bhcp=1</u>.
- [125] 2004. OECD Environmental Performance Review of Canada Executive Summary. OECD. <u>http://www.oecd.</u> org/environment/country-reviews/33843580.pdf.
- [126] Bureau of Economic and Business Affairs, U.S. Department of State. 2016. 2016 Investment Climate Statements - Russia. <u>https://www.state.gov/e/eb/rls/othr/ics/2016/eur/254409.htm</u>.

- [127] Pomeranz, William E. 2010. "Russian Protectionism and the Strategic Sectors Law." American University International Law Review 25 (2): 213-224. <u>http://digitalcommons.wcl.american.edu/cgi/viewcontent.</u> cgi?article=1067&context=auilr.
- [128] "Welcome." Russia Direct Investment Fund. https://rdif.ru/Eng_Index/.
- [129] Syrbe, Torsten. 2014. "A LEGAL OVERVIEW OF FOREIGN INVESTMENT IN RUSSIA'S STRATEGIC SECTORS." Moscow, May 23. <u>https://www.cliffordchance.com/briefings/2014/05/a legal</u> overviewofforeigninvestmenti.html.
- [130] Tyunik, Ksenia. 2015. Special Update on Amendments to Legislation Relating to Foreign Investments into Strategic Sectors in Russia. White & Case. <u>https://www.whitecase.com/publications/alert/special-update-amendments-legislation-relating-foreign-investments-strategic</u>.
- [131] Josefson, Jennifer, Alexandra Rotar, and Brandon Rice. 2014. "Oil and gas regulation in the Russian Federation: overview." Thomson Reuters Practical Law. Jun. 1. <u>https://uk.practicallaw.</u> <u>thomsonreuters.com/Document/Id4af1a861cb511e38578f7ccc38dcbee/View/FullText.</u> <u>html?transitionType=CategoryPageItem&contextData=(sc.Default).</u>
- [132] 2006. Environmental Policy and Regulation in RUSSIA: The Implementation Challenge. OECD.
- [133] World Trade Organization. 2012. Trade Policy Review: Iceland. <u>https://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/tpr_e/</u> <u>tp373_e.htm</u>.
- [134] Free Trade Agreement between Iceland and China. Apr. 15, 2013. Ministry for Foreign Affairs, Iceland. <u>https://www.mfa.is/foreign-policy/trade/free-trade-agreement-between-iceland-and-china/</u>.
- [135] Act No 34/1991 on Investment by Non-residents in Business Enterprises. May 22, 1996. Ministry of Industries and Innovation, Government of Iceland. <u>https://www.mfa.is/foreign-policy/trade/free-trade-agreement-between-iceland-and-china/</u>.
- [136] Halldorsdottir, Ester. 2017. 2017 Investment Climate Statements Iceland. U.S. Department of State. <u>https://www.state.gov/e/eb/rls/othr/ics/2017/eur/269910.htm</u>.
- [137] 2017. "ICELAND: FOREIGN INVESTMENT." Santander TradePortal. Jun. <u>https://en.portal.santandertrade.</u> com/establish-overseas/iceland/investing.
- [138] "Legal and Regulatory Framework." Orkustofnun National Energy Authority, Government of Iceland. <u>http://</u> www.nea.is/oil-and-gas-exploration/legal-and-regulatory-framework/.
- [139] Regulation on on Prospecting, Exploration and Production of Hydrocarbons, No. 884/2011. Oct. 3, 2011. Government of Iceland. <u>http://www.nea.is/media/olia/Regulation-884-2011-03102011.pdf</u>.
- [140] Act on Greenland Self-Government Jun. 12, 2009. Naalakkersuisut. <u>http://naalakkersuisut.gl/~/media/Nanoq/</u> <u>Files/Attached%20Files/Engelske-tekster/Act%20on%20Greenland.pdf</u>.
- [141] U.S. Embassy in Denmark. "Doing Business in Greenland." U.S. Embassy in Denmark. <u>https://dk.usembassy.gov/our-relationship/u-s-greenland/doing-business-in-greenland/</u>.
- [142] "Legal Foundation." Naalakkersuisut. https://www.govmin.gl/about-bmp/legal-foundation.
- [143] Thorup, Stine. 2014. "Oil and Gas in Greenland Still on Ice?". Andrews Kurth. Nov. <u>https://www.andrewskurth.</u> com/insights-1165.html.
- [144] U.S. Department of State. 2014. Investment Climate Statement Norway. <u>https://www.state.gov/documents/organization/228196.pdf</u>.

- [145] SelectUSA. 2014. Foreign Direct Investment (FDI): Norway. <u>http://selectusa.commerce.gov/country-fact-sheets/Norway_Fact_Sheet.pdf</u>.
- [146] "Foreign Direct Investment in Norway." GlobalTrade.net. <u>http://www.globaltrade.net/f/business/Norway/</u> Investing.html.
- [147] "Application for a concession for acquisition of real estate (SLF-359)." Altinn. <u>https://www.altinn.no/en/Forms-and-Services/Etater/The-Norwegian-Agricultural-Authority/Application-for-a-concession-for-acquisition-of-real-estate-SLF-359/</u>.
- [148] Act No. 16 of 14 December 1917 relating to acquisition of waterfalls, mines and other real property etc. (Industrial Licensing Act). December 14, 1917. Ministry of Petroleum and Energy, Government of Norway. <u>https://www. regieringen.no/globalassets/upload/oed/vedlegg/lover-og-reglement/act_no_16_of_14_december_1917.pdf</u>.
- [149] Bath, Vivienne. 2012. "Foreign Investment, the National Interest, and National Security Foreign Direct Investment in Australia and China." Sydney Law Review 34 (5): 9-12. <u>https://sydney.edu.au/law/slr/slr_34/</u> <u>slr34_1/SLRv34no1Bath.pdf</u>.
- [150] Rainwater, Shiloh. 2012. "Race to the North." Naval War College Review 66 (2): 62-82. <u>https://www.usnwc.edu/</u> getattachment/31708e41-a53c-45d3-a5e4-ccb5ad550815/Race-to-the-North--China-s-Arctic-Strategy-and-<u>Its.aspx</u>.
- [151] Wright, David Curtis. 2011. The Dragon Eyes the Top of the World. China Maritime Institute, Naval War College. <u>https://www.usnwc.edu/Research---Gaming/China-Maritime-Studies-Institute/Publications/documents/</u> <u>China-Maritime-Study-8_The-Dragon-Eyes-the-Top-of-.pdf</u>.
- [152] Downs, Erica. 2014. "Whatever Became of China, Inc.?". China Economic Quarterly. <u>https://www.brookings.</u> edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/China-Inc-Erica-Downs.pdf.
- [153] Qiping, Luo. 2004. "Fu Chengyu: The political economy of 'cautiously going out." 21st Century Business Herald. Dec. 29. Accessed Jun. 30, 2017. <u>http://www.nanfangdaily.com.cn/southnews/zt/2004nztk/21ren/200412290045.</u> <u>asp</u>.
- [154] Wong, Edward. 2016. "Chinese Purchases of U.S. Companies Have Some in Congress Raising Eyebrows." The New York Times. Sep. 30. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2016/10/01/world/asia/china-us-foreign-acquisition-dalian-wanda.html</u>.
- [155] Pittenger, Rep. Robert. 2017. "TAKING AIM AT CHINA: PITTENGER AND CORNYN INTRODUCE LEGISLATION TO ENHANCE NATIONAL SECURITY REVIEW OF FOREIGN INVESTMENT IN UNITED STATES." Nov. 8. <u>https://pittenger.house.gov/media-center/press-releases/pittenger-takes-aim-atchina.</u>
- [156] Mazumder, Taha Amin. 2015. "Why 100% FDI is a threat to India's sovereignty." India Tomorrow. Nov. 18. http://www.indiatomorrow.net/eng/why-100-fdi-is-a-threat-to-indias-sovereignty.
- [157] Guggenheim Partners. 2016. "Guggenheim Partners Endorses World Economic Forum's Arctic Investment Protocol." Jan. 21. Accessed Mar. 23, 2017. <u>https://www.guggenheimpartners.com/firm/news/guggenheim-partners-endorses-world-economic-forums</u>.
- [158] Du Juan. 2015. "General Nice Group to take over Greenland mine." China Daily. Jan. 13. <u>http://europe.chinadaily.com.cn/business/2015-01/13/content_19301926.htm</u>.
- [159] Hornby, Lucy, Richard Milne, and James Wilson. 2015. "Chinese group General Nice takes over Greenland mine." Financial Times. Jan. 11. <u>https://www.ft.com/content/22842e82-9979-11e4-a3d7-00144feabdc0</u>.

- [160] Fouche, Gwladys. 2016. "Chinese firm unlikely to develop \$2 billion Greenland iron ore mine soon: minister." Reuters. Jan. 26. <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-greenland-mining-china/chinese-firm-unlikely-to-develop-2-billion-greenland-iron-ore-mine-soon-minister-idUSKCN0V425D</u>.
- [161] Doyle, Alister. 2016. "Greenland will seek minerals until 'last stone' turned: PM." Reuters. Jun. 3. Accessed May 12, 2017. <u>http://www.reuters.com/article/us-greenland-economy-idUSKCN0YP1TM</u>.
- [162] Lulu, Jichang. "China wants Greenland station 'ASAP'; one candidate site near planned China Nonferrous investment." Jichang Lulu. Oct. 14, 2017. Accessed Dec. 5, 2017. <u>https://jichanglulu.wordpress.com/2017/10/14/</u> <u>china-wants-greenland-station-asap-one-candidate-site-near-planned-china-nonferrous-investment/</u>.
- [163] 2014. Greenland's oil and mineral strategy 2014-2018. Government of Greenland. FM 2014/133. <u>http://naalakkersuisut.gl/~/media/Nanoq/Files/Publications/Raastof/ENG/Greenland%20oil%20and%20</u> mineral%20strategy%202014-2018 ENG.pdf.
- [164] U.S. Central Intelligence Agency. 2016. "The World Factbook: Greenland." Accessed May 12, 2017. <u>https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/resources/the-world-factbook/geos/gl.html</u>.
- [165] "Northern Light Confucius Institute." University of Iceland. <u>http://english.hi.is/school_of_humanities/faculty_of_foreign_languages/northern_light_confucius_institute</u>.
- [166] Hafstad, Vala. 2016. "Chinese Research Facility on Icelandic Farmland." Iceland Review. Jul. 13. <u>http://</u> icelandreview.com/news/2016/07/13/chinese-research-facility-icelandic-farmland?language=en.
- [167] Higgins, Andrew. 2013. "Teeing Off at Edge of the Arctic? A Chinese Plan Baffles Iceland." The New York Times. Mar. 22. <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2013/03/23/world/europe/iceland-baffled-by-chinese-plan-for-golf-resort.html</u>.
- [168] Staalesen, Atle. 2017. "Statoil announces massive investment in its northernmost oil field." Arctic Now. Dec. 5. Accessed Dec. 12, 2017. <u>https://www.arcticnow.com/business/energy/2017/12/05/statoil-announces-massive-investment-in-its-northernmost-oil-field/</u>.
- [169] Bergquist, Elisabeth. 2017. "Rosneft Found Oil in the Laptev Sea." High North News. Jun. 6. <u>http://www.highnorthnews.com/rosneft-found-oil-in-the-laptev-sea/</u>.
- [170] Staalesen, Atle. 2017. "Chinese drilling rig makes stop in Murmansk on its way to Kara Sea." The Barents Observer. Jun. 26. <u>https://thebarentsobserver.com/en/2017/06/chinese-drilling-rig-makes-stop-murmanskits-way-kara-sea</u>.
- [171] Edge, Josh. 2013. "Potential Rare Earth Element Found in Arctic." Alaska Public Media. Dec. 26. <u>http://www.alaskapublic.org/2013/12/26/potential-rare-earth-element-found-in-arctic/</u>.
- [172] Harvey, Fiona. 2012. "The rare earth riches buried beneath Greenland's vast ice sheet." The Guardian. Jul. 31. https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2012/jul/31/rare-earth-greenland.
- [173] Yang, Jon, and Brian Haley. 2016. "The profile of the rare earth elements in the Canada Basin, Arctic Ocean." Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems 17 (8). <u>http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/2016GC006412/abstract</u>.
- [174] Finne, Arne F. 2017. "No Uranium Take-Over for Shenghe." Kinesiske Shenghe kan ikke overta uranprosjekt på Grønland. High North News. Norwegian. Jun. 14. <u>http://www.highnorthnews.com/kinesiske-shenghe-kanikke-overta-uranprosjekt-pa-gronland/</u>.
- [175] Shinn, David H. 2016. "The Environmental Impact of China's Investment in Africa." Cornell International Law Journal 49: 25-67. http://www.lawschool.cornell.edu/research/ILJ/upload/Shinn-final.pdf.

- [176] Park, Yoon Jung. "One Million Chinese In Africa." SAIS Perspectives. May 12. Accessed Jun. 1, 2017. <u>http://www.saisperspectives.com/2016/ssue/2016/5/12/n947s9csa0ik6kmkm0bzb0hy584sfo</u>.
- [177] United Naions Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. Jul. 2015. Population Statistics World Population Prospects: the 2015 Revision. Accessed Jun. 2, 2017.
- [178] 2017. "Parliament Election 2014." Qinersineq. Jun. 16. <u>http://valg.gl/default.aspx?electionGuid=b0578019-e04f-4cde-92fa-6a3355cd383d&language=en-GB</u>.
- [179] Luhn, Alec. 2016. "The town that reveals how Russia spills two Deepwater Horizons of oil each year." The Guardian. Aug. 5. <u>https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2016/aug/05/the-town-that-reveals-howrussia-spills-two-deepwater-horizons-of-oil-each-year.</u>
- [180] Greenpeace. 2017. "Russian Oil Disaster." Greenpeace International. <u>http://www.greenpeace.org/international/</u> en/campaigns/climate-change/arctic-impacts/The-dangers-of-Arctic-oil/Black-ice--Russian-oil-spill-disaster/.
- [181] Valisyeva, Nataliya, and Bjoern H. Amland. 2014. "Constant oil spills devastate Russia." The Seattle Times. Dec. 24.
- [182] 2015. "Ethiopia-Djibouti railway carries first freight." Railway Gazette. Nov. 23. <u>http://www.railwaygazette.com/</u> <u>news/news/africa/single-view/view/ethiopia-djibouti-railway-carries-first-freight.html</u>.
- [183] Jian, Li, Chen Wenwen, and Jin Chang. "Overall Situation of Sea Power in the Indian Ocean."
- [184] Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety. Sep. 11, 2003. <u>http://bch.cbd.int/protocol/text/</u>.
- [185] The Convention on Biological Diversity with Protocols. 1992. <u>https://www.cbd.int/convention/</u>.
- [186] European Commission: Trade Policy. 2010. "New EU Investment package set to boost trade and underpin investor rights." July 7. <u>http://trade.ec.europa.eu/doclib/press/index.cfm?id=591</u>.
- [187] Aisch, Gregor, Josh Keller, and Rebecca K.K. Lai. 2015. "The World According to China." The New York Times. Jul. 24. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2015/07/24/business/international/the-world-according-tochina-investment-maps.html? r=2.</u>
- [188] "EXIM Bank China." ECA Watch. http://www.eca-watch.org/ecas/exim-bank-china.
- [189] Sun, Yun. 2014. "China's Aid to Africa: Monster or Messiah?". Brookings Institution. Feb. 7. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/opinions/chinas-aid-to-africa-monster-or-messiah/</u>.
- [190] Lee, Handel, and Liu Zhigang. 2014. "Out of China: The activities of China's export credit agencies and development banks in Africa." King & Wood Mallesons. Jul. 23. <u>http://www.kwm.com/en/uk/knowledge/ insights/out-of-china-the-activities-of-chinas-export-credit-agencies-and-development-banks-inafrica-20160101.</u>
- [191] Rosen, Mark, Telephone Discussion with Dr. Erica Downs, CNA, Sr. Anaylst on February 23, 2016.
- [192] "About AIIB." Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank. <u>https://www.aiib.org/en/about-aiib/index.html</u>.
- [193] 2017. "AIIB Governance." Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank. Feb. 10. <u>https://www.aiib.org/en/about-aiib/</u>governance/board-directors/index.html.
- [194] Articles of Agreement. Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank. <u>https://www.aiib.org/en/about-aiib/basic-documents/ download/articles-of-agreement/basic document english-bank articles of agreement.pdf</u>.
- [195] "Governance and structure." European Investment Bank. <u>http://www.eib.org/about/governance-and-structure/</u> index.htm.

- [196] "Financing Operations." Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank. <u>https://www.aiib.org/en/about-aiib/who-we-are/financing-operations/index.html</u>.
- [197] "Financing Solutions." Inter-American Development Bank. <u>http://www.iadb.org/en/idb-finance/english/</u> financing-solutions,1978.html.
- [198] Operation Policy on Financing. Mar. 21, 2017. Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank. <u>https://www.aiib.org/en/</u> policies-strategies/ download/operation-policy/policy operational financing new.pdf.
- [199] Environmental and Social Framework. Feb. 2016. Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank. <u>https://www.aiib.org/</u> en/policies-strategies/_download/environment-framework/20160226043633542.pdf.
- [200] Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank. 2016. "AIIB, ADB sign MOU to strengthen cooperation for sustainable growth." May 2. <u>https://www.aiib.org/en/news-events/news/2016/20160502_001.html</u>.
- [201] Rosen, Mark. "The Arctic if the First Stop in the United States Reset with Russia." The National Interest. Nov. 15, 2016. <u>http://nationalinterest.org/blog/the-buzz/the-arctic-the-first-stop-the-united-states-reset-russia-18409</u>.
- [202] 2017. "President Trump is Working to Rebuild our Nation's Infrastructure." Office of the Press Secretary, The White House. Feb. 28. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2017/02/28/president-trump-working-rebuild-our-nations-infrastructure</u>.
- [203] Ruskin, Liz. 2016. "Murkowski: Where's that Arctic port?". Alaska Public Media. Mar. 2. <u>http://www.alaskapublic.org/2016/03/02/murkowski-seeks-funding-for-deep-water-port-in-alaska/</u>.

COP-2017-U-015944-1Rev



3003 Washington Boulevard | Arlington, VA 22201 | 703-824-2000 | cna.org